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CALIFORNIA
Residence Inn Fremont - Silicon Valley
Residence Inn Ontario - Airport
Residence Inn Palo Alto - Mountain View
Residence Inn San Francisco - Airport San Moteo
Residence Inn San Jose - Campbell
Residence Inn San Jose - South
Residence Inn Sunnyvale - Silicon Valley |
Residence Inn Sunnyvale - Silicon Valley II
Summerfield Suites Belmont - Redwood Shores
Summerfield Svites El Segundo
Residence Inn San Diego Mission Valley
Residence Inn Ancheim Garden Grove
Hilton Svites Ancheim
Hilton Ontaric

COLORADO
Residence Inn Denver - Downtown
Residence Inn Denver - Tech Center

CONNECTICUT
Residence Inn Hartford - Windsor
Residence Inn Shelton - Fairfield County

FLORIDA
Courtyard Fort Louderdale - North Cypress Creek
Four Points Destin - Fort Waolton Beach
Hampton Inn Naples - Central
Hampton Inn Tallohassee - I-10
Hampton Inn West Polm Beach - Airport
Residence inn Orlande - Altamonte Springs

GEORGIA
Residence Inn Atlanta - Downtown
Residence Inn Atlanto - Norcross Peachtree Corners

ILLINOIS
Hampton Inn Chicago - Lombard Cok Brook
Hampton Inn Chicage - Schaumburg
Hampton Inn Chicago - Westchester Qak Brock
Residence Inn Chicago - O'Hare

INDIANA
Residence Inn Fort Wayne
Residence Inn Indianapolis - North

KANSAS
Residence Inn Wichita - East

KENTUCKY
Hampten Inn Louvisville - Downtown
Residence Inn Lexington - North
Residence Inn Louisville - East

MAINE

Residence Inn Portlond - Scarborough

MARYLAND
Hampton Inn Columbia
Hampton Inn Germantown - Gaithersburg

MARYLAND - Confinued
Residence Inn Gaithersburg - Washingtonian Center
Sheraton Rockville

MASSACHUSETTS
Bulfinch Hotel - Boston
Hompton Inn Boston - Woburn

MICHIGAN
Residence Inn Detroit - Livonia
Residence Inn Detroit - Troy Central
Residence Inn Detroit - Troy Madison Heights
Residence Inn East Lansing
Residence Inn Grand Rapids - East

NEW JERSEY
Courtyard Atlantic City
Courtyard Montvale

Residence Inn Cherry Hill - Philodelphia

Residence Inn Saddle River

Summerfield Suvites Mount Laurel

Sunrise Suites Tinton Falls

Westin Governor Morris - Morristown

NEW YORK
Hampton Inn Albany - Lothom
Hampton Inn Long Island - Islandia
Residence Inn Binghamton

NORTH CAROLINA
Sheraton - Raleigh

OHIO

Residence Inn Columbus - Southeast

PENNSYLVANIA
Hampton Inn Philadelphia - Willow Grove
Residence Inn Harrisburg - Hershey
TownePlace Suites Philadelphia - Horsham

TEXAS
Homewood Suites San Antonio - Riverwalk Downtown
Residence Inn Arlington
Residence Inn Dallas - Addison Guorum Drive
Summerfield Suites Addison
Summerfield Suites Las Colinas

VIRGINIA
Residence Inn Richmond - Northwest
Residence Inn Richmond - West End
Residence Inn Tysons Corner - Mall

WASHINGTON
Residence Inn Seattle - Bellevue
Residence Inn Seattle - Northeast Bothell
Residence Inn Seattle - North Lynnwood Everett
Residence Inn Seattle - South Tukwila

WASHINGTON D.C.

Doubletree Guest Suites
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Because our commen shares are listed on the New York $tock Exchange [*NYSE®), our chief exscutive officer is required to make, and he has made, an annual certification to the
NYSE stating that he was not aware of any viclation by us of the corporate govarnance listing standards of the NYSE. Our chief executive officar mada his annval cerfification to
that effect to the NYSE as of March 1, 2007. In eddition, we have filed, as exhibits to the annual report on Form 10K, the certifications of our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 to be filsd with the Securities and Exchangs Commission regarding the qualify of aur

public disclosurs.
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2006 Chairman’s Letter

Innkeepers experienced its third consecutive year of solid growth. Revenue per available room (RevPAR)
gained 6.9 percent at our comparable 65 hotels, margins improved 80 basis points to 44.9 percent, funds from
operations (FFO) grew 12 percent to $1.25 per share and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA) jumped 15 percent to $100 million. Additionally, we made significant investments in our
hotel portfolio during 2006 with the acquisition of six hotels for approximately $260 million, capital
improvements of almost $29 million on our existing hotels to enhance or maintain their competitive position,
capital spending of approximately $19 million on the conversion and development of three properties and the
decision to invest $11 million to substantially enhance the quality of our five Hyatt Summerfield Suite hotels.

The strength of our results and our continued positive outlock for the future prompted us to raise our
dividend twice during the year. We remain focused on enhancing organic growth and executing our three-
pronged external growth strategy that uses acquisitions, conversions and developments to build long-term
shareholder value.

Building Value through External Growth

Selective and opportunistic acquisitions remain one of our principal avenues for building long-term
shareholder value. We acquired interests in six hotels with 1,441 rooms in the fourth quarter., spending
approximately $260 million in three separate transactions and increasing our room count by more than
16 percent. This compares to four hotel acquisitions in 2005 for $97 million, including anticipated capital
expenditures. We will continue to focus our acquisitions on select-service or extended-stay properties and full-
service hotels in markets that we believe have strong upside potential and high barriers to new competition.

Four of the hotels we acquired—two Residence Inns, a Hilton Suites and a Hilton—are in Southern California,
one of the strongest hotel markets in the country. Together with our existing Summerfield Suites in El Segundo and
our under-construction Embassy Suites hotel in Valencia in the high-growth Santa Clarita Valley, these hotels give
us a strong presence in this important market and represent a significant source of future growth for vs.

In our first transaction negotiated directly with Starwood, we acquired the brand new 155-room Sheraton in
Rockville, Maryland, located just north of Washington, D.C.’s Capital Beliway, surrounded by more than
12 million square feet of office and research space. We look forward to building on our relationship with one of
the industry’s premier franchisors.

We also acquired a 49 percent interest in a 355-room Sheraton in Raleigh, N.C., which is in the heart of a
resurgent downtown and is within walking distance of the Raleigh Convention and Conference Center, the State
Capitol, museums, restaurants, nightlife, and the BTI Center for the Performing Arts. We have been given the
opportunity by our partner to oversee a major $5 million renovation that currently is under way.

We currently have two hotels that are closed and undergoing renovation and one new property under
construction. We expect to open the renovated Montvale, N.J. property as a Courtyard by Marriott in May 2007
and our Atlantic City hotel as a Courtyard by Marriott in July 2007. The under-construction, 155-suite Embassy
Suites in Valencia, California also is expected to open in July 2007. We should generate robust returns on these
three assets as our average cost will be approximately $145.000 per room. These projects should give us
substantial embedded growth for the next two to three years.

Distributing Value with Dividend Increases in 2006

Dividend payout was another highlight in 2006 with two increases. We began the year paying $0.15 per
common share in the first quarter and ended the year with a $0.23 dividend in the fourth quarter, an increase of
approximately 53 percent. Based on our projections for 2007 and our confidence in the overall health of the hotel
industry, we currently expect to increase our dividend again in the second half of 2007,




Capital Structure

Innkeepers continues to maintain one of the hotel industry’s most conservative balance sheets. Our ratio of
debt to investment in hotels at cost is approximately 39 percent, and our average debt maturity is 6.3 years at an
average interest rate of 6.8 percent. With $87 million available on our unsecured line of credit, we have
flexibility and capital capacity to fund our growth plans and to respond to market opportunities as they arise.

Outlook Remains Positive

The industry outlook continues to be positive for the foreseeable future. The six acquisitions we made in
2006 are all expected to be accretive to 2007 earnings. We have three properties that will open by mid-year that
will provide us with significant embedded growth as they ramp up over the next two to three years, Our five
Hyatt Summerfield Suites will benefit from the brand’s recent commitment by Hyatt and our planned $11 million
major upgrade.

We expect our portfolio to achieve its fourth consecutive year of strong growth, with 2007 RevPAR
projected to increase 6 to 8 percent. In 2007, we will remain focused on driving room rate and enhancing our
operating margins. Occupancy and average daily rate remain well below peak levels at many of our properties,
compared to previous cycles, and we will seek to optimize revenues by striking a balance between the two.
Although new hotel construction is increasing, supply additions remain well below demand growth and should
not have a meaningful impact on our hotels. We believe our combination of internal and external growth
strategies, conservative balance sheet and available capital positions us well for improved results in 2007 and
beyond.

We intend to continve to seek ways to enhance the quality, age and geographic diversity of our portfolio,
We have an active pipeline in both acquisitions and development and expect to close on multiple transactions in
2007. Concurrently, we will seek to selectively divest certain assets as part of our stated long-term strategy to
enhance our shareholder value by transforming the overall quality of cur portfolio through the redeployment of
our capital into newer, more profitable assets.

We look forward to a positive year in 2007 and appreciate your interest in and support of our company.

Sincerely,

L—"

Jeffrey H. Fisher
Chief Executive Officer and President

March 23, 2007
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

THIS REPORT CONTAINS AND INCORPORATES BY REFERENCE “FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS” WITHIN THE MEANING OF FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, STATEMENTS CONTAINING THE WORDS “ESTIMATES,” “PROJECTS,”
“BELIEVES,” “ANTICIPATES,” “EXPECTS” AND WORDS OF SIMILAR IMPORT. FACTORS
IDENTIFIED OR INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE IN THIS REPORT WHICH COULD CAUSE
ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER INCLUDE BUT ARE NOT LIMITED 1O THOSE DISCUSSED IN THE
SECTIONS ENTITLED “RISK FACTORS,” “BUSINESS—NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF
BUSINESS—INTERNAL GROWTH STRATEGY,” “—BUSINESS—NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF
BUSINESS—ACQUISITION AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY,” AND “MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.” SUCH
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS SHOULD NOT BE RELIED ON BECAUSE THEY RELATE TO
FUTURE EVENTS AND THE FUTURE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF OUR COMPANY AND
INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY
CAUSE THE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS OF OUR COMPANY TO BE
MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM THE RESULTS OR ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED AND IMPLIED
BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. THESE RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER
FACTORS ARE DISCUSSED IN THE “RISK FACTORS” SECTION OF THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON
FORM 10-K, AND IN OTHER REPORTS FILED BY US FROM TIME TO TIME WITH THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION. WE ARE NOT OBLIGATED TO UPDATE ANY SUCH
FACTORS OR TO REFLECT THE IMPACT OF ACTUAL FUTURE EVENTS OR DEVELOPMENTS ON
SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.

THROUGHOQUT THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K, THE WORDS “COMPANY”, “WE”,
“OUR” AND “US” REFER TO INNKEEPERS USA TRUST AND ITS CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED OR THE CONTEXT OTHERWISE REQUIRES.

PARTI

Item 1. Business
(1) General

Innkeepers USA Trust (“Innkeepers™) is a self-administered real estate investment trust {(“REIT”). At
December 31, 2006, Innkeepers owned 75 hotels with an aggregate of 9,904 rooms/suites through its partnership
interests in Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership (with its subsidiary partnerships, the “Partnership™), and a 49%
interest in one hotel with 355 rooms in an unconsolidated entity. The Company has a series of indirect, wholly-
owned taxable REIT subsidiaries that lease the hotels from the Partnership (the “TRSs”, and collectively with
Innkeepers and the Partnership, the “Company”). Innkeepers Hospitality Management Inc. (the “IH Manager”)
manages 71 of the hotels, an entity in which the IH Manager owns a minority interest manages two of the hotels,
and a third party unaffiliated with the Company or the IH Manager manages one of the hotels. Two hotels,
comprising a total of 393 rooms, are closed for substantial renovation and re-branding, and upon re-opening, will
be managed by the IH Manager.

The Company’s primary focus is acquiring or developing premium-branded upscale extended-stay,
mid-priced limited service, and select-service hotels, the core of the Company's portfolio; selected all-suite, or
full-service hotels; and turn-around opportunities for hotels that operate under or can be converted to the
industry’s leading brands, Fifty of the Company’s hotels are in the upscale extended-stay market and operate
under brands such as Residence Inn by Marriott, Homewood Suites by Hilton or Summerfield Suites by Hyatt.
Upscale extended-stay hotels typically have the following characteristics: (i) their principal customer base is
business travelers who are on assignment for executive training and consulting, project assignment and corporate
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relocations; (ii) their services and amenities include complimentary breakfast and evening hospitality hour, high
speed internet access, limited meeting space, daily linen and room cleaning service, 24-hour front desk, guest
grocery services, and an on-site maintenance staff; and (iii) their physical facilities include large suites, quality
construction, full separate kitchens in each guest suite, quality room furnishings, pool, and exercise facilities. Our
mid-priced hotels operate under brands such as Hampton Inn and TownePlace Suites, which offer services and
amenities such as complimentary breakfast, high-speed internet access, local calls, an in-room movie channel,
and daily linen and room cleaning service. Our full service hotels offer services and amenities such as full service
restaurants, lounges, room service, meeting rooms, banquet and catering services, as well as providing high-
speed internet access, local calls, an in-room movie channel, and daily linen and room cleaning service.

The following charts set forth certain information with respect to our 75 wholly-owned hotels at
December 31, 2006:

Number of Number of Percentage of
Industry Classification and Franchise Affiliation Hotels Rooms/Suites Rooms/Suites
Upscale Extended-Stay
Residence Inn by Marriott .. .......... ... .. . ... 44 5437 54.8%
Summerfield Suites . ... ... oo 5 650 6.6%
Homewood Suitesby Hilton . .................... 1 146 1.5%
Sunrise Suites {1} .. ... .o i i s 1 96 1.0%
Sl 6,329 _63.9%
Upscale
Doubletree Guest Suites . ........ .« 1 105 1.1%
Four Points by Sheraton ............. ...l 1 216 2.2%
Courtyard by Marriott (2) ... 3 529 5.3%
Westin (3) ... s 1 224 2.3%
3 110 S OO 1 309 3.1%
Hilton Suites (3) ... ..o s 1 230 2.3%
Sheraton ... ... . ... i e 1 155 1.6%
Bulfinch—Boston, MA ... ... oo, _1 80 0.3%
10 1.848 _18.7%
Mid-Price
Hamptonlnn .......... .. .. ... ... .o 12 1,497 15.0%
TownePlace Suites . .......... ..ot 1 95 1.0%
Best WESIEITE ..ot i it e e e e ee e ianenss 1 135 1.4%
14 1,727 17.4%
9,904 100.0%

(13 The Sunrise Suites hotel is operated independent of any franchise as of March 1, 2007, the Bulfinch hotel is
operated independent of any franchise.
(2) Includes two hotels (with a total of 393 rooms) closed for renovation and conversion to the Courtyard by

Marriott brand.
{(3) This is a full-service upper-upscale hotel.




Number of Number of Percentage of

State Hotels Rooms/Suites Rooms/Suites
California ....... ... ... ... .. .. . ... 14 2,445 247%
New Jersey ... oo e 7 1,099 1.1
Florda . . ... o e e e 6 B15 8.2
XS .o i e 5 690 7.0
Michigan . ....... ... . ... ... L 6 596 6.0
)0 T 4 560 5.7
Washington ... ... .. i s 4 304 5.1
Maryland . ... ... o 4 548 5.5
Kentucky ..o v 3 349 3.5
Pennsylvania . ....... ... .. ... ... 3 325 33
New York .. ... .. . . 3 318 32
VIrginda ..o e 3 305 3.1
Colorado . ... . .. 2 284 2.9
GEOTZIl « . it e 2 280 28
COoNNECHCUL . .\ttt ettt e e e 2 192 1.9
Massachusetts .. ... ... .. ... .. ... ... ... 2 179 1.8
Washington, D.C. ... ... ..o L | 105 1.1
Indiama ... oo e 1 38 0.9
Ohio ... | 80 0.8
Maine ... 1 78 0.8
Kansas . ... e e e _l _64 0.6
5 9004 1000%

2003-2004 Restructuring Transactions

From January 1, 2003 through November 30, 2003, 60 of our hotels were leased to Innkeepers Hospitality,
Inc. or its affiliates (collectively, the “IH Lessee”) under separate percentage leases (collectively, the “Percentage
Leases™) providing for rent equal to (a) a fixed base amount or, (b) if greater, percentage rent based on the room
revenues of the hotel. A hotel acquired in June 2003 was leased by the Company to a TRS, and the TRS engaged
the IH Manager to manage the hotel. As of December 1, 2003, wholly-owned TRSs of the Company acquired
from the IH Lessee the Percentage Leases for 23 hotels, and simultaneously entered into management agreements
with the 1H Manager to manage those 23 hotels. The IH Lessee continued to lease and manage 37 hotels under
Percentage Leases for the remainder of 2003. Between December 31, 2003 and March 1, 2004, TRSs acquired
the Percentage Leases on the remaining 37 hotels leased by the IH Lessee, and the TRSs entered into
management agreements with the [H Manager to manage those hotels as those Percentage Leases were acquired.
We refer to this transaction as the “TRS Transaction”. Jeffrey H. Fisher, the Company’s Chicf Executive Officer,
President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees. owned the IH Lessee and owns the IH Manager. In 2003-2004,
the [H Lessee (1) converted the agreements under which 17 hotels were franchised and managed by affiliates of
Marriott International, Inc. (*Marriott”) into long-term franchise agreements with Marriott and (2) became the
manager of the hotels. The TRSs subsequently assumed the IH Lessee’s obligations under those franchise
agreements. Under those agreements, the TRSs pay Marriott (1) a franchise royalty fee of 6.3% of room revenues
for ten years and a 5% royalty thereafter and (2) $850.000 plus 50% of aggregate available cash flow (as defined
in the agreement with Marriott) in excess of a specified threshold each year for 10 years, beginning in 2004. We
refer to this transaction as the “Marriott Takeback Transaction.”

(b) Financial Information about Industry Segments

The Company is in the business of acquiring equity interests in hotels. The Company manages its hotel
investments individually and in the aggregate as one segment.
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(c) Narrative Description of Business

General. The Company is a self-administered Maryland real estate investment trust, which owned 75 Hotels
with 9.904 rooms and a 49% interest in a 355-room hotel in an unconsolidated entity at December 31, 2006.
Innkeepers had 36 employees at December 31, 2006,

Internal Growth Strategy. The Company seeks to maximize revenue and profit at its hotels through:
(i) aggressive asset management, which includes insuring that its hotel managers maximize the franchise brands’
marketing programs, developing timely sales management policies and plans, developing operational initiatives
for the hotels that increase guest satisfaction, maximizing property management efficiencies, controlling cost,
and (ii) continuing reinvestment in the hotels.

Property Operations—The 1H Manager. The Company believes that the quality of the on-site hotel
operators is important to the future growth in revenue from the hotels. The IH Manager gencrally is required to
perform or provide for all operational and management functions necessary to operate the hotels. The TH
manager uses both a centralized and decentralized approach. Hotel-level personnel handle front desk operations.
housekeeping, direct sales and marketing, and preventive maintenance and repairs. The [H Manager handles on a
centralized basis functions such as financial reporting, accounting and payroll. human resources, revenue
management, purchasing and risk management.

Sales and Revenue Management, The IH Manager utilizes regional sales management oversight to
coordinate, direct and manage the sales activities of personnel located at each hotel. Each property has a detailed
annual marketing plan as well as regularly updated action plans that outline the strategy relative to corporate
accounts, market segments, group revenue and special event goals. The IH Manager employs directors of sales
and dedicated sales associates at the hotels to lead local sales efforts. The regional directors serve as a liaison to
national corporate customers as well as the franchise brands’ national sales representatives, o maximize revenue
and to minimize potential customer loss to competitors. The regional directors are responsible for overseeing the
development and execution of targeted action plans as well as recruiting and developing “Best of Class™ sales
representation. The IH manager employs a corporate revenue management team 1o provide tools that assist in
increasing revenue efficiency. The revenue management team offers leadership, guidance and expertise through
daily calls to support the hotels’ planning and execution of fundamental revenue management principles. This
includes pricing relative to market demand and competitive pricing; assisting in the establishment of corporate
account rates and group pricing; yield management tactics; and turndown and market share analysis.
Additionally, this team ensures that each property maximizes the franchise brands’ reservation system
contribution capabilities.

Capital Improvements, Renovation and Refurbishment. The Company intends to maintain its hotels in a
condition that complies with their respective franchise licenses, among other requirements. In addition, the
Company may upgrade hotels in order to capitalize on opportunities to increase revenue, and as needed 1o meet
competitive conditions and preserve asset quality. The Company may also renovate or expand hotels when it
believes the investment in renovations will provide an attractive return to the Company through increased
revenue or is otherwise in the best interests of the Company.

The Company spent approximately $28.6 million, $17 million and $25 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, for furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at the hotcls owned
during these periods. These amounts exclude acquisition, development, and conversion costs. The Company
expects to spend approximately $36 million, excluding acquisition, conversion and development costs, for such
purposes in 2007. The Company spent $18.5 million on conversion and development projects under construction
during 2006 and expects to spend approximately $28 million in 2007 on these projects.

Franchise Agreements. The Company seeks to affiliate its hotels with premier franchise companies and
brands that offer robust marketing support and services and that have demonstrated their ability to command
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revenue premiums over other brands. The Company’s hotels operate under the Residence Inn by Marriott,
Summerfield Suites, Homewood Suites by Hilton, Doubletree Guest Suites, Westin, Four Points by Sheraton,
Courtyard by Marriott. Hilton. Hilton Suites, Sheraton, Hampton Inn, TownPlace Suites and Best Western
brands. The franchise licenses for our hotels are held by our TRSs. The franchise agreements require the payment
of fees based on a percentage of hotel room revenue. The franchisors periodically inspect their licensed hotels to
confirm adherence to their operating standards. The results of these inspections can result in additional capital
expenditure requirements, or additional operational, marketing or repairs and maintenance expenses. The
Company or its subsidiaries have guaranteed certain obligations of the TRSs under the franchise licenses.

Acquisition and Development Strategy. The Company’s primary focus is acquiring or developing
premium-branded upscale extended-stay, mid-priced limited service and select-service hotels, the core of the
company’s portfolio; selected full-service or all-suite hotels; and turn-around opportunities for hotels that operate
under or can be converted to the industry’s leading brands.

Target Markets. The Company generally focuses on markets that have high barriers to entry relative to other
markets and is currently emphasizing markets that include northern New Jersey, scuthern California, and the
Washington, D.C. metropolitan area. The Company’s preferred markets are generally characterized by scarcity or
high cost of available land, extensive permit approval requirements, restrictive zoning, stringent local
development laws, a relatively long lead time required to develop and relatively higher costs associated with such
development. In addition, the Company seeks out submarkets within favorable regions that have multiple fast-
growing demand generators, such as major office or manufacturing complexes, airports, major colleges and
universities and medical centers with convenient access to major thoroughfares. The Company currently has
hotels in 21 states and Washington, D.C.

Target Customer. Most of the Company’s existing hotels are generally focused on the business customer. It
is the Company’s intent to continue to acquire hotels that cater principally to business travelers, but the Company
also is seeking to selectively acquire hotels that target families and leisure travelers.

Acquisitions. The Company focuses on acquiring upscale extended-stay hotels, such as Residence Inn by
Marriott, Homewood Suites by Hilton and Hyatt Summerfield Suites, because of their strong performance. This
performance has resuited primarily from (i) the prevailing social and economic forces that increase the demand
for these hotels, including the increasing tendency of businesses to conduct on- and off-site training for
employees, corporate out-sourcing and the use of consultants, and the general increased mobility of the United
States workforce, and (ii) the ability to generate a more consistent revenue stream than traditiona! hotels due to
higher average occupancies and longer average stays. Upscale extended-stay hotels also require less staff and
have lower fixed costs than full-service hotels and are designed and operated in a way that typically has resulted
in higher operating margin percentages than most full-service hotels. Fifty one of our hotels are upscale
extended-stay hotels. In 2006, the Company acquired two Residence Inn hotels with a total of 392 rooms, as part
of an acquisition of a total of four hotels with 931 rooms for approximately $216.1 million,

The Company also has traditionally focused on premium branded mid-priced and select service hotels, such
as Hampton Inn and Courtyard by Marriott hotels, in order to diversify the portfolio with respect to locations and
customer offerings. These hotels generally have operating characteristics including relatively low staffing and
focused amenities that should result in favorable operating margin percentages, which are further benefited by
our alignment with the premium mid-priced and select service hotel brands. In 2003, the Company acquired one
83-room Hampton Ian hotel for $10 million (including closing costs and expected capital expenditures) and one
190 room hotel for $18 million that will be re-opened in as a Courtyard by Marriott in May 2007 following a $14
million conversion project. The Company also acquired in 2005 an 80 room select service hotel for
approximately $19.6 million. Due to its location in downtown Boston, MA and high level of finish, the Company
has determined that aligning this hotel with a hotel brand would not generate incremental profit and therefore as
of March 1, 2007 this hotel will be operated independently of a brand.




The Company has determined to selectively seek to acquire full-service hotels as well, where they can be
acquired for opportunistic prices and in our target markets with strong growth fundamentals and refatively high
barriers to entry. The Company expects that due to higher average daily rates and the relatively high occupancy
rates expertenced in the markets where we would seek to acquire full-service hotels, these hotels will favorably
impact the Company’s gross margins, though they will have generally higher fixed costs, generally fower
operating margin percentages and longer ramp up periods than our upscale extended-stay. mid-priced or select
service hotels. In May 2004, the Company acquired the 216 room Four Points by Sheraton hotel in Ft Walton
Beach, FL for approximately $30 million. In 2005, the Company acquired for $35.1 million the newly renovated
224-room Westin Governor Morris hotel in Morristown, NI. In 2006, the Company acquired one 309 room
Hilton hotel and one 230-suite Hilton Suites hotel, as part of an acquisition of four hotels with a totl of 931
rooms for approximately $216.1 million. Also in 2006, the Company acquired for $23.5 million a new 155-room
Sheraton hotel in Rockville, MD, and acquired for $4.3 million a 49% interest in a joint venlure owning an
existing 355-room Sheraton hotel in Raleigh, NC.

Acquisition of Under-Performing hotels. We also periodically seek to acquire under-performing mid-priced
and full-service hotels that have the potential for strategic repositioning in the market or re-flagging to a premium
franchise brand in the upscale segment, or that can benefit from substantial renovation. Generally, hotels that meet
the Company’s investment criteria include (i) poorly managed hotels that have the potential for increased
performance following the introduction of a guality management team, (ii) hotels in a deteriorated physical
condition that could benefit significantly from renovation, and/or (iii) hotels in attractive locations that the
Company believes could benefit significantly by changing franchises to a brand the Company believes 1$ superior,
such as Hampton Inn or Courtyard by Marriott. In June 2004, the Company acquired for $6.4 million an existing
173-room hotel in Louisville, KY. The Company closed the hote! in October 2004 for renovations to convert the
hotel to a Hampton Inn, which opened in August 2005. In June 2003, the Company acquired for $8.6 million an
existing 203-room hotel in Atlantic City. NJ. The Company closed the hotel to begin an $18 million renovation to
convert the hotel to a Courtyard by Marriott and is expected to open in July 2007. In January 2005, the Company
acquired for $18 million an existing 190-room hotel in Montvale, NJ. The Company closed the hotel 10 begin a
$14 million renovation to convert the hotel to a Courtyard by Marriott and is expected to open in May 2007,

Development. The Company also reviews other development opportunities for hotels that are consistent with
its target market, product and brand strategies. The Company currently focuses on developing (1) upscale
extended-stay hotels, such as Residence Inn by Marriott and Homewood Suites by Hilton hotels, (2) select
service hotels such as Hampton Inn, Hampton Inn & Suites, Courtyard by Marriott or Aloft hotels and
(3) all-suite hotels, such as Embassy Suiles hotels. The Company intends to only pursue selective development of
hotels that meet its underwriting requirements (i) when the Company believes that projected incremental returns
adequately compensate for the costs and any incremental risk assumed by the Company. (1) when the Company
believes that a hotel developed by the Company will create or increase synergies with other Company-owned
hotels in the area that will enhance the performance of all of those hotels or (iii) in order to maintain control of a
site determined to have superior hotel potential. In September 2004, the Company acquired a land site in
Valencia, CA for $3.7 million to develop a 157-suite Embassy Suites hotel for a total cost of approximately $22
million, which is expected to open in the second or third quarter of 2007. The Company is pursuing several other
development opportunities in its target markets that are cwrrently in the planning and entitlement phase, and
expects to acquire land and begin construction on some of these opportunities in late 2007 or early 2008.

Hotel Disposition Strategy. The Company disposes of certain hotels when it belicves (i) a superior return
can be generated because of rapid price appreciation or re-development opportunities, and the proceeds can be
redeployed to generate more income; (i) the operating performance of the hotel has been maximized and it can
sell on a favorable basis. (iii) the operating performance of a hotel is declining and will continue to decline due to
new compelitors opening in the market or the loss of demand generators, (iv) the franchise affiliation of the hotel
no longer is complementary to the Company’s long-term strategic initiatives or (v) the cost of franchisor
requirements for the hotel becomes unattractive in light of the performance and prospects for the hotel. During
2005. the Company sold three hotels for total proceeds of $21.3 million. During 2006, the Company sold excess
land in Binghamton, NY for $425,000 and recognized a gain on the sale of assets of $75.000.

Available Information. The Company’s Internet website is www.innkecpersusa.com. The Company makes
available free of charge through its website its annual reports on Form 10-K. quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K, Section 16 reports on Forms 3, 4 and 5 and amendments to those reports filed or
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furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. as scon as
reasonably practicable after such documents are electronically filed with. or furnished to, the Securities and
Exchange Commission {“SEC”). In addition, the Company’s website includes corporate governance information,
including the charters for committees of the Board of Trustees, the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines
and the Company’s Code of Conduct. This information is available in print 1o any shareholder who requests it by
writing to Investor Relations, Innkeepers USA Trust, 340 Royal Poinciana Way, Suite 306, Palm Beach, FL
33480. The information on the Company's website is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this report or
incorporated into any other filings that we make with the SEC.

Each year we are required to submit an annual written certification (Section 303A) to the New York Stock
Exchange regarding certain corporate governance and compliance issues. In 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company
filed this written certification noting no qualifications. In addition, we have filed, as exhibits to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, the certifications of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer required
under Sections 906 and 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to be filed with the SEC regarding the quality of
our public disclosure.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in the Company is subject to significant risks, including those that we disclose in reports
filed from time to time with the SEC, See “Risk Factors” beginning on page R-1 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
Not Applicable

Item 2. Properties
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the Company’s 75 wholly-owned hotels by
brand (in thousands, excep! statistical, share and per share data).
Year Ended December 31, 2006

Number
of Number

Rooms/ of Room Occupancy ADR RevPAR

Suites Haotels Revenue n (1} (L))
Residence Inn by Marriott .. ... .. ... .. ... .. 5,437 44 $167,301 77.5% $11263 § 87.29
Hamptonlnn............ ... ... .. .. ... 1,497 12 32472 654 102.68 67.19
Summerfield Suites ......... ... ... ..., 650 5 20,395 78.9 105.00 82.81
Hilton ... ... ... .. . . i 309 ] 3,296 66.1 106.49 70.40
Hilton Suites ... ... e 230 1 2,098 71.1 115.79 82.29
Sheraton .......... ... i 155 ] 212 19.6 37.2 27.0
Four Points by Sheraton ... .. ............... 216 1 6,165 68.57 128.61 88.18
Courtyard by Marriott ..................... 136 1 3,825 71.3 106.55 77.05
Best Western .. ... ... ool 135 ] 2,646 59.4 90.33 53.70
Westin. . ... i i i 224 1 8,903 63.0 173.96  109.63
Homewood Suites by Hilton ... ........... 146 1 6,032 80.2 141.19  113.19
Doubletree Guest Suites .. .................. 105 1 5,278 76.1 180.86  137.70
TownePlace Suites . ....................... 95 1 2,392 8.7 87.67 68.97
Clarion (Bulfinch—Boston, MA) (2) .......... 80 1 3.003 65.1 157.95 102.84
Sunrise Suites (2) . ........ .. il 96 1 2,153 64.3 88.83 57.08
Hotels closed for conversion ................ 393 2 -—_ — — —
Consolidated Total / Weighted Average (3) .... 9904 75 $266,231 748% $111.54 § 83.45

(1) Represents the occupancy, ADR and RevPAR of the hotels for 2006. ADR is calculated by dividing room
revenue by rooms sold. RevPAR for a hotel is calculated by multiplying its ADR by its occupancy rate.
These non GAAP metrics are key revenue statistics in the hotel industry and are used by most interested
parties to measure hotel room revenue performance.
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(2) The Sunrise Suites hotel is operated independent of a franchise brand. As of March 1, 2007, the Bulfinch
hotel is operated independent of a franchise brand.

(3) Consolidated weighted average occupancy, ADR, and RevPAR results includes 65 hotels, and excludes 10
wholly-owned hotels with a total of 2,311 rooms comprised of (a) three hotels closed for renovation and
conversion during part or all of the periods presented with a total of 566 rooms, and (b) seven hotels
acquired during 2006 and 2005 with a totat of 1,390 rooms.

The Percentage Leases. Each Percentage Lease contains provisions substantially similar to those described
below, and the Company intends that future percentage leases with respect to additional hotels it may acquire
will contain substantially similar provisions. All of the Percentage Leases are between subsidiaries of the
Company that own interests in the hotels and TRSs, which are indirect, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company. The rent paid under Percentage Leases is eliminated upon consolidation in the Company’s financial
statements. Nonetheless, we believe that an understanding of the Percentage Leases remains important to
investors because, among other reasons, incentive management fees are payable to the IH Manager of 50% of
hotel available cash flow, which is the amount remaining after the TRSs fully satisfy their rent obligations to the
Company and their other obligations under the Percentage Leases.

Percentage Lease Terms. Percentage Leases executed or renewed after the TRS Transaction have had terms
of five years, and the Company expects that the terms of new and renewed Percentage Leases in the future will
be five years.

Rent Payable Under the Percentage Leases. The Percentage Leases provide for the payment of percentage
rent based upon percentages of room revenue (‘Percentage Rent”). Under the Percentage Rent formula, the
Company generally receives between 30% and 35% of room revenue at a hotel up to a specified level ("Revenue
Break Point”) and between 68% and 70% of room revenue in excess of the Revenue Break Point. Each
Percentage Lease also provides for a fixed annual base rent (“Base Rent”). Percentage Rent and Base Rent are
referred to sometimes as “Rent.” The Percentage Leases generally provide that annual Base Rent and the
Revenue Break Points are adjusted annually based on changes in the U.S. Consumer Price Index (“CPI”). The
CPI increases effective January 1, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were 2.5%, 3.5%, and 3.4%, respectively. Upon
expiration of a lease term, the rent formula for the renewal term will be re-set (o produce a then-current market
rate rent. (See "—The Management Agreements with the IH Manager” below).

Other than property taxes and insurance, ground rent (where applicable), the cost of certain furniture,
fixtures and equipment and capital expenditures, which are obligations of the Company, the Percentage Leases
require the TRSs to pay Base Rent, Percentage Rent and the hotel-level operating expenses (including franchise
and management fees) of the hotels during the terms of the Percentage Leases.

Muaintenance and Modifications. The Percentage Leases obligate the Company to make available to the
TRSs for the periodic replacement or refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital
expenditures at the hotels an amount equal to 4% or 5% of room revenues from the hotels per month on a
cumulative basis. The Company’s obligation is carried forward to the extent that such amounts are not spent.
Generally, the Company directly contracts for, supervises and funds capital expenditures, and on properties
subject to mortgages the capital funds are generally held in escrow by the lender. The Company intends to cause
the expenditure of amounts in excess of the obligated amounts if necessary to comply with the reasonable
requirements of any franchise license or management agreement and otherwise to the extent that the Company
deems such expenditures to be in the best interests of the Company. Otherwise, the TRSs are required, at their
expense, to (i) maintain the hotels in good order and repair, (ii) pay for all hotel-level operating expenses and
(iii) comply with the requirements of any of the Company’s loan agreements (to the extent applicable to property
operations or cash management), any franchise agreement, any management agreement and applicable law.

Insurance. Each Percentage Lease specifies comprehensive insurance to be maintained on each of the hotels,
including liability, property and casualty and extended coverage. The Company’s loan agreements and the franchise
agreements also require insurance which may be more comprehensive than that required by the Percentage Leases.
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The Management Agreements with the IH Manager. All but three of the Company’s hotels are managed
by the IH Manager pursuant to management agreements with the TRSs. The term of each management
agreements with the TH Manager is 10 years with two, five-year renewal terms. Certain material terms of the
management agreements with the IH Manager are summarized below. The Company subsidiary that owns a hotel
subject to a management agreement with the TH Manager guarantees the obligations of the TRS-party o the
management agreement. Two hotels are managed by an entity in which the [H Manager owns a minority interest
(under short-term agreements), and one hotel is managed by an unaffiliated third party. The following discussion
relates to the management agreement with the TH Manger, but is also generally representative of the terms of the
management agreements for the two hotels managed by an entity in which the IH Manager is a minority partner.

Operational services. The IH Manager has responsibility and authority for all activities necessary for the
day-to-day operation of the hotels, including but not limited to establishing all room rates, advertising, sales,
processing reservations, procuring inventories, supplies and services, hiring (subject to certain limited approval
rights of the TRSs) and firing empioyees and, subject to adequate funds being available, complying with all
requirements of any franchise or loan agrcements.

Supervisory services. The 1H Manager provides all managerial and other employees for the hotels, reviews
the operation and maintenance of the hotels, prepares periodic accounting, operating and other reports, maintains
correct and complete books and records, prepares periodic budgets and projections, provides other administrative
and accounting support services to the hotel, such as risk planning services, employee planning and corporate
executive management. The management agreements also require the IH Manager (o furnish certain centralized
services such as (1) computer and telecommunications systems, (2) regional management, marketing and sales
services and (3) training services.

Fees. The TH Manager receives a base management fee of 3% of gross revenues, an accounting services fee
of $750.00 per hotel per month, and an incentive management fee of 50% of hotel available cash flow. Hotel
availuble cash flow is defined generally as hotel gross revenue less hotel operating expenses, (including franchise
fees), base management fees, the accounting service fees. and percentage lease rent {paid by the TRSs to the
Company). When the current term expires for a Percentage Lease for a hotel, the Company expects that the
renewal Percentage Lease will include a revised rent formula designed to produce a then-market rent for the
hotel. Thereafter, the annual rent included in the calculation of ‘hotel available cash flow" to determine the
incentive management fee payable to the TH Manager for that hotel will be the greater of (i) 7% of the
un-depreciated cost of the hotel, plus annual property taxes and insurance; or (ii} 30% of all room revenue up to
the revised Revenue Break Point (as defined under “—Percentage Leases—Rent Payable under the Percentage
Leases™ above) and 68% of all room revenue in excess of the revised Revenue Break Point, with the revised
Revenue Break Point being a dollar amount calculated to allocate the expected operating profit of the hotel
(before deducting rent payable under the Percentage Lease and as further defined in the management agreements)
for the first year of the replacement or renewal Percentage Lease (A) 95% to the Company (in the form of rent
payable under the Percentage Lease) and (B) 5% to the TRS (in the form of net income). For all Percentage
Leases renewed to date, the actual rent payable under the renewed Percentage Lease rent formulas is used 10
determine the incentive management fees for the hotels subject to those leases.

All of the hotels managed by the IH Manager are “pooled™ for purposes of calculating the incentive
management fee during the initial 10-year term of the management agreements, so that the IH Manager will not
receive any incentive management fees with respect to “pooled” hotels if the Company has not received from the
TRSs at the time of payment all prior and current year Base and Percentage Rent accrued te that date for all
“pooled” hotels. (See “—Properties—The Percentage Leases—Rent Payable under the Percentage Leases” above),
The Company has not paid any incentive management fees under this agreement through December 31, 2006.

Working capital. The TRSs must maintain sufficient working capital for each hotel, and must otherwise
provide funds to meet the cash needs for hotel operations if at any time the funds available from hotel operations

are insufficient to meet the financial requirements of the hotels,

9




Budgeting. The management agreements generally provide that once each year the IH Manager will prepare
operational budgets and assist in preparing capital expenditure budgets for the next year, which are subject to the
TRSs approval and, in the case of operational budgets, dispute resolution mechanisms. Under the agreements, the
TRSs are required to provide to the iH Manager all necessary furniture, fixtures and equipment for the operation
of the hotels (including funding any required furniture, fixtures and equipment replacements).

Defaults. The management agreements with the IH Manager provide for the right of a non-defaulting party
to terminate an agreement upon an event of default as specified in the agreement. Events of default include
bankruptcy and failure to comply with the terms of the agreement. In addition. the IH Manager would be in
default if it (i) ceases to qualify as an EIC (eligible independent contractor) with respect to the hotel, (ii) is in
default under one or more other ‘pooted agreements’ or (iii) fails to cure a default under the franchise agreement
arising for any reason other than the Company’s failure to provide capital to improve the hotel. The [H Manager
would also be in default under all of the “pooled” management agreements if it is in default under any of the
“pooled” management agreements. Upon a TRS default, the IH Manager would generally be entitled to terminate
the agreement and receive an early termination fee equal to the fair market value of the management agreement
as determined in accordance with the agreement, and certain severance costs. Upon an IH Manager default, the
TRS would generally be entitled to terminate the agreement and/or sue for specific performance or damages.
However, if the TRS terminates the agreement because the 1H Manager ceases to qualify as an EIC due to
changes in applicable law, the TRSs sole remedy is termination of the agreement, and the TH Manager is entitled
to a payment equal to the fair market value of the agreement less the fair market value of the management
agreement the TRS enters into with another manager.

Performance Termination. The TRSs have the right to terminate a management agreement with the IH
Manager on thirty days notice if during any two consecutive years any two or more of the following occur:
(i) aggregate expenses exceed budget by 5% or more, (ii} market share is at least 15 points below the hotel’s
market share on the date of the agreement, subject to certain limited cure rights, or (iii) the operating profit of the
hotel, as a percentage of gross revenue, is five points less than the previous year, subject to certain limited cure
rights. The TRSs do not have the right to terminate if the triggering event is caused by certain defined causes
outside of the controt of the |H Manager.

Sale of Hotel. The TRSs have the right to terminate a management agreement upon the sale of the hotel by
providing 60 days notice and, unless the transferee offers to retain the IH Manager on similar terms, payment of a
termination fee equal to the fair market value of the management agreement as determined in accordance with
the agreement. The IH Manager has agreed to suspend payment of any compensation otherwise payable to it
upon a sale of a hotel or loss of EIC (eligible independent contractor) status in certain circumstances. Only if at
any time there is a ‘net IH credit’ outstanding for 365 consecutive days (or upon a change of control of the
Company), must the TRSs pay the IH Manager the ‘net IH credit.” A “net IH credit’ is defined generally as
(A) ‘TH Manager credits’ less (B) ‘TRS credits.” ‘IH Manager Credits’ is defined generally as the aggregate
amount of (1) the early termination fees payable to the IH Manager upon sales of hotels plus (2) any
compensation payable to the IH Manager upon the TRSs” termination of management agreements because the 1H
Manager ceases to qualify as an EIC less (3) any ‘net IH credit” previously paid to the TH Manager. “TRS credits’
is generally defined as the aggregate fair market value of new management agreements entered into by the TRSs
{or their affiliates) with the [H Manager (or its affiliates).

Assignment. The IH Manager may assign the management agreements with the prior consent of the TRSs,
which may not be unreasonably withheld. The TRSs may assign the management agreements to transferces with
sufficient financial resources and of good character.

Approval Rights. In the event of Jeffrey H. Fisher’s death or disability, the TRSs have the right to approve
the Chief Executive Officer of the [H Manager, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Mr. Fisher
owns the 1H Manager, and serves as Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of
the Company.

10




Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company is not presently a defendant in any material litigation, nor, to its knowledge, is any material
litigation threatened against the Company or its properties, other than routine litigation arising in the ordinary
course of business and which is expected to pose no material financial risk to the Company and/or is expected to
be covered by insurance policies.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s security holders between October |, 2006 and
December 31, 2006.
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PART 11

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities

The Company’s commeon shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “KPA.” The
following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low close sale prices for the common shares, as
traded on such exchange.

High Low
2006
First QUATIET . . . ... e et et $18.15 $16.05
Second QUArEr . ... ... i 17.36 15.28
Third quarter ... ... .. e 17.44 16.00
Fourth QUANTEE ... ..ttt eae e i 17.19 15.17
2005
First QUAEr . .. ..ot e e $14.24  $12.13
SeCond QUAMET . . . .. e 14.94 12.50
Third QUArET . .. e e 16.14 14.82
Fourth Quarter ... ... ... ..ttty 17.93 14.68

On February 26, 2007, the last reported sale price of our common shares as reported by the New York Stock
Exchange was $16.99 per share. At February 26, 2007 the Company had approximately 248 holders of record of
its common shares. 1t is estimated that there were approximately 7,400 beneficial owners of the common shares.

IN ORDER TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO QUALIFICATION OF
THE COMPANY AS A REIT, THE COMPANY'S DECLARATION OF TRUST LIMITS THE NUMBER OF
COMMON SHARES THAT MAY BE OWNED BY ANY SINGLE PERSON OR AFFILIATED GROUP TO
9.8% OF THE OUTSTANDING COMMON SHARES. (SEE “RISK FACTORS—OUR SHARE OWNERSHIP
LIMITATION MAY PREVENT CERTAIN TRANSFERS OF OUR COMMON SHARES” BEGINNING ON
PAGE R-1).

The following table sets forth information regarding the declaration and payment of distributions by the
Company on its common shares, and Series C Preferred Shares for the years ending December 31, 2006 and
2005:

Series C
Common Preferred
share Share
Quarter to which Record Payment distribution distribution
M Date date amount amount
2006
Firstquarter .......................... 03/31/2006  04/25/2006 $0.15 $0.50000
Secondquarter .......... .. i, 06/30/2006  07/25/2006 0.15 0.50000
Thirdquarter .............. ... ......... 09/29/2006  10/31/2006 0.20 0.50000
Fourthquarter . ........................ 12/29/2006  01/30/2007 0.23 0.50000
2005
Firstquarter ........ ... iiiiinnnins 03/25/2005  04/27/2005 $0.06 $0.50000
Secondquarter ................ ... ..., 06/24/2005  07/27/2005 0.10 0.50000
Thirdquarter ............. ... .0vonnnn. 09/30/2005 10/25/2005 0.15 0.50000
Fourthquarter . ........................ 12/30/2005  01/31/2006 0.15 0.50000

Note 2 to the Company's financial statements beginning on page T-1 delineates the portion of the
distributions that represented ordinary income, return of capital, capital gain and unrecaptured Section 1250 gain.
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On February 8, 2007, the Company’s Board of Trustees declared a first quarter distribution of $0.23 per
common share and partnership common unit, $0.50 per Series C Preferred Share to holders of record on
March 30, 2007. The distribution is payable on April 24, 2007.

To maintain its qualification as a REIT, the Company intends to make annual distributions to its
shareholders of at least 90% of its taxable income (which does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles). Distributions will be authorized by the Board of
Trustees and declared by the Company based upon a variety of factors deemed relevant by the trustees, and no
assurance can be given that dividend policy will not change in the future. The Company’s ability to pay
distributions to our sharcholders will depend, in part, upon the performance of the hotels and management
companies, principally the [H Manager.

The Company had no sales of unregistered securities in 2006.

Share Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123R, Accounting
for Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R™). Under this method, the Company applies the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS 123R to all employee awards (including options) granted, modified, or settled on or after
January 1, 2006, which has resulted in compensation expense being recorded based on the fair value of the
awards. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company followed Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 257), and related interpretations. Under APB 25, because
the exercise price of employee share options equaled the market price of the underlying share on the date of
grant, no compensation expense was recognized for options. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the
Company recognized expense of $1,681.000 pursuant to SFAS 123R, of which $852,000 relates to restricted
share grants and $829,000 relates to share options and market condition awards, including $451,000 relating to
the portion of the Company’s outstanding performance share awards that may settle in common share
equivalents.

The Company’s share incentive plan for employees and officers (the “1994 Plan™) reserves 4,700,000
common shares for issuance (a} upon the exercise of incentive share options and non-qualified options or (b} as
restricted shares and performance shares. Options granted under the 1994 Plan expire not more than ten years
from the date of grant. The 1994 plan was approved by the shareholders of the Company. The Company may
grant up to 2,200,000 restricted shares and performance shares under the 1994 Plan. Restricted shares issued to
date have voting and dividend rights from the date granted. At December 31, 2006, 838,362 shares remained
available for issuance in the form of restricted or performance shares under the 1994 plan (net of 237,500 shares
that may be issued in the future under outstanding performance awards that are described below) and 1,000,388
restricted shares were vested. The Company issues new shares upon the exercise of common share options. The
following table provides information about the Company’s equity compensation plans described above, as of
December 31, 2006.

Number of
Securities
remaining
available for
Number of future issuance
Securities to Weighted- under equity
be issued average compensation
upon exercise plans (excluding
exercise of price of securities
outstanding outstanding reflected in first
options options Column)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Sharehalders . ...t i e 395,400 $11.52 2,039,612
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by
Shareholders . ... i — — —




The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s non-vested restricted shares under the 1994
Plan as of December 31, 2006.

Weighted
average
Grant-Date
Restricted shares Number of Shares Fair Value
Shares outstanding as of December 31,2005 ................... 195,000 $12.46
Shares granted . ......... ...t 37,500 17.24
Shares vested . ... o e e (73,750} 9.37
Sharescancelled .. ... ... . e (35,000} 15.51
Shares outsianding as of December 31,2000 ........ ... ... ... 123,750 $14.89

As of December 31, 2006, there was $1,512,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested
restricted shares granted under the 1994 plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of 2.7 years.

The exercise price of common share options may not be less than fair market value of the common shares at
the date of grant. The table below delineates information concerning common share options granted under the
1994 Plan for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Number of Weighted
Shares Average
Underlying Exercise
Options Price
Outstanding at December 31,2005 ....................... 1,003,000 $11.99
Granted . .. e e 12,500 16.00
EXercised ... e (620,100) 12.37
Cancelled ... ..o i e e e e — —
Forfeited .. ... ..o e — —
Outstanding at December 31,2006 ....... ... ... oot 395,400 $11.52
Exercisable at December 31,2006 ........ ... . .coieia. .. 386,025 $11.80
Exercise price range of shares underoption . . ........ ... ... ... $10.25t0 $16.00

Of the 395,400 common share options outstanding as of December 31, 2006, 12,500 are incentive share
options and 382,900 are non-qualified options. The options vest over varying periods not exceeding ten years. All
but 9,375 of the common share options granted in 2006 are fully vested and exercisable, and have a weighted
average remaining contractual term of two years. As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of fully
vested common share options was approximately $1.6 million.

The Company’s non-employee trustee share incentive plan provides for the granting of up to 200,000 share
options and restricted shares to trustees. Restricted shares have voting and dividend rights from the date granted.
Options granted under the trustees plan expire not more than ten years from the date of grant. The Company has
granted to trustees an aggregate of 101,000 non-qualified options to acquire common shares, with exercise prices
ranging from $6.93 1o $16.69. As of December 31, 2006, 87,000 of these options, with a weighted average
exercise price of $10.18, were vested, 14,000 options had been exercised and no options had been forfeited or
terminated. The Company has also granted to its non-employee trustees an aggregate of 96,053 resiricted shares
at a weighted average grant date fair value per share of $12.23, which vest over varying periods not to exceed
five years. At December 31, 2006, 92,677 of these restricted shares were vested and 3,376 shares were unvested,
Unrecognized compensation cost related to these unvested shares of $30,000 will be recognized over the next 2.0
years.
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The Company has granted performance awards that contain a market condition {defined as a vesting
condition based in whole or in part upon the Company’s share price) and may result in the issuance of 237.500
common shares and 225,000 common share equivalents (the equivalents may settle in cash). The common shares
and equivalents will only be issued if the Company’s compounded annual total shareholder return (share price
appreciation plus dividends) exceeds a targeted threshold over a measuring period. The measuring period ends
May 30, 2008 or upon the termination without cause, death or disability of the employee. or a change of control
of the Company. Any common shares or equivalents issued ut the end of the measuring period will vest 50% at
issuance and 25% on the first two anniversaries of issuance. or earlier if the employee is lerminated without
cause, dies or is disabled, or if a change of control occurs.The fair value calculations under SFAS No. 123R for
the common shares portion of the performance awards, the common share equivalent portion of the performance
awards and the share options were estimated by an independent third party using valuation models. A Tattice
model was used to calculate the fair value of the common share and common share equivalent awards and the fair
value of the share options was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of the
common shares portion of the performance awards of $1,312,000 and the share options of $50,000 was fixed on
the grant dates. The fair value of the common share equivalent portion of the performance awards of $1,303,000
was remeasured as of December 31, 2006. The following assumptions were used for each of the fair valuc
catculations:

Common
Common Share

Share Equivalent Share

Award Award Options
Measurement date ... ... .. e June 1,2005 Dec. 31,2006 Jan. 2, 20006
Common share dividend yield ...... ... ... ... ... ... ... 4.8% 5.5% 4.1%
Expected common share volatility ..., ........ ... ... ..... 325% 26.7% 32.0%
Risk-free interest rate ... ... i i i 3.55% 4.74% 4.319%
Expectedterm (inyears) ............coiiiniininiinnn.n. 5.0 35 6.5

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recognized expense of $1,681,000 pursuant to SFAS
123R, of which $852,000 relates to restricted share grants and $829,000 relates to share options and market
condition awards, including $451,000 relating to the portion of the Company’s outstanding performance share
awards that may settle in common share equivalents. Total compensation expense for non-vested options and
market condition awards not yet recognized is approximately $1,621,000 and will be recognized over the next
four years.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the fair value method had
been applied to all outstanding and unvested options and market condition awards in the ycars ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands except for per share data):

For the year ended  For the year ended
December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Pro Forma Pro Forma
Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders .. ......... ... ..., $11.059 $(1.138)
Deduct: Total share-based compensation expense determined under the fair
value method for all awards, net of minority interest ... .............. {466) (90)
Pro forma net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders . .. ....... $10.593 5(1.228)
Basic earnings (loss) per share—asreported ... .. .. ... ... ... ... $ 026 $ (0.03)
Basic earnings (loss) per share—proforma ................. ... .. $ 025 $ (0.03)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share—asreporied ......... ... ... ... .. $ 0.26 $ (0.03)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share—proforma . ............ ... ... .. S 0.25 $ (0.03)




Share Performance Graph

The following graph compares the change in the Company’s total shareholder return on Common Shares for
the period January 1, 2002 through December 31, 2006, with the changes in the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock
Index (the S&P 500 Index), the Russell 2000 Index, and the SNL Financial Hotel REIT Index (“Hotel REIT
Index™) for the same period, assuming a base share price of $100.00 for the Common Shares, the S&P 500 Index
and the Hotel REIT Index for comparative purposes. The Hotel REIT Index is comprised of nineteen publicly
traded REITs which focus on investments in hotel properties. Total shareholder return equals appreciation in
stock price plus dividends paid and assumes that all dividends are reinvested. The performance graph is not
necessarily indicative of future investment performance. We do not make or endorse any predictions as to future
share price performance:

Total Return Performance
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2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Period Ending December 31,
Index 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Innkeepers USA Trust .. ......... ... .. ... ... $100.00 $81.85 $ 91.55 $157.75 $183.35 S$18571
Russell 2000 . ... .. .. i i 100.00 79.52 117.09 13855 14486 171.47
SNL Hotel REITs Index ..................... 100.00 98.65 128.73 170.76 187.50 241.15
S&P 500 ... e 100.00 77.90 100.24 111.14 116.59 135.00

The foregoing graph and chart shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement
incorporating by reference this Form 10-K into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent we specifically incorporate this information by reference,
and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under those acts.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following tables set forth selected financial and other data for the Company. The following data should
be tead in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of the Company included herein.

The following data has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements. Consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and related consolidated statements of income and of cash
flows for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2006 and notes therein appear beginning on
page F-1.

Sclected Financial Data (in thousands, except share and per share data)

For the years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except share and per share data) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Operating data (1):
Totalrevenue .........coiiiiiiiiiii. .. $ 286,713 § 247,181 $ 205,029 § 83,829 3 83,664
Income from continuing operations ............. 30.487 21.290 13471 4,968 6,176
Income {loss) from discontinued operations . . . .. .. — (132) 1,129  (13.129)  (7,933)
Gain on sale of assets from discontinued

OPEralions . ...... . .u.ii i 75 1,501 — — 530
Netincome (loss) ... oo i at. 30,562 22,659 14,600 8,161y  (1,227)
Net income (loss) applicable to common

shareholders ........... ... ... .. ... ..... 18,962 11,059 (1,138) (18,144) (11,210}
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing

OPETALIONS . ..oy et (.43 0.23 (0.06) 0.13 0.17
Basic earnings (loss) pershare ... ... .. ... .. 0.43 0.26 (0.03) {0.49) (0.31)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing

OPETALIONS .. ...\ttt 0.42 0.23 (0.06) (0.13) (0.11)
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare ............... 0.42 0.26 (0.03) {0.49) (0.31)

2006 2008 2004 2003 2002
Other data:
Cash provided by operating activities . ... ........ $ 883507 5 66424 $§ 61427 § 51,152 $ 53,844
Cash used in investing activities ................ (283,332) (86,182) (107,729 (31,014) (13,872)
Cash provided by (used) in financing activities . ... 193,413 8817 59,553  (31,919) (23,682)
Dividends per common share . ........ ... ... .. 0.73 0.46 0.18 0.17 0.40
Dividends per preferred share . ......... ... ... 2.00 2.00 2.04 2.11 2.16
2006 2005 2004 2063 2002

Balance sheet data:
Investment in hotel properties . .............. ... 51,314,692 $1,020.397 $ 943012 $856,016 $863.818
Total assets . ... .. ... .. ... ... 1,102,006 836978 795992 706,740 734,048
Debt ... ... . 515,290 269426 286.865 232,174 236,730
Minority interest in Partnership ....... .. ... .. 19.112 47,982 51,088 51,689 52,458
Shareholders’ equity ... . ... ... oL 517.671 483,019 428,892 403,858 428,160

Funds From Operations

The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts ("NAREIT™) adopted the definition of funds from
operations (“FFQO™) in order to promote an indusitry standard measure of REIT financial and operating
performance. The Company believes that the presentation of FFO (defined below) provides useful supplemental
information to investors regarding the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. FFO facilitates
comparisens of operating performance between periods and between other equity REITs, FFO was developed by
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NAREIT as a relative measure of performance and liquidity of an equity REIT in order to recognize that income-
producing real estate historically has not depreciated on the basis determined under GAAP. Many other real estate
companies use FFO as a measure of their financial and operating performance, which provides another basis of
comparison for management. FFO, as defined, adds back historical cost depreciation. Historical cost depreciation
assunies the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over a certain period of time. In fact, real estate asset
values have historically increased or decreased with market conditions. Additionally, FFO per share targets have
historically been used to determine a portion of the incentive compensation of the Company’s senior management.

NAREIT defines FFO as net income (computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAWIP)), excluding gains (losses) from sales of property, plus real estate depreciation and amortization and after
adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. The Company calculates FFO in compliance with
the NAREIT definition. FFO and FFO per share should not be considered as an alternative to net income, diluted
net income per share, cash flow provided by operating activities, or any other financial and operating performance
measure prescribed by GAAP. These measures should only be used in conjunction with GAAP measures.

'he following presents the Company’s calculations and reconciliations to net income, FFO, diluted FFO and
diluted FFO per share for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003, and 2002 (in thousands, except
share ind per share data):

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Net inicome (loss) applicable to

common shareholders ........... hY 18,962 §$ 11,039 $ (1,138) $ (18,144) § (11,210)
Deprekiation . ....ovevvneeeoo... 38,909 35,356 31,806 31,907 34,199
Deprek:iation included in discontinued

OPEXALIONS v e v e oo eeeeeenn — — 1,564 2,636 2,936
Depre;biation included in equity in loss

of unconsolidated entity . ........ 128 — — — —
(Gain) loss on sale of Hotels included

in discontinued operations . . . ... .. (75) (1,501} (782) 57 (530
Minmliity interest, common . ........ 222 193 (32) (563) (379)
Basic IFFO ...................... $ 58146 $ 45107 $ 31418 3§ 15893 $ 25,016
Minoenty interest, preferred (1} ... ... 2,049 47273 — — —
Diluted FFO (1) .. ... .. $ 60,195 $ 49380 $ 31418 $ 15893 § 25016
Denorinator for diluted earnings per

shate (2) ... ..o o 45611,574 42266403 37.576,641  37,357.033 35,954,229
Effccliof Dilutive Securities:
Share |Options (2) e — — 155,283 1,135 16,719
Restricted Shares (2) .. ............ — — 149,150 104,574 118,003

ommon Units .............. — 760,519 1,132,237 1,167,425 1,231,494
lass B Preferred Units (1) .. ... 2,347,045 3,884,469 — — —

Denominator for diluted FFO per

T 47,958,619 46911391 39,013,311 38,630,167 37,320,445
Diluted FFO per share (1) .......... $ 1.26 § 105§ 081 § 041 § 0.67

(1) The conversion of the Series A Preferred Shares into common shares and the Class B preferred units into
common units or common shares would be anti-dilutive and, therefore, was not included in the calculation
of diluted FFO per share for 2004, 2003, and 2002.
(2) Share options and restricted shares, were included in the denominator for diluted earnings per share for 2006
and 2005 because the effect of these securities was dilutive to net income per share. Common units were
included in the denominator for diluted earnings per share in 2006. Share options and restricted shares were
nét included in the denominator for diluted earnings per share for 2004, 2003, and 2002 because the effect
of these securities would be anti-dilutive to net loss per share.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(in thousands, except share, per share data and operating data)

Introduction

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve
estimates, projections, goals, forecasts, assumptions, risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results or
outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. Please review “Risk
Factors” beginning on page R-1 of this report and “CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS” above for a discussien of the factors that may impact any such forward-looking
statements made herein. Management's Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related notes beginning on page F-1. The notes contain essential
information and the definitions of certain capitalized terms used in this section of the report.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company discusses below the accounting policies that it believes are critical to an investor’s
understanding of its financial results and condition, and require management to make complex judgments and/or
assessments of risks. Information regarding certain other accounting policies is included in the notes to the
Company’s financial statements.

Long-Lived Assets. Holels are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, Useful lives are based on
management’s estimates of the period over which the assets will generate revenue.

The Company reviews its hotels on an annual basis for “impairment”, The Company also determines on a
quarterly basis if any events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the value of the assets on our
books may not be fully recoverable. The Company reviewed each of its hotels at December 31, 2006 for
impairment and, based on its estimate of each hotel’s future undiscounted cash flows, determined that no
impairment existed at any hotel. In determining each hotel’s future undiscounted cash flows, the Company made
many assumptions and estimates, including the following: (1) annual cash flow growth rates for revenues and
expenses, (2) holding periods of the hotels, (3) expected remaining useful lives of the hotels, and (4) fair value of
the hotel upon disposition, if appropriate. In the fourth quarter of 2004 the Company recorded a $626 impairment
charge on two of the three hotels that were held for sale at December 31, 2004, which was in addition to an
impairment charge of $15,200 recorded in 2003 on three hotels. The impairment charges were based on valuing
the hotels at the expected proceeds to be realized upon a sale less closing costs. If the Company’s estimate of the
future cash flows of one or more of its hotels were to decrease in future periods, the Company may be required to
recognize further impairment charges in those periods and the impairment charges may be significant.

Income Taxes. The Company’s TRSs are subject to federal and state income taxes. The TRSs have
cumulative future income tax deductions of approximately $5,812 (related primarily to accumulated net
operating losses) as of December 31, 2006 and the gross deferred tax asset associated with these future tax
deductions was approximately $2,240. The TRSs have recorded a valuation allowance equal to 100% of the gross
deferred tax asset due to the uncertainty of realizing the benefit of this asset due to the TRSs limited operating
history and the prevalent taxable losses incurred by the TRSs since their inception. As of January [, 2006, the
Company restructured its TRSs so that all of its TRSs are owned by one TRS holding company and will be able
to offset taxable income in one of its TRSs with losses of another.

Investments in unconsolidated entities. The Company considers whether its investment in joint ventures, of
which the Company only has one related to its 49% investment in a joint venture that owns the Sheraton hotel in
Raleigh. N.C., constitutes a variable interest entity (“VIE”) under FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46™)
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, The Company also considers Emerging Issues Task Force No, (4-5,
Determining Whether a General Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or
Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights. The Company determined that the Sheraton
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Raleigh joint venture is not a VIE because the equity investment is sufficient to finance the activities of the joint
venture, the equity investors do not lack decision making rights, the joint venture equity investors have
substantive voting rights, there are no expected losses that are not expected to be absorbed by the equity
investors, only the equity investors have rights to receive residual returns and the managing member is an
affiliate of the 51% investor,

ased on this determination, the Company accounts for its investment in unconsolidated entity in
accordance with SOP 78-9 and Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 18, “The Equity Method of
Accounting for Investments in Common Stock.” The Company uses the equity method to account for
investments when it owns greater than 20% of the equity value or has significant influence over the entity.
Investments in which the Company owns 20% or less of the equity value and does not have significant influence
would be accounted for using the cost method. If there is an event or change in circumstance that indicates a loss
in the value of an investment, the Company’s policy is to record the loss and reduce the value of the investment
to its| fair value. A loss in value would be indicated if the Company could not recover the carrying value of the
investment or if the investee could not sustain an earnings capacity that would justify the carrying amount of the
investment. The Company had one investment in an unconsolidated entity during the year ended December 31,
2006/ and did not recognize an impairment loss on the investment during the year.

Wilocation of purchase price for acquisition of properties. The Company allocates the purchase costs of
properties to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as provided by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard 141, “Business Combination.” For each acquisition, the Company assesses the value of the land,
building, equipment and any identifiable intangibles based on their estimated fair values. The values determined
are hased on independent appraisals, discounted cash flow models and our estimates reflecting the facts and
circumstances of each acquisition. In advance of an acquisition, fees and miscellaneous acquisition costs directly
identifiable with properties that are being acquired are capitalized to other assets. Upon the purchase of a
property, those costs directly identifiable with that property are reclassified to land, building, and equipment, In
the event a property is not acquired or no longer is expected to be acquired, costs directly related to the foregone
acquisition are charged to expense.

Deferred Lease Acquisition Costs. Deferred lease acquisition costs represent amounts paid to the IH Lessee
(as defined in “Business-2003-2004 Restructuring Transactions” above) in consideration for acquiring 60
Percentage Leases from the IH Lessee and entering into management agreements with the [H Manager. The £5.2
million was computed based on the estimated future residual cash flows to the 1H Lessee from the Percentage
Leases, reduced by the economic value of the management agreements entered into with the IH Manager. In the
event of the sale or impairment of any of the related hotels, the Company is required to replace the management
contract of the sold hotel with a management contract on a comparable hotel of at Jeast equal value or pay the [H
Manager a termination fees equal to the fair market value of the management agreement. The Company has
replaced all management contracts for hotels sold as of December 31, 2006. The net deferred asset is evaluated
bascd on a “pool” concept and not associated with any individuai hotel, on the basis that (a) the value of the
management contracts is protected by termination/substitution provisions, and (b) the replacement of
mandgement contracts for sold hotels with new contracts on other hotels did not result in a substantive exchange.
This |deferred asset is amortized using the straight-line method of amortization over the 10 year life of the
original management agreements. We review the asset on an annual basis for impairment and when events or
chanizes in business circumstances indicate that the value of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Upon the
sale of a hotel, the Company assesses the value of the terminated management contract and the replacement
management contract to determine if there has been a decline in value. The Company reviewed its deferred lease
acqujsition costs for impairment and has determined that no impairment existed as of December 31, 2006.

Overview

At December 31, 2006, the Company owned 75 hotels with an aggregate of 9,904 rooms/suites and a 49%
interest in one hotel with 355 rooms in an unconsolidated entity in 21 states and Washington, D.C.
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The Company’s operating results are dependent on maintaining and improving the occupancy, average daily
rate (*ADR”) and revenue per available room (“RevPAR™) of our hotels. Occupancy, ADR and RevPAR results
are presented in the following table and show comparable hotels between 2006 and 2005:

Decembor3l,  Percentage
2006 2005 (decrease)
Portfolio (1):
OCCUPancy ... ... e 74.8% 52% (0.5)%
ADR $111.54  $103.82 7.4%
RevPAR ... . $ 8345 § 7805 6.9%
Upscale Extended-Stay (2):
Occupancy ...... ... i 77.7% 782%  (0.6)%
ADR 511238  $103.84 8.2%
RevPAR ... .. . ... . . e $ 8736 § 81.18 7.6%
Upscale (3):
OCCUpANCY ..t e e 67.7% 68.5% (1.2)%
ADR .. $135.10  $123.57 9.3%
RevPAR ... $ 9152 % 8470 8.1%
Mid-Priced (4):
Occupancy ... e e 65.7% 65.7% — %
ADR $100.61  § 97.66 3.0%
RevPAR ... ... 56613 § 64.14 3.1%

(1) Includes 65 hotels, and excludes 10 hotels with a total of 1,956 rooms comprised of (a) three hotels closed
for renovation and conversion during part or all of the periods presented with a total of 566 rooms, and
{(b) eight hotels acquired in 2006 or 2005 with a total of 1,745 rooms.

(2) Includes 49 hotels.

{3) Includes three hotels, and excludes two hotels closed for renovation and conversion during part or all of the
periods presented, and eight hotels acquired in 2005.

(4} Includes 13 hotels and excludes the Hampton Inn hotel in Louisville, KY that was closed for renovation and
conversion and reopened in August 2005 for a portion of 2005,

Results of Operations

The following paragraphs discuss the Company's results of operations.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2006 (“2006"} to the Year Ended December 31, 2005 (#2005”)

Sixty five of the Company’s hotels with a total of 7,948 rooms are deemed “Comparable Hotels™ whose
operations are reflected in the Statements of Operations for the full twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and
2005. The 11 hotels excluded consist of (a) three hotels with a total of 566 rooms closed for renovation and
conversion during part or all of the periods presented and (b) eight other hotels with a total of 1,745 rooms
acquired in 2006 or 2005.

The Company had total revenue for 2006 of $286,713, consisting of $286,021 of hotel operating revenue
and $692 of other revenue, compared to total revenue of $247,181 for 2005, consisting of $246,655 of hotel
operating revenue and $526 of other revenue. Total revenue for the Comparable Hotels increased $15,213, or
6.5%, to $250,132, due primarily to an increase in room revenue of $15,661 that was partially offset by a
decrease in telephone revenue of $428 as hotel guests rely more on cell phones.

Room revenue increased $33,742, or 14.5%, to $266,231 in 2006 from $232.489 for 2005. Room revenue
for the Comparable Hotels increased $15,661, or 6.9%, 1o $242,091 in 2006 from $226,430 in 2005. This
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increase was due 1o a 6.9% RevPAR increase which was driven mainly by a 7.4% increase in ADR to $111.54.
These|increases are reflective of industry strength which is driven by the economic growth in the United States,
hotel foom demand, and moderate supply growth. As reported by Smith Travel Research in their industry
performance reports, industry-wide RevPAR. ADR, and occupancy increased 7.5%, 7.0%, and 0.5%,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2006.

In 2006, the Company’s hotels in Silicon Valley, CA, Chicago, IL, and Seattle. WA, had RevPAR growth of
l9.3°/4. 12.3%, and 11.0%. respectively. Silicon Valley continues to benefit from a rebound in the tocal economy
with growth in high technology company workforces and the influx of bio-technology companies to the region.
Additionally. this hotel market had experienced supply contraction since 2001. Chicago’s increase in room
demanld in 2006 was the highest of the top 15 hotel markets in the United States, as determined by Smith Travel
Reseatch. with an increase of 5.8%. In Seattle, Boeing's recovery from poor operating performance after
September 11, 2001, and the resulting growth of Boeing’s suppliers in the Seattle area and the continued growth
of Microsoft have propelled this market. The remaining increase of $18,081 in 2006 was due to the hotels
acquired in 2006.

Fbod and beverage revenue increased $4,988 to $11,242 in 2006 from $6,254 in 2005. Food and beverage
revenue for the Comparable Hotels remained relatively constant at $1.308 and $1,311 for 2006 and 2005,
respeclively. The increase of $4.991 in 2006 was primarily due to the acquisition in 2006 of the Hilton Ontario,
CA and Hilton Suites Anaheim, CA, which contributed food and beverage revenue of $1,473, and an increase i
revende of $3.407 at the Westin Governor Morris hotel in Morristown, NJ, which was acquired in May 2005.
The Weslin Governor Morris hote! had food and beverage revenue of $8,328 in 2006,

Telephone revenue decreased $308, or 17.5%, to $1,448 in 2006. Telephone revenue at the Comparable
Hotels| decreased $428, or 26.8%. Telephone revenue continues to decrease as more and more travelers
increasingly use their own cell phones rather than the phones at the Company’s hotels. The increase in other
revenug is primarily attributable to the non-comparable hotels.

The Company had hotel operating expenses (excluding amortization of deferred franchise conversion and
lease acquisition costs) for 2006 of $162,859 compared to hote! operating expenses in 2005 of $141,356. Hotel
operating expenses for the Comparable Hotels increased $6,643, or 5.1%, to $137,938 in 2006 from $131,295 in
2005. I‘-!olel operating expenses as a percentage of revenue for the Comparable Hotels decreased to 55.1% in
2006 from 55.9% in 2005. This decrease is primarily attributable to the fact that the increase in revenue was
driven |by an increase in ADR. Generally, less incremental overhead is required to generate ADR-driven revenue
increases as compared to occupancy-driven increases and, therefore, ADR-driven increases more favorably
impact|income. The remaining increase of $14,860 was due to hotels acquired in 2006 and throughout 2005. Key
items impacting the increase in hotel operating expenses for the Comparable Hotels are explained below:

a.|Rooms expense at the Comparable Hotels increased $1,172, or 2.5%, to $48,586 due primarily to wage
increases and inflationary cost increases.

b.| General and administrative expenses increased $2,146, or 9.9%, to $23,889. Of this increase, $431 is
attributable to the collection of insurance proceeds in 2005 related to an employee theft. Excluding this item,
general and administrative expenses increased $1.715, or 7.9%. due primarily to 5973 of wage increases,
inflatiopary cost increases and additional expenses for recruiting and personnel retention.

¢.|Combined. franchise and marketing fees and advertising and promotion costs at the Comparable Hotels
increastd $1.611, or 6.7%. to $25,742 and correlate with the 6.5% increase in total revenue as franchise and
marketing fees are based on a percentage of revenue. Advertising and promotions expenses typically correlate to
increased revenue as customer awareness is heightened by increased advertising.
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d. Utilities at the Comparable Hotels increased $876, or 7.9%, to $11,919, primarily due to natural gas price
increases and electricity rate increases due to regulatory changes in various markets.

e. Management fees increased $486, or 6.9%, directly attributable to the increase in total revenue of 6.5%.

Depreciation, amortization of franchise fees, amortization of loan origination fees, amortization of deferred
franchise conversion fees, amortization of deferred lease acquisition cost, and amortization of unearned
compensation increased $4,558 to $43,261 in the aggregate in 2006 from $38,703 in 2005. This increase is due to
a $2,617 increase in depreciation attributable to hotels acquired in 2006 and 2003, a $1,035 increase in unearned
compensation primarily related to share based compensation under the Company’s executive incentive plan of
$829, and the balance due to share grants to Trustees of the Company.

Interest expense increased $5,113 to $23,930 i 2006 from $18,817 for 2005. The increase is attributable to
$3,254 of additional interest expense on seven new loans totaling $208,700 issued in September and October,
2006 to help fund the acquisition of six hotels in the fourth quarter and $2,371 related to increased borrowings
and an increase in the average interest rate on the Company’s line of credit, which were partially offset by lower
interest payments on mortgage loans issued prior to 2006 resulting from regular principal payments on those
loans. The increased expense on the line of credit is due to an increase in the weighted average interest rate 1o
6.58% in 2006 from 4.82% in 2005, and, an increase in average borrowings outstanding on the line of credit of
$25,999 to $79,238 in 2006 from $53,239 in 2005.

Property taxes and insurance increased $2,601 in 2006 to $13,865 from $11,264 for 2005. Property taxes
and insurance for the Comparable Hotels increased $1,275 to $12,124 in 2006 from $10,849 in 2005. This
increase was primarily due to significantly higher premiums for windstorm and earthquake coverage on policies
renewed during the second quarter 2006, partialty offset by refunds from successful property tax appeals of $456.
The remaining increase is related to new insurance policies and taxes for hotels acquired in 2006 and 2003,

Corporate generat and administrative expenses (excluding amortization of unearned compensation of $1,681
and $647 for 2006 and 2005, respectively) increased $2,077 to $9,774 in 2006 from $7,697 in 2005, This
increase was primarily due to $723 of costs for foregone acquisition and development opportunities, an increase
in salaries and benefits of $638 due to an increase in employees to 36 from 24 in 2006 and 2005, respectively,
and increased costs associated with complying with certain Sarbanes-Oxley rules.

Other charges in 2006 of $(446) was comprised of other income of $745 from insurance proceeds for one
hotel which had a substantial number of rooms out of service for an extended period following hurricanes in
September 2004, offset by $299 in legal costs associated with exploring a possible sale of the Company. Other
charges in 2005 of $3,053 was comprised of extinguishment of debt costs and personnel cost related to the
retirement of the Company’s former Chief Financial Officer in the second quarter of 2005.

Minority interest decreased $1,103 in 2006 to $2,271 from $4,466 for 2005. This decrease was primarily
due to the redemption for common shares of 3,884,469 preferred partnership units during 2006,

During 2006, the Company realized a gain of $75 on the sale of a land parcel, In 2003, the Company had
losses of $132 related to the results of operations of hotels sold in 2005, in addition to a gain on sale of hotels of
$1.501.

Preferred share dividends remained constant at $11,600 in 2006 and 2005.
As a result of the continued strength of the hote! industry and the Company’s acquisitions, net income
applicable to common shareholders for 2006 was $18,962, or $0.42 per diluted share, compared with net income

applicable to commeon shareholders of $11,059, or $0.26 per diluted share, for 2005. This increase was due to the
factors discussed previously.
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Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2005 (“2005” ) to the Year Ended December 31,2004 (“2004")

Of the Company’s 70 owned hotels at December 31, 2005, 61 hotels with a total of 7,396 rooms are deemed
“Comparable Hotels” whose operations are reflected in the Statements of Operations for the full twelve months
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. The nine hotels excluded consist of (a) four hotels with a total of 799 rooms
closed for renovation and conversion during part or all of the periods presented and (b) five other hotels acquired
in 2004 or 2005.

o

'he Company had total revenue for 2005 of $247,181 consisting of $246,655 of hotel operating revenue and
$526 of other revenue compared to total revenue of $205,029 for 2004, consisting of $199,634 of hotel operating
revenpe, $5,010 of Percentage Lease revenue, and $385 of other revenue. The increase in hotel operating revenue
and decline in Percentage Lease revenue from 2004 to 2005 was due to (1) improved hotel operating
performance as discussed below, (2) the completion of the TRS Transaction and the Wyndham Lease
Termination Transaction and (3} hotels acquired in 2005 and 2004.

The TRS Transaction was completed with respect to 22 of the Comparable Hotels with a total of 2,734 rooms
on February 1, 2004 and one Comparable Hotel with 174 rooms on March [, 2004. The Company terminated the
leases held by Wyndham International, Inc. on six of the Comparable Hotels with a total of 746 rooms on March 1,
2004 i(the “Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction”). The accompanying Statements of Operations reflect
Percentage Lease revenue for those hotels for periods prior to February 1, 2004 and March 1, 2004, respectively,
and do not reflect all revenues ot any operating expenses for those hotels prior to such dates. The Comparable Hotel
results discussed below for 2004 assume that the TRS Transaction and Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction
were ¢ompleted for these hotels on January 1, 2004,

Room revenue increased 20.9% or $40,229 to $232,489 in 2005 from $192,260 for 2004. This increase was
a l‘eSLlll( of a 7.15% RevPAR increase at 65 of our hotels {excludes five hotels closed for renovation and
conversion during part or all of the periods presented). Room revenue for the Comparable Hotels increased
$14,%5, or 7.5%, to $207,784 in 2005 from $193,299 in 2004. This increase was due to a 7.8% RevPAR
increase which was driven mainly by a 6.7% increase in ADR.

ood and beverage revenue increased $5,193 to $6,254 in 2005 from $1,061 in 2004. This increase was
primarily due to the acquisitions of the full service Westin Governor Morris hotel in Morristown, N.I. in May,
2005 and the Four Points by Sheraton hotel in Ft. Walton Beach, FL in May, 2004. Food and beverage revenue
for the Comparable Hotels decreased $26 to $542 in 2005 from $568 in 2004.

The Company had hotel operating expenses (excluding amortization of deferred franchise conversion and
lease |acquisition) for 2005 of $141,356 compared to hotel operating expenses in 2004 of $115,298. Hotel
operating expenses for the Comparable Hotels increased $4,368, or 3.8%, to $120,172 in 2005 from $115,804 in
2004.| This increase was due primarily to higher occupancies and increases in payroll related expenses, as well as
incredsed energy cosls, repairs and maintenance, franchise and marketing costs. Hotel operating expenses for the
Comparable Hotels as a percentage of revenue decreased in 2005 to 57.8% in 2005 from 59.9% in 2004.

IDepreciation, amortization of franchise fees, amortization of loan origination fees, amortization of deferred
franchise conversion fees, amortization of deferred lease acquisition cost, and amortization of unearned
compensation (“Depreciation and Amortization™) increased $3,437 in 2005 to $38,703 in the aggregate from
$35,3l9 for 2004. This increase was primarily due to depreciation on the four hotels acquired in 2005, as well as
a full year of depreciation expense for the three hotels acquired in 2004,

terest expense increased slightly in 2005 to $18,817 from $18,553 in 2004 due to increases in the variable
interest rate on our Line of Credit.

operty taxes and insurance in 2005 was $11,264 compared to $11,355 for 2004. Property taxes and
insuratlllce for the Comparable Hotels decreased $782 to $10,135 in 2005 from $10,917 in 2004. This decrease
was due primarily to a lower property insurance rate on renewed policies, and successful property tax appeals.
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Corporate general and administrative expenses increased $2.284, to $7.697 in 2005 from $5.413 in 2004.
This increase was due primarily to an increase in salaries, benefits, and recruiting and relocation costs associated
with the hiring of new employees, and costs associated with complying with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Other charges in 2005 increased to $3,053 compared to $875 in 2004. This increase is due to an
extinguishment of debt with respect to which we incurred $2,704 in interest, fees and costs in 2005, and
personnel cost related to the retirement of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer.

Income from discontinued operations increased from $1,129 in 2004 to $1,369 in 2005. As of December 31,
2005, the Company has no hotels that are classified as “held-for-sale”.

Issuance costs in 2004 of $4,249 were recognized when the Series A preferred shares were redeemed in
Janvary 2004.

Net income applicable to common shareholders for 2005 was $11,059, or $0.26 per diluted share, compared
with a net loss applicable to common shareholders of $1,138 or $(0.03) per diluted share for 2004. This change
was due primarily to the factors discussed previously.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s principal source of liquidity is derived from hotel operations, The Company expects that its
cash from hotel operations during 2007 will not be adequate to meet its liquidity and capital expenditure needs
during the year, excluding acquisitions, development, and re-branding projects. The Company currently
anticipates a cash shortfall of approximately $10 million in 2007 due to higher than usual capital expenditures
resulting from renovation projects deferred from 2006 to 2007. The Company may elect to defer any of its 2007
planned projects at its discretion. The Company currently expects to fund the cash shortfall as well as any
acquisitions, development, or re-branding projects primarily with the Company’s current cash on hand and by
borrowing on its line of credit or accessing the capital markets, if feasible.

Cash Flow Analysis

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $10,485 and $11.897 respectively. Net cash
provided by operating activities increased from $66,424 in 2005, to $88,451 in 2006. The increase in net cash
provided by operating activities was primarily due to an increase in net income of $8,048 due to improved hotel
operations, an increase in depreciation of $3,553, an increase in accounts payable of $6,295, and a decrease in
accounts receivable of $1,680. The increase was partially offset by the increase in prepaid and inventory of
$1.832. The increase in net income was primarily due to a 6.9% RevPAR increase at our hotels in 2006 from
2005 and the increased depreciation and accounts payable is a result of the acquisitions made in 2006 and 2005.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased from $61,427 in 2004, to $66,424 in 2005. The increase
in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily the result of an increase in net income to $22,659 in
2005 from $14,600 in 2004, which was partially offset by a decrease in accounts receivable. The increase in net
income was primarily due to a 7.15% RevPAR increase at our hotels in 20035 from 2004.

Net cash used in investing activities was $283,276 for 2006. This was comprised primarily of (1) investment
in hotels of $274.281, primarily (a) $225,062 related to acquisitions of five wholly-owned hotels during the
fourth quarter 2006, (b) $18,472 related to the Company’s three conversion or development projects, and
(c) $28,641 related to planned capital improvements at our existing hotels, (2) investment in an unconsolidated
entity of $4.277 related to our acquisition of a 49% interest in the Sheraton Raleigh, NC, and (3) investment in
deferred acquisition and pre-development cost of $5,757 related to the Company’s developments. Please see the
discussion under “Capital Expenditures” below.
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Net cash used in investing activities was $86,182 for 2005. This was comprised primarily of the acquisition
of four hotels for $82,700 and capital expenditures of $27,080 (including $9,588 for conversion and development
costs), offset by $20,827 of hotel sales proceeds and a $4,106 change in restricted cash.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $193,413 for 2006, consisting primarily of proceeds from debt
issuante and borrowings on the line of credit of $365,000, proceeds from issuance of shares for options exercised
of 57.$40, offset by payments on the line of credit and principal amortization of $132,836, distributions paid of
$43.863 10 common and preferred sharcholders, loan origination costs of $1,674 associated with new loans
issued‘lin 2006 and an amendment to the Company’s line of credit. and payments of franchise obligation of
$1’0541' During 2006, the Company issued $75 million of mortgage notes with interest at a rate of 6.03% per
annun, $120 million of mortgage notes with interest at a rate of 5.98% per annum and assumed a $13.7 million
mortgage note bearing interest at a rate of 5.41% per annum.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $8,817 for 2005, consisting primarily of proceeds from
issuan#e of common shares of $59,594 and borrowings on the line of credit of $100,000, which were partially
offset by payments on the line of credit and principal amortization of $117,439, and distributions paid of $31,722.

Distributions/Dividends

The Company has paid regular quarterly distributions on its common shares and common units since its

inceptilon. Distributions for the 2006 first, second, third, and fourth quarter were $0.15, $0.15, $0.20, and $0.23.

respecllively. per common share or common unit. Quarterly preferred distributions on each Class B preferred unit
of the !pannership (other than those held by the Company) of $0.275 were paid for the first, second, and third
quartef of 2006. On November |, 2006 all Class B preferred units converted to common units. Dividends of
$0.50 were paid on each Series C preferred share for each of the first, second, third, and fourth quarters of 2006.
The timing and amount of any future distributions will be determined by the Company’s Board of Trustees in its
sole discretion based on factors it deems relevant and no assurance can be given that the current distributions
levels Lvill be sustained, Under federal income tax law provisions applicable to REITs, the Company is required

to distribute at least 90% of its taxable income to maintain its REIT status.

In January 2004, the Company completed an offering of 5,800,000 Series C preferred shares. The Series C
preferred shares may be redeemed at the $25.00 liquidation preference at the election of the Company on or after
January'r 20. 2009. The Series C preferred shares have no stated maturity, sinking fund or mandatory redemption
and a:él not convertible into any other securities of the Company. Each Series C preferred share is entitled to a
quarterly dividend of $0.50. The net proceeds from the offering were approximately $140,300 and the Company
used approximately $115,700 to redeem all of the Company’s outstanding Series A preferred shares and the
balancé for general corporate purposes.

Financing

In' making future investments in hotels, the Company may incur additional indebtedness. The Company may
also in!:ur indebtedness to meet distribution requirements imposed on a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code,
to fund its renovation and upgrade program or to fund any other liquidity needs to the extent that working capital
and cabh flow from the Company’s operations are insufficient to fund such needs. The interest rate on the
Comp'| y's $205 million unsecured line of credit wus LIBOR plus 115 to 175 basis points, depending on certain
financia! ratios. At December 31, 2006, the interest rate on the line of credit was LIBOR plus 140 basis points, or
6.85%.|The line of credit matures in September 2008. The actual amount that can be borrowed under the line of
credit is subject to borrowing base availability and certain other conditions described in the loan agreement. At
December 31, 2006, the Company (i) had $107,000 of borrowings outstanding under the line of credit and
(ii) had available approximately $86.5 million under the line of credit for additional borrowings, net of
outstanding letters of credit of $11.5 million. At December 31, 2006, the Company was in compliance with all
financial covenants contained in all of its various loan agreements.
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During the third quarter 2006, the Company amended its unsecured line of credit to increase borrowing
capacity and to extend the maturity date. A summary of the key changes follows:

As Amended Original

Total borrowing capacity: ............. .. ... ... coiiiui... 5 205,000 $ 135,000
Maturity date: ... ... Sept. 30, 2008 July 23, 2007
Applicable margin on indebtedness to implied value

a. <50%=45% ... 1.75% 2.25%
b, <d5%>40% ... 1.55% 2.00%
. <d0%=35% ... 1.40% 1.625%
do <35 >25% ... 1.25% 1.50%
R 1.15% 1.40%

The following table summarizes certain information concerning the Company’s debt at December 31, 2006
and 2005:

2006 2005

Investment in Hotel properties .............. . ... ... ..... $1,314,092 $1,020,397
Debt . e 515,290 269,426
Percentage of debt to investment in Hotel properties . . ......... 39.2% 26.4%
Percentage of fixed rate debt tototal debt . ... ... ........ 77.3% 72.5%
Weighted average interest rates on:

Fixedratedebt . ... ... ... .. ... ... ...... ... ... 6.84% 7.82%

Variableratedebt .......... ..o 6.57% 3.27%

Totaldebt ...... ... ... .. .. ... . .. 6.78% 7.18%
Number of Hotels properties:

Encumbered . ... ... ... ... ... . ... ... 44 36

Unencumbered ...... .. ... ...... ... ... ... ....... 32 34

Future scheduled principal payments, excluding the non-cash portion on one of the Company’s mortgage
loans of $1,197, for the Company’s debt at December 31, 2006 are as follows:

Xﬂ' Amount
2007 $ 26916
2008 .. 112,465
20000 L, 75,119
2000 51,797
7211 I PR 3,555
Thereafter . ... e 244,241
$514,093

In the future, the Company may seek to increase or decrease the amount of its credit facilities, negotiate
additional credit facilities, or issue corporate debt instruments, all in compliance with the Company’s debt
limitation. Any debt incurred or issued by the Company may be secured or unsecured, short-term or long-term,
bear a fixed or variable interest rate and may be subject to such other terms as management or the Board of
Trustees of the Company deems prudent. The Company has no interest rate hedging instruments, financial
derivatives or forward equity commitments.
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Capital Expenditures

The Company leases all of its hotels to TRSs under separate Percentage Leases (See “Business-General”
above for definition of “TRS” and “Percentage Leases”). The Percentage Leases generally require the Company
to make available an amount equal to 4% or 5% of room revenues from the hotels, per month on a cumulative
basis, for the periodic replacement or refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital
expenditures at the hotels. Certain of the Company’s loans require that the Company make available for such
purposes, at the hotels collateralizing those loans, amounts up to 5% of gross revenues from such hotels, The
Company intends to cause the expenditure of amounts in excess of such obligated amounts, if necessary, to
comply with the reasonable requirements of any franchise agreement and otherwise to the extent that the
Compdny deems such expenditures to be in the best interests of the Company.

anagement believes that the amounts required to be made available by the Company under the Percentage
Leases will be sufficient to meet most of the routine expenditures for furniture, fixtures and equipment at the
hotels.| However, in the past, the Company has spent substantially more on capital expenditures than the
Percentage Leases require. Management believed these additional expenditures were necessary to meet
competitive pressures from other hotels, many of which are newly constructed. In many cases, the expenditures
were also required by franchisors of the hotels. Management believes that for the foreseeable future the Company
will continue to spend substantially more on capital expenditures than it is required to make available to the
TRSs under the Percentage Leases or loan agreements. The extent to which the actual expenditures exceed the
amounts required to be made available will vary from year to year, based on a number of factors. Those factors
include, for any given year, market and franchisor requirements, the point in the normal recurring upgrade cycle
the hotels are at in that year, and the revenue of the hotels for that year. To the extent that the Company spends
more ¢n capital expenditures than is available from the Company’s operations, the Company intends to fund
capital|expenditures with available cash and borrowings under the line of credit.

Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into a number of transactions and arrangements that involve conflicts of interest.
See “Risk Factors—Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions” beginning on page R-1 and Notes 10,
11, and 12 to the Company’s financial statements beginning on page F-1.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes the Company’s obligations and commitments to make future minimum
paymepts under contracts, such as debt and lease agreements, and under contingent commitments:

Oingat.El_ 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter Total

Debt | ... . ... .ot $26,084 $112,539 $75,198 $52,772 § 3,555 3$244.242 $515,290
Interestondebt ................ 34,285 30289 22,667 16627 15005 233965 352,838
Ground Leases (1) ............. 567 567 567 567 567 19,187 22,022

Construction contracts (2) ....... — — — — — — _
Franc lise obligations (3) ........ — — — —_ — — —
Management agreement

obligations (4) .............. — — — — — — —

Total $61,836 $143,395 $98,432 $69,966 $19,127 $497,394 $890,150

(1) The Company has a ground lease with renewal rights to extend the expiration to August 2070 (Westin
forristown, NJ), two fifty-year term ground leases expiring August 2034 (Courtyard by Marriot
. Lauderdale, FL} and May 2035 (Best Western Palm Beach, FL), respectively, and a 98-year term ground
ase expiring October 2084 (Hampton Inn Woburn, MA), on the land underlying part or all of four of its
tel properties. Minimum annual rent payable under these leases is approximately $584 in the aggregate,
bject to increase based on increases in the consumer price index.

o 1=

w0
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(2) The Company may enter into construction contracts for development opportunities.

{3} The TRSs have obligations under the franchise licenses for each of its hotels. The TRSs are required to pay
the franchisors a variety of fees, including franchise royalty and marketing fees which are based on fixed
percentages of room revenues. The TRSs are also required to pay Marriott the Conversion Fee and potential
incentive fee. See “Business—General—2003-2004 Restructuring Transactions™ and Notes 11 and 12 to the
Company’s financial statements beginning on page F-1.

(4) See “Properties—The Management Agreements with the IH Manager” under Item 2 above.

Seasonality of Hotel Business

The hotel industry is seasonal in nature. Historically, the hotels' operations have generally reflected higher
occupancy rates and ADR during the second and third quarters. To the extent that cash flow for a quarter is
nsufficient to fund all of the hotel operating expenses and distributions for such quarter due to seasonal and other
factors, the Company may fund quarterly hotel operating expenses and distributions with available cash and
borrowings under the Line of Credit.

Inflation

Operators of hotels, including the 1H Manager, generally possess the ability to adjust room rates quickly.
However, competitive pressures and other factors have limited and may in the future limit the ability of the IH
Manager to raise room rates in response to inflation. There can be no assurance that recent modest inflation
levels will not increase in future years or that the effects of inflation can be offset by raising hotel room rates.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2005, FASB Interpretation No. 47 (“FIN 47™), Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations was issued to clarify that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in FASB Statement
No. 143 (“SFAS 143”), Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, refers 1o a legal obligation to perform an
asset retirement activity in which the timing and (or) method of settlement are conditional on a future event thar
may or may not be within the control of the entity. The obligation to perform the asset retirement activity is
unconditional even though uncertainty exists about the timing and (or) method of settlement. Thus, the timing
and (or) method of settlement may be conditional on a future event. Accordingly, an entity is required to
recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability
can be reasonably estimated. The fair value of a liability for the conditional asset retirement obligation should be
recognized when incurred-generally upon acquisition, construction, or development and (or) through the normal
operation of the asset. Uncertainty about the timing and (or) method of settlement of a conditional asset
retirement obligation should be factored into the measurement of the liability when sufficient information exists.
SFAS 143 acknowledges that in some cases, sufficient information may not be available to reasonably estimate
the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. FIN 47 also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient
information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. The Company has adopted
FIN 47 and determined that it had no impact as of December 31, 2006. The Company will continue to analyze
the impact, if any, of FIN 47 on a regular basis.

In July 2006. The Financial Accounting Standards Board published FASB Interpretation No. 48 ( “FIN 48",
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, to address the non-comparability in reporting tax assets and
liabilities resulting from a lack of specific guidance in FASB Statement No. 109 { SFAS No. 109 ), Accounting
for Income Taxes, on the uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements.
Specifically, FIN No. 48 prescribes (a) a consistent recognition threshold and (b) a measurement attribute for the
financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return,
and provides related guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim
periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 will apply to fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, with
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carlier| adoption permitied. The Company will adopt FIN 48 for fiscal periods starting January 1, 2007. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the full impact, if any, of FIN 48; however, the Company does not
believe that the effects of FIN 48, if any, will be material to its financial statements.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission published Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108
(“SAB! 108"). The interpretations in this Staff Accounting Bulletin express the staff’s views regarding the process
of quantifying financial statement misstatements. The interpretations in this Staff Accounting Builetin are being
issucd‘lo address diversity in practice in quantifying financial statement misstatements and the potential under
curreni practice for the build up of improper amounts on the balance sheet. The Company evaluated SAB 108
and it had no material impact as of December 31, 2006.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting
Chang{:s and Error Corrections” (“SFAS 154"), which replaces APB No. 20, “Accounting Changes,” and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 3, “Reporting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.” SFAS
154 changes the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 requires
retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of voluntary changes in accounting principle and
changes required by new accounting standards when the standard does not inctude specific transition provisions,
unless [it is impracticable to do so. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005 and will only affect the Company’s consolidated financial
statements upon adoption of a voluntary change in accounting principle by the Company.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk (in thousands, excep: statistical, share
and per share data)

The Company’s primary market risk exposure is to changes in interest rates on its line of credit and other
debt. At December 31, 2006, total outstanding indebtedness was $515,290, of which $107,000 was outstanding
on the| line of credit. The Company’s interest rate risk objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate
fluctuations on earnings and cash flows and to lower its overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, the
Company manages its exposure to fluctuations in market interest rates for a portion of its borrowings through the
use of| fixed rate debt instruments to the extent that reasonably favorable rates are obtainable with such
arrangements. The Company may enter into derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps Or caps
and lrelasury options or locks to mitigate its interest rate risk on a related financial instrument or to effectively
lock th interest rate on a portion of its variable rate debt. Currently, the Company has no derivative financial
instruments. The Company does not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes.
Appro:llimale]y 77.3% of the Company’s outstanding debt was subject to fixed rates with a weighted average
interest rate of 6.84% at December 31, 2006. The Company regularly reviews interest rate exposure on its
outstanding borrowings in an effort to minimize the risk of interest rate fluctuations.

For debt obligations outstanding at December 31, 2006, the following table presents principal repayments
and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates:

There- Fair
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 after Total Value
Debt:
Fixed Rate (2} ......... $26,984 $ 5,539 $75,198 $52,772 $3,555 $234422 $398,290 $408,736(1)
Weighted Average
Interest Rate .. ... 8.14% 7.84% 7.56% 7.28% 647% 6.33% 6.834% —
Variable Rate (3) ....... —  $107.000 — — — $ 10,000 $117,000 $117,000
Weighted Average
Interest Rate . . . .. — 6.85% — — — 3.50% 6.57% —

(1} For purposes of disclosure, the Company calculates the fair value of its debt. The Company discounts the
difference between the future contractual interest payments on its debt and the future interest payments it would
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make on its debt calculated using a current market interest rate. In determining the current market interest rate, the
Company adds its estimate of a current market spread to the quoted yields on federal government treasury
securitics with maturities similar to its debt.

{2) An increase of one percent in the interest rate on the Company’s fixed rate debt would have increased interest
cxpense approximately 33,087 for the year ended December 31, 2006 and would have decreased the fair value of
fixed rate debt balance as of December 31, 2006 to $394,643.

(3} An increase of one percent in the interest rate on the Company's variable rate debt would have increased interest
expense approximately $1,170 for the year ended December 31, 2006.

The table incorporates only those exposures that existed as of December 31, 2006 and does not consider
exposures or positions that could arise after that date. As a result, the Company’s ultimate realized gain or loss
with respect to interest rate fluctuations will depend on the exposures that arise during the future period,
prevailing interest rates, and the Company’s hedging strategies at that time. There is inherent rollover risk for
borfowings as they mature and are renewed at current market rates. The extent of this risk is not quantifiable or
predictable because of the variability of future interest rates and the Company’s financing requirements.

At December 31, 2006, the Company’s line of credit had an outstanding balance of $107,000. The line of
credit matures in September 2008. All of the Company’s other debt matures in 2007 or thereafter,

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this item is included beginning on page F-1 and in [tem 15(a).

Iten 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
1 Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this annual report, we carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including our Chief Executive Officer, of
the effectivencss of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-i15(e) and 15d-15(e} of the Exchange Act), and management necessarily applied its judgment in
assessing the costs and benefits of such controls and procedures, which, by their nature, can provide only
reasonable assurance regarding management’s control objectives. You should note that the design of any system
of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of futere events, and we cannot assure
vou that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of
how remote.

Based upon the forgoing evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of December 31, 2006 to ensure that information required
to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Security and
Exchange Commission and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management
including our principal execulive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure,

I1 Internal Control over Financial Reporting
MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Innkeepers USA Trust (the “Company™) is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
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Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
stateménts for external purposes in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).
Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

« | pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

« | provide reasonable assurance that transactions arc recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with GAAP and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are
being made only in accordance with authorization of management and directors of the Company; and

« | provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policieq or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006. Management based this assessment on criteria for effective internal control over financial
reporting described in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The hotels excluded from our assessment of internal control over
financigl reporting as of December 31, 2006 because these were acquired by the Company in purchase business
combinations during the fourth quarter of 2006 include KPA RIGG. LLC; KPA RIMV, LLC; KPA HS Anaheim,
LLC; KPA HI Ontario, LLC; and Innkeepers Rockville, LLC. Innkeepers Rockville, LLC was acquired in a
separate transaction. These entities, that each own one hotel, are indirect wholly owned subsidiaries and total
assets dnd total revenues of the five hotels represent 22% and 3%, respectively, of the related consolidated
ﬁnancna|I statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006. Individually each of the five hotels
sepresent less than 6% of consolidated total assets at December 31, 2006.

BaLed on this assessment, management determined that, as of December 31, 2006, the Company maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered
centified public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.

{II. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the quarter
ended December 31, 2006 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

LERNrY3

Incorporated herein by reference from “Corporate Governance”, “Proposal One—Election of Trustees”, and
“Executive Compensation—Executive Officers” and “Ownership of the Company’s Common Shares™ in the
Company's definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with
respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 2, 2007.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated herein by reference from “Executive Compensation” and “Compensation of Trustees” in the
Company’s definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with
respect 10 its Annual Meeting of Sharcholders to be held on May 2, 2007.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Incorporated herein by reference from “Executive Compensation—Equity Compensation Plans” and
“Ownership of the Company’s Common Shares” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement, which will be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held on May 2, 2007.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Incorporated herein by reference from “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and
“Corporate Governance” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 2, 2007.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Incorporated herein by reference from “Relationship with Independent Accountants—Audit Fees” in the
Company’s definitive proxy statemnent, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with
respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 2, 2007.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements, and Schedules

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules

Report|of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm ........oooonne e F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31,2000 and 2005 . ... ... .. F-4
Conqohd.ned Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 ... ... ... F-5
Consohd.ned Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005

and ?004 ............................................................................ F-6
Consolliduted Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 .. ...... F-7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stements . ... ... .. o i it aaenns F-8
Schedule 3—Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation at December 31,2006 ..................... F-27

All other schedules are omitted since the required information is not present or is not present in amounts
sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits. The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation 8-K are listed below. Management contracts or
compensatory plans are filed as Exhibits 10.3 - 10.5, 10.6(a) — 10.6(f) and 10.46 — 10.55.

Exhibit
Number, Description of Exhibits

3.1(a) Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form $-3, filed December 15, 2003, and incorporated herein
by reference).

3.1(b Form of Articles Supplementary to the Declaration of Trust of Innkeepers USA Trust (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the
Commission on December 17, 2003).

3.1{c) Amendment to Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Registrant (previously filed as
Exhibit 3.1(A) to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006, filed on
August 9. 2006, and incorporated herein by reference).

32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed December 1[5, 2003, and incorporated herein by
reference).

4.1(x) Form of Common Share Certificate (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration

Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.1{(b Form of Preferred Share Certificate for 8.0% Series C Preferred Shares (previously filed as Exhibit
4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 21, 2004, and incorporated herein
by reference).

10.1(a} Sccond Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Innkeepers USA Limited
Partnership (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1-A to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1996. and incorporated herein by reference).

10.1(b) First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Innkeepers
USA Limited Partnership, dated as of July 1, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1(b) to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference).

34




Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibits

10.1(c)

10.1(d)

10.1(e)

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6(a)

10.6(b)

10.6(c)

10.6(d)

10.6(¢e)

10.6(f)

Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of
Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership, dated as of July 23, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1(c)
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limiled Partnership of
Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership, dated as of March 1, 1998 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1(d)
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Fourth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of
Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership, dated as of January 20, 2004 (previously filed as Exhibit
10.1(e) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31. 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Percentage Lease (previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362, and incorporated herein by reference).

Innkeepers USA Trust 1994 Share Incentive Plan {previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006, filed May 10, 2006, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Innkeepers USA Trust Non-Employee Trustees’ Share Option Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 13, 1997, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Innkeepers USA Trust 2006 Trustee Share Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006, filed on May 10, 2006, and
incorporated by reference herein).

Employment Agreement of Jeffrey H. Fisher dated as of June I, 2005 {previously filed as Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on November 2, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference).

Performance Share Award Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Jeffrey H. Fisher, dated as
of June 1, 2005 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A
filed on November 2, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference).

Incentive Award and Cash Bonus Award Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Jeffrey H.
Fisher, dated as of June 1, 2005 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K/Afiled on November 2, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Severance Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Dennis M.
Craven, dated as of January i, 2006 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 filed March 31, 2006, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Mark A. Murphy, dated as of June 1,
2005 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on
November 2, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference).

Performance Share Award Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Mark A. Murphy, dated
as of June 1, 2003 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A
filed on November 2, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Numbet;

Description of Exhibits

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

Form of Non-Compete Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Jeffrey H. Fisher dated as of
December 1, 2003 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on August 12, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

Consolidated Percentage Lease Agreement beiween Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and
Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. for certain Hotels (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
registration statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-95622, and incorporated herein by
reference).

Credit Agreement, dated as of July 24, 2004, among Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA
Limited Partnership, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Calyon New York Branch, Wachovia Bank, National
Association, PNC Bank, National Association and the lenders named therein (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 28, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference).

Loan agreement. dated as of September 24, 1999, among Bank of America, N.A., as lender, and
Innkeepers RI Northwest, L.P. and Innkeepers Summerfield General, L.P. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001, and incorporated
herein by reference).

Promissory Note, dated September 24, 1999, from Innkeepers RI Northwest, L.P. and Innkeepers
Summerfield General, L.P. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Promissory Note, dated December 28, 2000, from Innkeepers Residence Shelton, L.P., Innkeepers
Residence Atlanta-Downtown, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Arlington (TX), L.P., Innkeepers
Residence Addison (TX). L.P., and Innkeepers Rl Altamonte, L.P. to First Union National Bank
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K fited March 9,
2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Deed of Trust for the loan evidenced by the Promissory Note dated December 28, 2000,
from Innkeepers Residence Shelton, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Atlanta-Downtown, L.P., innkeepers
Residence Arlington (TX), L.P., Innkeepers Residence Addison (TX), L.P., and Innkeepers RI
Altamonte, L.P. to First Union National Bank (previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Loan Agreement, dated as of October 6, 1995, between Nomura Asset Capital Corporation, as lender,
and Innkeepers Financing Partnership I, L.P.. as borrower (previously filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, and incorporated
by reference herein).

Promissory Note. dated as of October 6, 1995, from Innkeepers Financing Partnership 11, L.P. to
Nomura Asset Capital Corporation {previously filed as Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein).

Assumption and Release Agreement, dated as of November 1, 1996, between Innkeepers Residence
Sili II, L.P. and Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.24 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, and
incorporated by reference herein).

Deed of Trust and Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of May 31, 1995, by Innkeepers
Residence Sili 11, L.P. (as successor to original borrower) in favor of Massachusetts Mutual Life
Insurance Company {previously filed as Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein).

36




Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibits

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

Promissory Note, dated as of May 31, 1995, by Innkeepers Residence Sili II, L.P. (as successor to
original borrower) in favor of Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002, and incorporated by reference herein).

Loan Agreement, dated as of March 5, 1997, between Nomura Asset Capital Corporation, as lender,
and Innkeepers Residence Denver-Downtown. L.P., Innkeepers Residence Wichita East, L.P.,
[nnkeepers Residence Sili I, L.P. and Innkeepers Financing Partnership III, L.P., as borrowers
(previously filed as Exhibit 19.27 to the Company’s Annual Repert on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein).

Promissory Note, dated as of March 5, 1997, by Innkeepers Residence Denver-Downtown, L.P.,
Innkeepers Residence Wichita East, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Sili I, L.P. and Innkeepers Financing
Partnership II1, L.P. to Nomura Asset Capital Corporation (previously filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, and incorporated
by reference herein).

Loan Agreement, dated as of February 19, 1998, between Nomura Asset Capital Corporation, as
lender, and Innkeepers Financing Partnership IV, L.P., Innkeepers Schaumburg, L.P., Innkeepers
Westchester, L.P. and Innkeepers Summerfield General II, L.P., as borrowers (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.29 tc the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002, and incorporated by reference herein).

Promissory Note, dated as of February 19, 1998, by Innkeepers Financing Partnership IV, L.P,,
Innkeepers Schaumburg, L.P., Innkeepers Westchester, L.P., and Innkeepers Summerfield General 11,
L.P., to Nomura Asset Capital Corporation (previously filed as Exhibit 10.30 to the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, and incorporated by reference
herein).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 27, 2006, among Innkeepers USA
Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Calyon New York Branch,
Wachovia Bank, Nattonal Association, PNC Bank, National Association and the lenders named
therein (previously filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference).

Deed of Trust, Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Profits, Security Agreement and
Fixture Filing, from RLJ Anaheim Suites Hotel, L.P. and RLI Anaheim Suites Hotel Lessee, L.P. to
Commonwealth Land Title Insurance Company, as Trustee for the benefit of GMAC Commercial
Mortgage Bank, dated June 14, 2005 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8, 2006, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Deed of Trust Note, dated June 14, 2005, by RLJ Anaheim Suites Hotel, L.P., in favor of GMAC
Commercial Mortgage Bank (previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8, 2006, and incorporated
herein by reference).

Loan Assumption and Modification Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2006, among KPA HS
Anaheim LLC, KPA Anaheim Lessee LLC, RLJ Anaheim Suites Hotel, L.P., RL] Anaheim Suites
Hotel Lessee, L.P. and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8, 2006,
and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Numbet

Description of Exhibits

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

Deed of Trust, Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Profits. Security Agreement and
Fixture Filing, from KPA RIMV LLC and KPA RIMV Lessee LLC to Chicago Title Insurance
Company as Trustee for the benefit of Capmark Bank, dated October 4, 2006 (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2006, filed November 8, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference).

Deed of Trust Note, dated October 4, 2006, by KPA RIMV LLC in favor of Capmark Bank
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8. 2006. and incorporated herein by reference).

Deed of Trust, Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Profits. Security Agreement and
Fixture Filing, from KPA RIGG LLC and KPA RIGG Lessee LLC to Chicago Title Insurance
Company as Trustee for the benefit of Capmark Bank, dated October 4. 2006 (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2006, filed November 8, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference).

Deed of Trust Note. dated October 4, 2006, by KPA RIGG LLC in favor of Capmark Bank
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference).

Deed of Trust, Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Profits, Security Agreement and
Fixwre Filing, from KPA HI Ontario LLC and KPA HI Ontario Lessee LLC to Chicago Title
Insurance Company as Trustee for the benefit of Capmark Bunk, dated October 4, 2006 (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2006. filed November 8, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference).

Deed of Trust Note, dated October 4, 2006, by KPA HI Ontario LLC in favor of Capmark Bank
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.16 1o the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference).

Loan Agreement. dated as of September 21, 2006, between. KPA Washington DC DT LLC and
Merrill Lynch Mortgage Lending, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8. 2006, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Promissory Note, dated September 21, 2006, by KPA Washington DC DT LLC in favor of Merrill
Lynch Mortgage Lending, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8, 2006, and incorporated
herein by reference).

Loan Agreement. dated as of September 21, 2006, between, KPA Tyson's Corner RI LLC and
Merrill Lynch Mortgage Lending, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8. 2006. and
incorporated herein by reference).

Promissory Note, dated September 21, 2006, by KPA Tyson's Corner Rl LLC in favor of Merrill
Lynch Mortgage Lending, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8, 2006. and incorporated
herein by reference).

Loan Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2006, between, KPA San Antonio HS LLC and Merill
Lynch Mortgage Lending, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed November 8, 2006, and incorporated
herein by reference).




Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibits

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

Promissory Note, dated September 21, 2006, by KPA San Antonio HS LLC in favor of Merrill
Lynch Mortgage Lending, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed November &, 2006, and incorporated
herein by reference).

Master Lease Assignment Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2003, by and among Innkeepers USA
Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership, Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc., Innkeepers Hospitality
Management, Inc., and various affiliates thereof (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 12, 2003, and incorporated by reference herein)).

Form of Hotel Management Agreement between KPA Leaseco, Inc. and Innkeepers Hospitality
Management, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed August 12, 2003, and incorporated by reference herein).

Form of Pooling and Cumulation Agreement by and among KPA Leaseco, Inc., KPA Leaseco Ii,
Inc., KPA Leaseco ITI, Inc., KPA Leaseco IV, Inc., KPA Leaseco V, Inc. and Innkeepers Hospitality
Management, Inc. {previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed August 12, 2003, and incorporated by reference herein).

Omnibus Agreement for a 17-Hotel conversion, between Residence Inn by Marriott, Inc.,
TownePlace Management Corporation, affiliates of Marriott International, Inc., Innkeepers USA
Trust and several of its subsidiaries and Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. and several of its affiliates
{previously filed as Exhibit 10.31 to the Company’s Quarterly Report en Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2003, and incorporated by reference herein).

Lease Termination Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2004, among Summerfield KPA Lessee,
L..P., Summerfield Hotel Leasing Company, L.P., Patriot American Hospitality Partnership,
Innkeepers Summerfield General, L.P., Innkeepers Summerfield General II, L.P. and Innkeepers
Sunrise Tinton Falls, L.P (previously filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Summerfield Suites by Wyndham Franchise Agreement to be applicable to Summerfield
Suites by Wyndham Hotels in Addison, TX, Las Colinas, TX, Mt. Laurel, NI, El Segundo, CA and
Belmont, CA (previously filed as Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

First Amendment to Summerfield Suites by Wyndham Franchise Agreements for Summerfield
Suvites by Wyndham Hotels in Addison, TX, Las Colinas, TX, Mt. Laurel, NJ, El Segundo, CA and
Belmont, CA (previously filed as Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Dennis M. Craven, dated July 20,
2005 (previously filed as Exhibit 1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2006, filed May 10, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Mark Murphy, dated October 12,
2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.39 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Miles Berger, dated October 12,
2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Thomas J. Crocker, dated October
12, 2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.41 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

39




Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibits

10.50 Indemnification Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Jack P. DeBoer, dated October 12,
2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.42 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.51 Indemnification Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Randall L. Churchey, dated October
12, 2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.43 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.52 Indemnification Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and C. Gerald Goldsmith, dated October
12, 2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.44 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.53 lndemnit:lcation Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Jeffrey H. Fisher, dated October 12,
2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.45 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.54 Indemnification Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Rolf E. Ruhfus, dated October 12,
2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.46 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.55 Indemnification Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Joel F. Zemans, dated October 12,
2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.47 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.56 Sales Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2005, between Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and
Brinson Patrick Securities Corporation. (previously filed as Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s current
report of Form 8-K filed on January 19, 2005, and incorporated by reference herein).

211 List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.*

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP*

311 CEO Certification, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

312 CFO Certification, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

32.1 CEO Certification, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

322 CFOQ Certification, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

* Filed Herewith
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm

To the [Board of Trustees and Shareholders of
Innkeepers USA Trust:

We have completed integrated audits of Innkeepers USA Trust’s consolidated financial statements and of its
mtemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule

In|our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Innkeepers USA Trust and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 and
2005. and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
Decemper 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in
all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated
financidl statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Compa}'ly's management. Our responsibility is 1o express an opinion on these financial statements and financial
statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these stalements in accordance with the
etandaréh of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As| discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in
which it accounts for share-based compensation in 2006,

Internal control over financial reporting

Also. in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management's Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effective internal control over
l‘mancml reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is
fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company
maintained. in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006,
based oﬁ criteria established in Jnternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s
managemenl is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Qur responsibility is to express
opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance
with the[standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial, reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal contro! over financial reporting
includes| obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment. testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for|our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting
includes lthose policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
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accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii} provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. management has
excluded Innkeepers Rockville, LLC, KPA HI Ontario, LLC, KPA Rigg LLC, KPA RIMV LLC, and KPA HS
Anaheim LLC from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 becausc
they were acquired by the Company in purchase business combinations during 2006. We have also excluded
these entities from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. These entities are indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries whose total assets and total revenues represent 22% and 3%, respectively, of the related consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006,

/sf PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 1, 2007




Innkeepers USA Trust

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2006 and 2005
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

2006 2005
ASSETS
lnvestrlnem in hotels:
Land and iMProvements ., ........ ...t iiieein i $ 183,132 § 150,375
Blhildings and IMPrOvemMENtS . . .. ..ot et i et 963,997 754,131
Fl.lxrnilure and eQUIPMENT . ...ttt e 125,030 106,944
RFnovalions IMPIOCESS . ot vttt e e e e et it ie e 33,845 4,534
Hotels under development . ... ... ... o i i 8,688 4,413
1,314,692 1,020,397
A(lzcumulaled depreciation . . ... ... e (265,453) (230,139
Netinvestment in hotels . .. ... .ttt e i e 1,049,239 790,258
Cash ar deashequivalents .. ... ... . i e 10,485 11,897
Restricted cash and cash equivalents ... .. ... ... . . e 7,064 6,675
anESlﬂllenl inunconsolidated entity . ... ... ... . ... . i 4,132 —
Accounts receivable, NMEt . ... .. e e e e 5,991 6,124
Prepai Jexpenses ... 4,249 2,478
Deferred and other . ... ... o o e 20,846 19,546
TOotal ASSEIS .« ..t ittt it i e $1,102,006 & 836978
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Debt . R R T e R P TR R R PREEEEEEE $ 515290 $ 269,426
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses . . ... ... i iiie e 26,987 15,956
Payable o MANAZEr ... . .. e 176 236
Franchi‘se conversion fee obligations . ... L L 9.660 10,714
Distributions payable . ... ... o e 13,110 9,645
Total Babilities ... . i i e e 565,223 305,977
Minority interest in Partnership ........ . ... .. . . 19.112 47,982
Shurehc%lders' equity:
CIEIlSS C preferred shares, $0.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized,
5,800,000 shares issued and outstanding .............. ... ... ... 145,000 145,000
Coimmon shares, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 45,732,800
and 42,939,086 issued and outstanding . .. ... 457 429
Additional paid-incapital . ... . e 507,384 460,873
Unearned compensation . ...... ...t i e — {1,939}
Distributions in excess of €arnings . ............ ... i (135,170  (121,344)
Total shareholders” equity . ..........oo e 517,671 483,019
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ......... ... ... ... .. ...... $1,102,006 $ 836,978

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Innkeepers USA Trust

Consolidated Statements of Operations
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
{(in thousands, except share and per share data)

2006 2005 2004
Revenue:
Hotel operating
ROOIIIS . oo ittt e e $ 266231 $ 23248% § 192,260
Foodandbeverage ............ . . oo i 11,242 6,254 1,061
Telephone . ... . . e e 1,448 1,756 1,769
L0 T 7,100 6,156 4,544
Percentage rent . ... ... .. . e e — — 5,010
L 12 1= 692 526 385
TOAl TBVEIUE & oot r et v et e et e et et 286,713 247,181 205,029
Expenses:
Hotel operating
ROOMIS i e e e e e 54,016 46382 43,253
Foodand beverage . ...... ... . i 8,430 4,947 1,020
Telephone ... ... i e 3,159 2,938 2,571
0 1 T OO 3214 2,643 2,036
General and administrative . ... .o i 28,365 23,797 18,509
Franchise and marketing fees ........... ... .. .. i 18,115 16,210 13,305
Amoertization of deferred franchise conversion . . ........ ... ... ..o oo, 1,169 1,240 1,047
Advertising and promotions .. ... ... 9,933 8,323 6,618
UGHHES .« e ettt et e e 13,548 11,610 9,290
Repairs and maintenance . ... ... ... . ot e e 13,778 12,584 10,771
Management fBeS . . ..ottt 8,586 7,381 6,382
Amortization of deferred lease acquisition ........ .. .ot 523 323 512
T Vo 1,705 1,541 1,543
Corporate
DEPreCillion . ... uuuutiaaun et it aranrt e 38,909 35,356 31,806
Amortization of franchise fees ......... ... o 92 68 53
Ground rent ... ... .. 567 535 505
1 TE=T = S I P 23,930 18,817 18,553
Amortization of loan originationfees .......... ... ... i 887 870 953
Property taxes and iNSUTANCE ... v o v er et e s it e i 13,865 11,264 11,355
General and administralive .. ... ... it i i e 11,455 8,343 6,361
Other Charges . .. ..o e e (446) 3,083 875
Total eXPENSES .+ . o\ vttt e e 253,810 221,425 187,318
Income before minority interest and equity in loss of unconsolidated entity .......... 32,903 25,756 17,711
MINOrity iNtErest, COMUITOM . .\ttt t e ettt em e s et et iaaan e e e aaanenns (222) (193) 32
Minority interest, preferred ... ... ... .. (2,049 (4273 (4,272)
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entity . ..., .. ... i e (145) — —_
Income from continuing OPerations . ...t 30,487 21,290 13.471
Income (loss) from discontinued operations .. ......... ... . i — (132) 347
Gain on sale of assets from discontinued operations ......... ... .. ... .. 0. 75 1,501 782
DAL= T T o ) - 30,562 22,659 14,600
Series A Preferred share issuance costs ..........vverieii i e, -— — (4,249
Preferred share dividends ....... ... . oo e (11,600) (11,600) (11.489)
Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders ... $ 18962 % 1L059 §  (1.138)
Earnings (loss) per share data:
Basic—continuing OPETAtionS . ...« vttt $ 043 % 023 % (0.06)
Basie .. e e e % 043 % 026 % 0.03)
Basic—weighted average shares .. ... ... . i i 44211475 41,962,899  37.576,641
Diluted—continuing operations .. ........vuiiir i $ 042 % 023 % (0.06)
DIIUEA & .ttt e e e $ 042 % 026 § (0.03)
Diluted—weighted average shares . ...... .. ... ... ... .. . o, 45,611,574 42,266,403 37,576,641

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Innkeepers USA Trust

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Preferred Shares Common Shares Additional Distributions Total
Redemption Par  Paid-in Unearned  in Excess of Shareholders’
Shares Value Shares Value Capital Compensation Earnings Equity

Balance|at December 31,2003 ... .. 4,630,000 § 115750 37,563,499 $376 $393,349 § (897) $(104,720)  § 403,858
Issuance of restricted shares ... .... — — 58,437 1 498 (499) — —
Redemption of Series A preferred

sharcj; ...................... 4,628,860y (115,722) _ — — — — (115,722)
Convergion of Series A preferred

shares ............. ... ... (1,140) (28) 1,140 — — — — (28)
Issuancg of Series C preferred

shares ........ ... 5,800,000 145,000 - — . — — 145,000
Amortization of unearned

compensation .. .............. — — - — — 948 — 948
Minerity Interest Allocation .. ..... — — B — (98) — — {98)
Shelf registration statement costs . .. — — —_ — (12) — — (12)
Exercise of employee share and

trusteg options . ... ... ... ... — — 293,500 2 2,930 — — 2,932
Series (] Preferred share offering

COSIS | . .. — — — — (4,748) — — (4,748)
Conversion of Common Units .. ... e — 50,180 1 463 e — 464
Netincdme ........evvennn .. — — — — — 14,600 14,600
Distributions declared ($0.18 per

commjon share) ............... — — — — —_ 6,813) (6,813)

Distribupions declared ($2.04 per
preferred share) . .............. — — —

— — (11.489) (11,489}
Series Al preferred share issuance

costs (... ... .. e — — — 4,249 — (4.249) —
Balancelat December 31,2004 . .. .. 5,800,000 $ 145000 37,966,756 $380 $396,631 $ (448) $(112,671)  $ 428892
Issuancq of restricted shares .. ..... — — 150,000 2 2,136 (2,138) — —
Issuance of Common Shares, net of

costs LG ... ... — — 4400000 43 59,639 — — 59,682
Ameortization of unearned

compensation ... .. — — — — — 647 — 647
Minority Interest Allocation .. .. ... — — —_ - {3.,7155) — — (3,755)
Sheif registration statement costs . . . — — —_ = (89 — — (8%)
Conversjon of Common Units .. ... — — 422,330 4 6,311 — — 6,315
Netincogme ............ooouvnnn.. — — —_ - —_ — 22,659 22,659
Distributions declared {$0.18 per

commjon share) ............... — — — — —_ —_ (19,732) (19,732)
Distribufions declared ($2.04 per

prefegred share) .. .. ........... — — _ = —_ — (11,600) (11,6000
Balance lat December 31, 2005 ... .. 5,800,000 $ 145000 42,939,086 $429 $460,873 $(1,939) $(121,344)  $ 483,019
Issuance of restricted shares .. .. ... — — 58,500 l _ — — 1
Forfeiture of restricted shares ... ... — —_ (35,0000 — — — — —
Reclassification of unearned

compensation to APIC . ... ..... — —_ — - (1,939) 1,939 —
Amortization of unearned

COMPENSATON ... .vvvrnannn. . — — —_ - 1,230 — — 1,230
Minority Interest Allocation .. .. .. — — — — 4,607 — — 4,607
Conversjon of Commeon and

Preferred Units ... ............ - — 2,136,114 21 34,779 — — 34,800
Options exercised .. .......oo... 634,100 6 7,834 7.840
Netincome .........cocvvvvnn.. — — — — — 30,562 30,562

Distributions declared ($0.73 per

commonshare} ............... — — —
Distributions declared ($2.00 per

preferred share) . .............. — — —

Balance at December 31,2006 ... .. 5,800,000 $ 145000 45,732,800

_ — (32,78%) (32,788}

— (11,600) {11,600}
$507,384 5§ — $(135,170)  $ 517,671

|1

o

45

-~

|

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Innkeepers USA Trust

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands)

2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities:
LS 1T 03 T $ 30562 § 22639 § 14,600
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation . ... ... . e 38,909 35,356 33,370
MInOFItY INTETESIS . L L Lottt ittt e 2,211 4,466 4,240
Amortization of unearned compensation ......... ... ... .. L 1,681 646 948
Amortization of deferred costs ... ... 2,671 2,703 2,577
[mpairment on hotels classified as held for sale included in discontinued
OPETAHIONS . . .o ettt e — — 626
Gain on sale of hotels included in discontinued operations . ................. (75) (1,501) (782)
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entity ........... ... ... .. ... ... ... 145 — e
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable . ... .. 273 (1,547) 3,514
Prepaid eXpenses . .. ... i e (973) 61 (745)
Deferred expenses andother . .. ... ... ... ... . ... ... L. 3.460 262 —
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .......... .. .. oo 9,587 3,292 3,681
Payable tomanager . ... .. .. ... ... .. ... (60) 21 {602)
Net cash provided by operating activities . .......................... 88,451 66,424 61,427
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investmentin hotels .. ... ... ... i i e (274,281)  (109,780)  (110,194)
Investment in deferred acquisition and pre-development costs ................... (5,737 (1,745) (1,784)
Proceeds from sale 0f @s8€18 . ... ... . i i e e 425 20,827 8.727
Net (deposits) withdrawals into restricted cash ... ... oo s 614 4,106 (3,195
Investment in unconsolidated entity . .. ........ ... ... ...l (4,277) — —
Lease aCquisSitiONS . ..o vttt et et e — — (1,336)
Payments of franchise fees .. ... ... .. .. e — (125) 27
Repayment of advances ... ... ... . . . e — 535 325
Net cash used in investing activities ... ...... ... .o il (283,276) (86,182) (107,729)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds fromdebt . ... ... .. ... 365,000 100,000 85.574
Payments ondebl ... ... .. e (132,836) (117439 (30,883)
Payments on franchise conversion obligations . .. ... oLl (1,0534) (833) (140)
Distributions paid tounitholders ... ... ... o oo (3,551) (4,553) {4,442)
Distributions paid to shareholders ...... ... ... ... il 40,312y  (27.169)  (16.862)
Proceeds from issuance of Shares . ... ... . . i e 7,840 59,167 27433
Loan origination fees and costs ... ... .. i i (1,674) (336) (1,127}
Net cash provided by financing activities ........................... 193,413 8817 59,553
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ........... ... ... ... .. (1,412) (10,940} 13,251
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year .. ............ ... ... .. L 11,897 22,837 9,586
Cash and cashequivalents atendofyear ......... ... ... i $ 10485 % 11897 § 22837
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid. net of capitalized interest .. ...t $ 22466 $ 18,130 3 18,146

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash information.

Unit holders in the Company’s operating parinership redeemed 2,136,114, 422,333 and 50,180 units for common shares during
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Upon redemption, $23,574, $6,313, and $463 were recorded as a reduction in minority
interest and an increase in shareholder’s equity in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

The Company capitalized interest of $552 and $373 during 2006 and 2005, respectively.

During 2006, the Company capitalized $11,206 to its investment in hotels associated with the redemption for common shares of
2,115,938 preferred units and 20,176 common units.

During 2006, the Company assumed a $13,700 loan related to hotel acquisitions. See Note 3 for hotel acquisitions.

During 2005, an adjustment of $742 for future obligations under the Marriott Takeback Transaction was recorded in Deferred
and other and Franchise conversion fee obligations. See Note 1 for a description of the Marriott Transaction.

During 2005, the Company transferred $1,704 of costs associated with completed hotel acquisitions from Deferred and other to
Investment in hotels.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Innkeepers USA Trust

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Organization

Innkeepers USA Trust (“Innkeepers” or the “Company”) is a self-administered real estate investment trust
(“REIT™), which at December 31, 2006, owned 75 Hotels with an aggregate of 9,904 rooms/suites (the “Hotels™)
and a|49% interest in one hotel with 355 rooms in an unconsolidated entity through its partnership interests in
Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership (with its subsidiary partnerships, the “Partnership” and collectively with
Innkeepers, the “Company”). The ownership of the Partnership was as follows at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Class A Class B
Common Preferred Preferred
Units % Units % Units {2) %

2006

Innkeepers .............. 45,732,800 94,98% 5,800,000 100.00% — —
Third parties (1)(2) ........ 2,415,248 5.02% — — — —_
Total ................... 48,148,048  100.00% 5,800,800 100.00% — —
2005

Innkeepers .............. 42,939,086 97.05% 5,800,000 100.00% — —
Third parties (1) .......... 666,891 2.95% — — 3,884,469  100.00%
Total ................... 43,605,977 100.00% 5.800,800 100.00% 3,884,469 100.00%

(1) Includes certain members of the Company’s management and Board of Trustees.

(2) Tn 2006, 3,884,469 Class B Preferred Units were converted to common units. Of this amount, 2,115,938
Class B preferred units were redeemed for common shares during 2006. During 2006, 20,176 common units
were redeemed for common shares.

The hotels are comprised of 44 Residence Inn hotels, five Summerfield Suites hotels, two Sheraton hotels,
one Hilton hotel, one Hilton Suites hotel, one Homewood Suites by Hilton hotel, one Sunrise Suites hotel, one
Doubletree Guest Suites hotel, one Four Points by Sheraton hotel, one Westin hotel, one Courtyard by Marriott
hotels| 13 Hampton Inn hotels, one TownePlace Suites hotel, one Clarion hotel (Bulfinch—Boston, MA), and
two hptels closed for renovation and conversion to Courtyard by Marriott hotels, respectively. The hotels are
located in 21 states and Washington, D.C., with 14 hotels located in California, six in Florida, five each in Texas,
seven|in New Jersey, four in Washington, and Michigan, and four in Illinois.

2003-2004 Restructuring Transactions

Erom January 1, 2003 through November 30, 2003, 60 of our hotels were leased to Innkeepers Hospitality,
Inc. of its affiliates (collectively, the “IH Lessee”) under separate percentage leases (collectively, the “Percentage
Leases”) providing for rent equal to (a) a fixed base amount or, (b) if greater, percentage rent based on the room
reventes of the hotel. A hotel acquired in June 2003 was leased by the Company to a TRS, and the TRS engaged
the IH Manager to manage the hotel. As of December 1, 2003, wholly-owned TRSs of the Company acquired
from the TH Lessee the Percentage Leases for 23 hotels, and simultaneously entered into management agreements
with the TH Manager to manage those 23 hotels. The IH Lessee continued to lease and manage 37 hotels under
Percentage Leases for the remainder of 2003. Between December 31, 2003 and March 1, 2004, TRSs acquired
the Percentage Leases on the remaining 37 hotels leased by the IH Lessee, and the TRSs entered into
management agreements with the IH Manager to manage those hotels as those Percentage Leases were acquired.
We refer to this transaction as the “TRS Transaction”. Jeffrey H. Fisher, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees, owned the IH Lessee and owns the IH Manager. In 2003-2004,
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Innkeepers USA Trust

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

the IH Lessee (1) converted the agreements under which 17 hotels were franchised and managed by affiliates of
Marriott International, Inc. (*Marriott™) into long-term franchise agreements with Marriott and (2) became the
manager of the hotels. The TRSs subsequently assumed the TH Lessee’s obligations under those franchise
agreements. Under those agreements, the TRSs pay Marriott (1) a franchise royalty fee of 6.5% of room revenues
for ten years and a 5% royalty thereafter and (2) $850 plus 50% of aggregate available cash flow (as defined in
the agreement with Marriott) in excess of a specified threshold each year for 10 years, beginning in 2004, We
refer to this transaction as the “Marriott Takeback Transaction.”

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Innkeepers, the
Partnership and the TRSs after elimination of all inter-company accounts and transactions.

Investment in hotel properties. Hotel properties are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets (5 years for furniture and equipment, 15 years for land
improvements and 5 to 40 years for buildings and improvements). Costs directly related to the acquisition and
development of hotels are capitalized. Property taxes and insurance, and interest incurred during the development
period are also capitatized. Costs are only capitalized during the acquisition and development period.

The Company reviews its hotels on an annual basis for “impairment”. The Company also determines on a
quarterly basis if any events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the value of the assets on our
books may not be fully recoverable. If circumstances support the possibility of impairment, the Company
prepares a projection of the undiscounted future cash flows, without interest charges, of the hotel for a period of
time determined by the Company. The Company compares this cash flow to the investment in the hotel to
determine if the investment is recoverable. If impairment is indicated, the carrying value of the hotel property is
reduced (o its estimated fair value based on the Company’s best estimate of the hotel’s discounted future cash
flows.

The Company allocates the purchase costs of properties to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as
provided by Statement of Financial Accounting Standard 141, “Business Combination.” For each acquisition, the
Company assesses the value of the land, building, equipment and any identifiable intangibles based on their
estimated fair values. The values determined are based on independent appraisals, discounted cash flow models
and our estimates reflecting the facts and circumstances of each acquisition. Acquisition fees and miscellaneous
acquisition costs that are directly identifiable with properties that are probable of being acquired are capitalized.
Upon the purchase of a property, the fees and costs directly identifiable with that property are reclassified to tand,
building, and equipment. In the event a property is no longer expected to be acquired, costs directly related to the
property are charged to expense.

Hotels held for sale. For hotels classified as held for sale, the Company estimates their net selling price. Net
selling price is estimated as the amount at which the hotel could be bought or sold (fair value) less costs to sell.
Fair value is determined considering prevailing market conditions and/or net sales proceeds from pending offers,
if appropriate. If the hotel’s net selling price is less than the carrying amount of the hotel, a reserve for loss is
established. Depreciation is no longer recorded on hotels held for sale.

Cash and cash equivalents, All highly liquid debt investments with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are placed with reputable institutions and the
balances may at times exceed federal depository insurance limits.
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Innkeepers USA Trust

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Restricted cash and cash equivalents include amounts required to be held in escrow by certain lenders for
the payment of debt service, property taxes and insurance and additional capital expenditures.

Accounts receivable. Accounts receivable consists of amounts owed by guests staying in the hotels at
December 31, 2006 and amounts due from business customers or groups. Credit evaluations are performed and
an allowance for doubtful accounts is provided. The allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained at a level
believed to be adequate to absorb estimated probable receivable losses. Our periodic evaluation of the adequacy
of the allowance is primarily based on past receivable loss experience, current economic conditions, and other
relevant factors. The allowance for doubtful accounts is $166 and $96 at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

Prepaids. Prepaids consist primarily of prepatd insurance.

Deferred and other. Deferred and other are recorded at cost and consist of the following at December 31,
2006 and 2005:

2006 2005

Loan origination fees . .. ... ..o e $ 6,104 § 57285
Franchise conversion COSIS . .\ vve st it oot onn e 11,687 11,687
Lease acquisition COSES ... ...ttt 5,231 5,231
Franchise fees . . oo oot e e 1,530 1,044
Deposits on acquisilions . ... i e 945 3,546
Predevelopment COSES . ... ... it 4,291 —
(01347=) O 157 81

29,945 26,874
Accumulated amoOTtIZation ... ...t i i e (9,099) (7.328)

$20,846  $19,546

Deferred lease acquisition costs represent amounts paid to the IH Lessee (as defined in “Business-2003-
2004 Restructuring Transactions above”) in consideration for acquiring 60 Percentage Leases from the IH Lessee
and entering into management agreements with the IH Manager. The $5.2 million was computed based on the
estimated future residual cash flows to the IH lessee from the Percentage Leases, reduced by the economic value
of the management agreements entered into with the TH Manager. In the event of the sale or impairment of any of
the related hotels, the Company is required to either replace the management contract of the sold hotel with a
management contract on a comparable hotel of at least equal value or pay the IH Manager a termination fees
equal to the fair market value of the management agreement. The Company has replaced all management
contracts for hotels sold as of December 31, 2006. The net deferred asset is evaluated based on a “pool” concept
and net associated with any individual hotel, on the basis that (a) the value of the management contracts is
protected by termination/substitution provisions, and (b) the replacement of management contracts for sold hotels
with new contracts did not result in a substantive exchange. This deferred asset is amortized using the straight-
line method of amortization over the life of the related management agreements, which is 10 years. We review
the asset on an annual basis for impairment and when events or changes in business circumstances indicate that
the value of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Upon the sale of a hotel, we assess the value of the
terminated management contract and the replacement management contract to determine if there has been a
decline in value of the initial agreements, The Company reviewed its deferred lease acquisition costs for
impairment and has determined that no impairment existed as of December 31, 2006.
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Innkeepers USA Trust

Notes to Consolidated Financiat Statements—(Continued)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Loan origination fees are amortized using the interest method over the original terms of the related
indebtedness, which are three to 11 years. The franchise conversion costs are amortized over the life of the
related management agreements, which is 10 years, using the straight-line method. Amortization of franchise
fees is computed using the straight-line method over the original lives of the franchise agreements, which range
from approximately seven to 20 years. Deposits on acquisitions and pre-development costs are included in
deferred expenses until the respective hotel is acquired or opened. Costs for hotels ultimately not acquired or
development projects that do not occur are written off in the period such determination is made. For the years
ended December 31. 2006, 2005, and 2004, the Company wrote off $725. $0, and $4, respectively, for cancelled
projects and this cost is included in general and administrative expenses.

Investments in unconsolidated entities. The Company considers whether its investment in joint ventures,
of which the Company only has one related to its 49% investment in an entity that owns the Sheraton Raleigh,
N.C., constitutes a variable interest entity (“VIE™) under FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46™) Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities. The Company also considers Emerging Issues Task Force No. 04-5, Determining
Whether a General Partner, or the Generat Partners as a Group. Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity
When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights. The Company determined the venture is not a VIE because the
equity investment is sufficient to finance the activities of the joint venture, the equity investors do not have
decision making rights, the joint venture equity investors have substantive voting rights, there are no expected
losses that are not expected to be absorbed by the equity investors, only the equity investors have rights to
receive residual returns and the managing member is an entity of the 51% investor.

Based on this determination, the Company accounts for its investment in unconsolidated entity in
accordance with SOP 78-9 and Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 18, “The Equity Method of
Accounting for Investments in Common Stock.” The Company uses the equity method to account for
investments when it owns greater than 20% of the equity value or has significant influence over the entity.
Investments in which the Company owns 20% or less of the equity value and does not have significant influence
would be accounted for using the cost method. If there is an event or change in circumstance that indicates a loss
in the value of an investment, the Company’s policy is to record the loss and reduce the value of the investment
to its fair value. A loss in value would be indicated if the Company could not recover the carrying value of the
investment. The Company did not recognize an impairment loss on its investment during the year. The
Company’s investment in unconsolidated entity as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $4,132 and $0,
respectively.

Minority interest. Minority interest represents the common unit holders’ proportionate share in the capital
of the Partnership. On November 1, 2006, the Class B preferred units automatically converted into common units
of the partnership. Income was allocated to the preferred unit holders based on their priority in the earnings of the
Partnership (which was equal to the distribution preference of the preferred unit holders as described in Note 5);
and income or loss is allocated to the common unit holders based on their weighted average percentage
ownership in the Partnership.

Revenue recognition. At December 31, 2006, 75 of the Company’s hotels were leased by the Company to
the TRSs under Percentage Lease agreements that provide for the payment of Percentage Rent based on room
revenues, subject to minimum Base Rent. Rent paid by the TRS to the Company under the Percentage Leases is
eliminated in consolidation.

Hotel operating revenue is recognized as earned. Other revenue is mainly comprised of guaranteed no-show,
meeting rooms, parking, in-room entertainment. and laundry.
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Advertising Costs. Advertising costs of $9,933, $8,323 and $6,618 for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005, and 2004, respectively, were expensed as incurred. Included in franchise and marketing fees are fees
(generally a percentage of room revenue) payable to marketing funds of the franchisors.

Share based compensation. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the accounting provisions of
SFAS No. 123R, Accounting for Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”). Under this method, the Company
applies the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R to all employee awards granted, modified, or settled
on or after January 1, 2006, which has resulted in compensation expense being recorded based on the fair value
of the awards. Prior to January |, 2006, the Company followed Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” (“APB 257), and related interpretations. For the year ended
December 31, 2006, the Company recognized expense of $1,681 pursuant to SFAS 123R, $852 of which related
to restricted share grants and $829 of which related to share options and market condition awards, including $451
related to the cash portion of the Company’s outstanding performance share awards.

Distributions. The Company intends to pay distributions which, at a minimum, will be sufficient for the
Company o maintain its REIT status.

Income taxes. The Company has elected 1o be taxed as a real estale investment trust under the Internal
Revenue Code. Earnings and profits, which determine the taxability of distributions to the Company’s
shareholders, will differ from net income (loss) reported for financial reporting purposes primarily due to the
differences in the estimated useful lives and methods used to compute depreciation for federal income tax
purposes, loss on hotels classified as held for sale included in discontinued operations and loss (gain) on the sale
of hotels.

The following table sets forth certain per share information regarding the Company’s common and preferred
share distributions for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

2006 2005 2004

Common shares

Ordinary iNCOME . ... ..ottt $ 06905 $ 0.2357 & 0.1800
Returnofcapital . ... ... ... .. ..t 0.0395 0.2243 —_—
Capital gain ... .. — — —
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gain ................. — — —
Total distribution . ..........voieiiiiiiin., $ 07300 $ 04600 % 0.1800
Preferred shares

Ordinary income .. ... e $2.00000  $2.00000  $2.03900
Returnofcapital ............. .. ... .. ... ... — — —
Capital gain . ... .. . i — — —
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gain ................. — —_ —
Total distribution . .......... .o, $2.00000  $2.00000  $2.03900

The Company and the TRSs are subject to federal and state income taxes. The TRSs account for income taxes
in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109™). Under SFAS 109, income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability
method under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable 1o
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
These differences are primarily related to the amortization of deferred franchise conversion costs recognized for
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financial statement purposes and the associated cash payments recognized for income tax purposes. The TRSs have
cumulative future income tax deductions of $5,812 (related primarily to accumulated net operating losses) at
December 31, 2006 and the gross deferred tax asset associated with these future tax deductions was $2,240). The net
operating losses expire in 2024, 2025, and 2026. The TRSs have recorded a valuation allowance equal to 100% of
the gross deferred tax asset due to the uncertainty of realizing the benefit of this asset. On January 1, 2006, the
Company restructured its TRSs so that all of its TRSs are owned by one TRS holding company.

Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Significant estimates include the allowance for doubtful accounts, fair value of hotels that are held for sale or
impaired, and future taxable income to assess the valuation allowance for deferred taxes.

Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable
and accrued expenses payable to manager, and distributions payable approximate fair value due to the short
maturity of these instruments.

For purposes of disclosure, the Company calculates the fair value of its debt. The Company discounts the
difference between the future contractual interest payments on its debt and the future interest payments it would
make on its debt calculated using a current market interest rate. In determining the current market interest rate,
the Company adds its estimate of a market spread to the quoted yields on federal government treasury securities
with maturities similar to its debt.

3. Acquisitions and Sales of Hotels

In October 2006, the Company acquired from a real estate fund four hotels with 931 rooms comprised of
two Residence Inn hotels, one in Anaheim, CA and one in San Diego, CA, a Hiiton hotel in Ontario, CA, and a
Hilton Suites hotel in Anaheim, CA. The fair values, at the date of acquisition, of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in connection with these acquisitions were based on appraisals and valvation studies from
independent third-party consultants, The following summarizes the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in connection with these acquisitions:

October 4, 2006

Assets
Investment in hotels . ... .. e e $215,116
Cash . e e 56
Restricted cash . ..o i e 1,003
Accounts receivable . ... e 140
Prepaid expenses .. ... ... i e 798
Total assets acquired . ... ..... . 217,113
Liabilities _
Dbt . e 13,700
Accounts payable and accrued expenses ... ... .. .. il 994
Total liabilities assumed .. ... ... i e s 14,694
Netassets acquired ... ........ . . it 202,419
Netof cash ... .. e $202,363
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The following unaudited pro forma financial data for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 are
presented to illustrate the estimated effects of these acquisition as if they had occurred as of the beginning of
each of the periods presented. The pro forma information includes adjustments for the results of operations for
operating properties (operating expenses, depreciation and amortization and interest expense). The following
unaudited pro forma financial data is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations as if the acquisition
had been completed on the assumed date:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005
TOAl FEVEIIUE « o . o ottt et e et r s ee e et a e te ettt $318,219  $287.779
Income from continuing OpPerations . .............veeneeearnannrn.n. 26,089 14,578
Net income applicable to common shareholders ....................... 14,564 4,347
Earnings per share—basic . ... ... . oo 0.33 0.10
Earnings per share—diluted ........... ... ... . i 0.32 0.10

In November 2006, the Company acquired for $23,500 the newly developed 155-room Sheraton hotel in
Rockville, MD, and a 49% interest for $4,277 in the 355-room Sheraton Raleigh, NC. During 2006, the Company
sold excess land in Binghamton, NY for $425 and recognized a gain on the sale of assets of $75.

4. Debt
Debt is comprised of the following at December 31, 2006 and 2005:
Interest Rate Meonthly Payment Principal Balance {3)
2006 2005 Amount  Beginning Maturity 2006 2005
Variable rate debt
Line of Credit{(4) ................ 6.85% 5.59% (1) (1) 09/2008 3$107,000 $ 64,074
Industrial development bonds (3} ...  3.50 325 1y (1) 12/2014 10,000 10,000
Fixed rate debt
Mortgage loan .. ........... ... ... 1035 10.35 5141 11/1996(2) 06/2010 12,310 12,709
Firsttermloan . .................. 8.17 8.17 256 10/1997(2) 10/2007 21,962 23,163
Secondtermloan ................ 8.15 8.15 355 04/1999(2) 03/2009 33,484 34,915
Third term loan . ................. 7.02 7.02 292 04/2000(2) 04/2010 27,485 28,050
Fourthtermloan ................. 7.16 7.16 437 10/2002(2) 10/2009 44,403 45,533
Fifthtermloan .................. 7.75 7.75 378 02/2005(2) 0172011 48,749 49,422
Mortgage loans .................. 6.03 — 150 11/2009¢2) 10/2016 75,000 —
Mortgageloan ................... 5.41 — 83 08/2007(2) 07/2010 13,700 —
Mortgageloans .................. 5.98 — 239 12/2009¢2) 11/20i6 120,000 -—
$514,093 $267.906

Mortgage adjustment (3) .......... — — — 11/1996(2) 06/2010 1,197 1,520

$515,290 $269,426

(1) Interest only payments are due monthly.

(2) Interest only is due monthly until principal amortization begins at the date indicated.

(3) Principal balance excludes $1,197 and $1,520 at December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively, comprised of a
fair market value adjustment on a mortgage loan which is amortized over the term of the loan as a credit to
interest expense.

(4) Interest rates and principal balances are at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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The industrial development bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is based upon the 30-day yield of a
group of tax-exempt securities selected by an independent third party. The industrial development bonds are
collateralized by letters of credit.

The estimated fair value of the Company’s debt was $525,736 at December 31, 2006,

In July 2004 the Company entered into a $135,000 line of credit which was increased to $205,000 in 2006.
The interest rate on the line of credit range from LIBOR plus 115 to 175 basis points, depending on certain
financial ratios. The line of credit matures in September 2008. The Company’s line of credit outstanding balance
was $107.000 at December 31, 2006. The actual amount that can be borrowed is subject to borrowing base
availability as described in the loan agreement.

In September, 2006, the Company amended its unsecured line of credit to increase borrowing capacity and
to extend the maturity date. A summary of the key changes follows:

As Amended Original

Total borrowing capacity: .......... .. ... ... i .. $ 205,000 § 135,000
Maturity date: ... ... . e Sept. 30, 2008 July 23, 2007
Applicable margin on Indebtedness to implied value

f. <50% >45% 1.75% 2.25%
g, <45%>40% 1.55% 2.00%
h. <40% > 35% 1.40% 1.625%
L <35%=>25% 1.25% 1.50%
o <25% 1.15% 1.40%

Four of the Company’s five term loan agreements contain a debt service coverage ratio requirement ranging
from 1.30:1 to 1.50:1. The Company was in compliance with the financial covenants contained in its line of
credit and term loan agreements at December 31, 2006,

At December 31, 2006, 44 of the Company’s hotels (with a net book value of $620,876) collateralized the
Company’s fixed rate debt of $398,290 and 32 of the Company’s hotels were unencumbered. For the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company capitalized interest of $552, $373, and $0, respectively, in
connection with hotels under conversion or development.

Future scheduled principal payments, excluding the non cash portion of one of the Company’s mortgage
loans of $1,197, for the Company’s debt at December 31, 2006 are as follows:

Year Mt_
2007 e e $ 26,916
2008 e 112,465
2000 e 75,119
20 e 51,797
L 1 3,555
Thereafter ... ... ... e 244 241

514,093
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5. Capital Shares and Partnership Interests

The Company's Board of Trustees is authorized to issue 100 million common shares and 20 million
preferred shares in one or more series, to establish the number of shares in each series and to fix the designation,
powers, preferences, and rights of each such series and the qualifications, limitations or restriction thereof.

In 2006 and 2005, the Company granted to employees 37,500 and 150,000 restricted shares respectively,
and to trustees 21,000 and zero restricted shares, respectively. In 2006, the Company cancelled 35,000 restricted
shares that were granted to former employees in 2005. In 2003, the Company granted performance awards to two
executives as discussed in note 10 below,

In February 2005, the Company completed a public offering of 4.4 million common shares at $13.71 per
share. The net proceeds from the offering of $59,600 were used to pay down a portion of the Company’s
outstanding indebtedness under its unsecured line of credit.

In January 2004, the Company completed an offering of 5,800,000 8.0% Series C cumulative preferred
shares (“Series C Preferred Shares”). The Series C Preferred Shares may be redeemed at the $25 per share
liquidation preference at the election of the Company on or after January 20, 2009. The Series C Preferred Shares
have no stated maturity, sinking fund or mandatory redemption and are not convertible into any other securities
of the Company. All dividends on the Series C preferred shares must be paid or provided for on a current basis or
the Company would not be able to pay dividends on its common shares. The net proceeds from the offering were
$140,300. The Company used $115,700 to redeem all of the Company’s outstanding Series A Preferred Shares
and the balance was used for general corporate purposes. In connection with the redemption of the Series A
Preferred Shares, the Company expensed (as additional preferred share dividends) the offering costs of $4,249
related to the initial issuance of the Series A Preferred Shares.

Limited partners in the partnership (other than the Company) who hold common units have redemption
rights (“Redemption Rights”) which enable them to cause the Partnership to redeem each of their common units
for cash at the then-current fair market value of a common share or, at Innkeepers’ option, cne common share.
All of the Redemption Rights are currently effective. The Partnership has issued to the Company common units
equal to the number of the Company’s common shares outstanding. The Partnership will issue additional
commeon units to the Company for any additional common shares it issues, in exchange for the Company’s
contribution to the Partnership of the net proceeds from the common share issuance.

Additionally, until November 1, 2006 limited partners who held class B preferred units of limited
partnership interest in the Partnership (“Class B Preferred Units” and collectively with the common units,
“Units”) had Redemption Rights which enabled them to cause the Partnership to redeem each of their Class B
preferred units for cash at the then-current fair market value of a common share or, at Innkeepers’ option, one
common share. The Class B preferred units had a liquidation preference of $11.00 per unit and were converted
into common units on November 1, 2006, Quarterly preferred distributions were payable on each Class B
preferred unit, and were based on the dividends payable on the common shares (the minimum Class B preferred
unit annual distribution was $1.10 and the maximum was $1.155). The Class B preferred units distributions are
reflected in the accompanying statement of operations as “minority interest, preferred.”

Tn 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company issued 2,136,114, 422,333 and 50,180 common shares in redemption

of the same number of common units, respectively. The Company redeemed certain common units for cash in
2005 of $426. The Company did not redeem common units for cash in 2006 or 2004.
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The following table summarizes the dividends or distributions declared on each Series A and C Preferred
Share, Class B Preferred Unit and common share and common unit for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004

2006 2005 2004

Series C Class B Common  Series C Class B Commeon Series A/C ClassB  Common
Preferred Preferred share Preferred Preferred share Preferred Preferred  share

Share Unit and unit Share Unit and unit Share Unit and unit
First quarter ........ $0.50000 $0.27500 $0.15 $0.50000 $0.27500 $0.06 $0.53900 $0.27500 $0.03
Second quarter . ..... 0.50000 0.27500 0.15 050000 027500 0.10 050000 027500 0.03
Third quarter ....... 0.50000 0.27500 020 050000 0.27500 0.15 0.50000 0.27500 Q.06
Fourth quarter ...... 0.50000 — 0.23 050000 0.27500 015 050000 027500 0.06

$2.00000 $0.82500 $0.73 $2.00000 $1.10000 $%0.46 $ 2.039 $1.10000 $0.18

The timing and amount of any future dividends will be determined by the Company’s Board of Trustees
based on factors it deems relevant.

6. Percentage Lease Revenue

Each Percentage Lease provides for the payment of percentage rent each year based on the annual room
revenues of the hotel, subject to a minimum base rent. The table below sets forth the percentage rent and base
rent earned by the Company from its third party lessees for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

2006 2005 2004
Base Rent ...ttt e 5— 5— $3,615
Percentage Rent .. ... ... .. ... . .. .. . ... L — — 1,469
Base and Percentage Rent classified in discontinued operations . .. ... .. .. — — (74)

$— $— £35.010
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7. Earnings per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

2006 2005 2004
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations . ..................... $ 30487 $ 21,290 § 13471
Series A preferred share issuance costs . ..... ... ... ...... — — (4,249)
Preferred share dividends ...... ... .. ... et (11,600) (11,600) (11,489
Income (loss) applicable to common shareholders from
conlinuing OPerations . ...........eoeniiii e 18,887 9,690 (2,267)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations .. .............. — (132) 1,129
Gain on sale of assets from discontinued operations . ........ 75 1,501 —
Net income (loss) applicable to common
shareholders—Basic . ....... . ... .ciiiiiininaanan 18,962 11,059 (1,138)
Common minority interest .............ccoviieennan..., 222 — —
Net income {loss) applicable to common
shareholders—Diluted . ... ... ... ... ... . . ot $ 19,184 % 11,059 % (1,138)
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings {loss) per share—weighted
average SHares ... ...ttt i 44211475 41,962,899 37,576,041
Effect of dilutive securities:
COmMMONUIILS . ..ottt ettt ene e iiae e 961,127 — -
Stock options . ... e 261,488 220,169 —
Performance shares .. ... .. . . iiiiiiiiniaenen. 141,004 — —
Restricted shares . ........ .. ... i iiiiinnennnan. 36,480 83,335 —
Denominator for diluted earnings (loss) per share—weighted
average shares and assumed conversions ................ 45611574 42,266,403 37,576,641
Income (loss) per share data:
Basic-continuing operations .............. .. ccooiiiian.. $ 043 § 023 § (0.06)
Discontinued operations . ............ .. eeeeaenaaaannn 0.00 0.03 0.03
BasiC ... e e e e 3 043 § 026 % (0.03)
Diluted-continuing operations . ... ........ oo $ 042 3% 023 $% (0.06)
Discontinued operations ............... ... 0.00 (.03 0.03
DIlted . o e e 5 042 3% 026 % (0.03)

The following items would be anti-dilutive (i.e. assuming conversion into common shares would increase
earnings per share or reduce loss per share) and, therefore, were not included in the calculation of earnings or
loss per share for the indicated periods: (a) preferred units for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively; (b) the 1,088,000 outstanding options in 2004, (c) 450,165 common units in 2005,
(d) 1,132,327 common units in 2004 and (e) 153,772 restricted shares in 2004.

F-18




Innkeepers USA Trust

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
{in thousands, except share and per share data)

8. Quarterly Results of Operations and Other Data (unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter  Quarter  Quarter Quarter

2006
Operating data (1):
Total revenue $64,602 $73,190 $73,051 $75870 $286,713
Income from continuing operations 6,025 11,373 10,000 3,089 30,487
Net income 6,100 11,373 10,000 3,089 30,562
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations 0.08 0.19 0.16 0.00 0.43
Basic earnings per share 0.08 0.19 0.16 0.00 043
Diluted (loss) earnings per share from continuing

operations 0.07 0.19 0.16 0.00 042
Diluted {loss) earnings per share 0.07 0.19 0.16 0.00 0.42

2005

Operating data (1):

Total revenue $55,099 $64,070 $67.095 $60.917 $247,18]
Income from conlinuing operations 636 8,149 9,723 2,782 21,290
Net income 2,072 8,076 9,737 2,774 22,659
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations (0.05) 0.12 0.16 0.00 0.23
Basic earnings per share (0.02) 0.12 0.16 0.00 0.26
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations . . .. {0.06) 0.12 0.16 0.00 0.23
Diluted earnings per share (0.02) 0.12 0.16 0.00 0.26

9. Income Tax

The Company’s TRSs are subject to federal and state income taxes. The TRSs have cumulative future
income tax deductions of approximately $5,812 (related primarily to accumulated net operating losses) as of
December 31, 2006 and the gross deferred tax asset associated with these future tax deductions was
approximately $2,240. The TRSs have recorded a valuation allowance equal to 100% of the gross deferred tax
asset due to the uncertainty of realizing the benefit of this asset due to the TRSs limited operating history and the
taxable losses incurred by the TRSs since their inception. On January 1, 2006, the Company restructured its
TRSs and all of its TRSs are owned by one TRS holding company.

The components of the deferred taxes recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

2006 2005

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss $2537 % 1,468
Lease termination (297) 432
(2,240)  (1,900)

0 3 0

Net operating loss carry forwards for federal and state income tax purposes amount to $176, $3.847, $2,606,
and $159 expire in 2023, 2024, 2025, and 2026, respectively.
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10. Share-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123R, Accounting
for Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”). Under this method, the Company applies the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS 123R to all employee awards {including options) granted, modified, or settled on or after
January |, 2006, which has resulted in compensation expense being recorded based on the fair value of the
awards. Prior to Janvary 1, 2006, the Company followed Accouming Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25"), and related interpretations. Under APB 25, because
the exercise price of employee share options equaled the market price of the underlying share on the date of
grant, no compensation expense was recognized for options. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the
Company recognized expense of $1,681 pursuant to SFAS 123R. $852 relates to restricted share grants, and $829
relates to share options and market condition awards, of which 3451 relates to the cash portion of the Company’s
performance award plan.

The Company's share incentive plan for employees and officers (the “1994 Plan”) reserves 4,700,000
common shares for issuance (a) upon the exercise of incentive share options and non-gualified options or (b) as
restricted shares and performance shares. Options granted under the 1994 Plan expire not more than ten years
from the date of grant. The Company may grant up to 2,200,000 restricted shares and performance shares under
the 1994 Plan. Restricted shares issued to date have voting and dividend rights from the date granted. At
December 31, 2006, 838,362 shares remained available for issuance in the form of restricted or performance
shares under the 1994 plan (assumes a reserve of 237,500 for the performance awards—see “performance awards
below) and 1,000,388 restricted shares were vested. The Company issues new shares upon the exercise of
common share options. The following table provides information about the Company’s equily compensation
plans described above, as of December 31, 2006.

Number of

Securities
remaining
Number of available for
Securities to  Weighted- future issuance
be issued average under equity
upon exercise compensation
exercise of price of plans (excluding
outstanding  outstanding  securities reflected
options options in first Column)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Shareholders ........... 395.400 $11.52 2,039.612

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Shareholders . ....... — — —

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s non-vested restricted shares under the 1994
Plan as of December 31, 2006.

Weighted
average

Number of Grant-Date

M Shares Fair Value
Shares outstanding as of December 31,2005 .......................... 195,000 $12.46
Shares granted . . . ... ..ot 37.500 17.24
Shares VesSted - . oot e e (73,750) 9.37
Shares cancelled . ... . n e e e e {35,000 15.51
Shares outstanding as of December 31,2006 ... ... ... ... iiiiiass 123,750 $14.89
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As of December 31, 2006, there was $1,512,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested
restricted shares granted under the 1994 Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 2.7 years.

The exercise price of common share options may not be less than fair market value of the common shares at
the date of grant. The table below delineates information concerning common share options granted under the
1994 Plan for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Number of Shares Weighted
Underlying Average
Options Exercise Price
Qutstanding at December 31,2005 ..................... 1,003,000 $11.99
Granted .......... ... 12,500 16.00
Exercised . ..o e (620,100} 12.37
Cancelled .. ... ... .. — e
Forfeited . . ... .. ... .. . . . . — —
Outstanding at December 31,2006 ..................... 395,400 $11.52
Exercisable at December 31,2006 ............ . ... ..... 386,025 $11.80
Exercise price range of shares under option .................. $10.25t0 $ 16.00

Of the 395,400 common share options outstanding as of December 31, 2006, 12,500 are incentive share
options and 382,900 are non-qualified options. The options vest over varying periods not exceeding ten years. All
but 9,375 of the common share options granted in 2006 are fully vested and exercisable, and have a weighted
average remaining contractual term of two years. As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of fully
vested common share options was approximately $1,600.

The Company’s non-employee trustee share incentive plan provides for the granting of up to 200,000 share
options and restricted shares to trustees. Restricted shares have voting and dividend rights from the date granted.
Options granted under the trustees plan expire not more than ten years from the date of grant. The Company has
granted to trustees an aggregate of 101,000 non-qualified options to acquire common shares, with exercise prices
ranging from $6.93 to $16.69. As of December 31, 2006, 87,000 of these options, with a weighted average
exercise price of $10.18, were vested, 14.000 options had been exercised and no options had been forfeited or
terminated. The Company has also granted to its non-employee trustees an aggregate of 96,053 restricted shares
at a weighted average grant date fair value per share of $12.23, which vest over varying periods not to exceed
five years. At December 31, 2006, 92,677 of these restricted shares were vested and 3,376 shares were unvested,
Unrecognized compensation cost related to these unvested shares of $30 will be recognized over the next 2.0
years.

The Company has granted performance awards that contain a market condition (defined as a vesting
condition based in whole or in part upon the Company’s share price) and may result in the issuance of 237,500
common shares and 225,000 common share equivalents (the equivalents may settle in cash). The common shares
and equivalents will only be issued if the Company’s compounded annual total shareholder return (share price
appreciation plus dividends) exceeds a targeted threshold over a measuring period. The measuring period ends
May 30, 2008 or upon the termination without cause, death or disability of the employee, or a change of control
of the Company. Any common shares or equivalents issued at the end of the measuring period will vest 50% at
issuance and 25% on the first two anniversaries of issuance, or earlier if the employee is terminated without
cause, dies or is disabled, or if a change of control cecurs.
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The fair value calculations under SFAS No. 123R for the common shares portion of the performance
awards, the common share equivalent portion of the performance awards and the share options were estimated by
an independent third party using valuation models. A lattice model was used to calculate the fair value of the
common share and common share equivalent awards and the fair value of the share options was calculated using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of the common shares portion of the performance awards
of $1,312 and the share options of $50 was fixed on the grant dates. The fair value of the common share
equivalent portion of the performance awards of $1,303 was re-measured as of December 31, 2006. The
following assumptions were used for each of the fair value calculations:

Common
Common Share

Share Equivalent Share

Award Award Options
Measurement date June 1,2005 Dec. 31,2006 Jan. 2, 2006
Common share dividend yield . ....... .. ... ..o i 4.8% 5.5% 4.1%
Expected common share volatility ........... oo 32.5% 26.7% 32.0%
RiSK-Tree IMEEIeSt FALE . . o vt v e oottt e ettt aaaae s 3.55% 4.74% 4.31%
Expected term (in YEars}) . .......ooonemeiiiiiiiii 5. 3.5 6.5

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recognized expense of $1,681 pursuant to SFAS
123R, of which $852 relates to restricted share grants and $829 relates to share options and market condition
awards, including $451 relating to the portion of the Company’s outstanding performance share awards that may
settle in common share equivalents. Total compensation expense for non-vested options and market condition
awards not yet recognized is approximately $1,62 land will be recognized over the next 3.5 years.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the fair value method had
been applied to all outstanding and unvested options and market condition awards in the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004:

For the year ended  For the year ended
December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Pro Forma Pro Forma
Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders . ....... $11,059 $(1,138)
Deduct: Total share-based compensation expense determined
under the fair value method for all awards, net of minority
T € =] AT P (484) (90)
Pro forma net income (loss) applicable to common
SNarEhOlderS . . o e $10,575 $(1,228}
Basic earnings (loss) per share—as reported . . .. .. ...... $ 026 $ (0.03)
Basic earnings (loss) per share—pre forma ............ $ 025 $ (0.03)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share—as reported .. ........ $ 026 $ 0.03)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share—pro forma ........... $ 0325 $ (0.03)

F-22




Innkeepers USA Trust

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

11. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company’s wholly owned TRSs are parties to, and thereby directly responsible for. the franchise
agreemenis. The Company has guaranteed the TRSs obligations under their hotel franchise agreements with
Marriott, and the Company’s subsidiaries that own hotels subject 1o franchise agreements with Marriott and
subsidiaries of Hilton Hotels have effectively guaranteed those franchise agreements.

Under the Percentage Leases, the Company is obligated 1o pay the costs of certain capital improvements,
property taxes and insurance for the Hotels (except that the TRSs are required to pay property insurance on six
hotels). Additionally, the Company must make available to the TRSs an amount equal to 4% or 5% of room
revenues from the Hotels per month on a cumulative basis, for the periodic replacement or refurbishment of
furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at the Hotels (subject to certain
exceptions). Each of the term loans require that the Company make available for such purposes, for the hotels
collateralizing those loans, varying amounts up to 5% of gross revenues from such hotels.

The Company has a ground lease with renewal rights to extend the expiration to August 2070 (Westin
Morristown, NJI), two fifty-year term ground leases expiring August 2034 (Courtyard by Marriot Ft. Lauderdale,
FL) and May 2035 (Best Western Palm Beach, FL), respectively, and a 98-year term ground lease expiring
October 2084 {Hampton [on Woburn, MA), on the land underlying part or all of four of its hotel properties.
Minimum annual rent payable under these leases is approximately $584 in the aggregate, subject to increase
based on increases in the consumer price index.

12. Related Party Transactions

The Company reimbursed the IH Manager in 2006, 2005 and 2004 $15, 314, and $12 respectively, for
shared personnel and services (which included human resources and telephone costs).

The Company, the IH Lessee and the IH Manager replaced the majority of their corporate information
technology (“IT”) infrastructure in 2003. The total cost of the new IT infrastructure was approximately $1.0
million, which was funded by the Company. In 2004, the Company, the |H Lessee and the [H Manager agreed to
a cost sharing agreement under which the Company reimbursed the IH Manager for 50% of the total costs
(including depreciation on the IT infrastructure) of operating and maintaining the IT function. The Company’s
reimbursements to the IH Manager for the IT function in 2006, 2005 and 2004 were 3301, 3315 and 3258,
respectively.

The Company engaged an affiliate of Hatchett Hospitality (“Hatchett™) to perform certain renovation
projects. The Company paid approximately $0, $60 and $1,006 to Hatchett during 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The Company may enter into additional renovation contracts with the Hatchett affiliate in 2007.
The affiliate of Hatchett is approximately 50% owned by Equity Inns, Inc. (“Equity™). The IH Manager manages
four Hotels owned by Equity. These contracts assisted the IH Manager in qualifying to manage the Company’s
Hotels under tax laws applicable to a REIT.

In connection with the TRS Transaction, the Company and the IH Manager agreed on management
agreements with an initial term of 10 years that may be renewed for two, five-year periods at the option of the IH
Manager. The management agreements provide for a base management fee of 3% of gross revenues, an
accounting tee of $750.00 per month per hotel and an incentive management fee equal to 50% of hotel available
cash flow. The Company paid the IH Manager management and accounting fees as of December 31, 2006, 2005.
and 2004 of $9.198, $7,993, and $6,681. respectively.
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The IH Manager obtained an employee practices liability insurance policy covering the [H Manager and the
Company. The Company has reimbursed the TH Manager for its one-third share of the policy premium, which
was $106, $91, and $53, for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The IH Manager maintains a health benefit plan in which the Company’s employees participate. The
Company's reimbursement to the IH Manager is based on the number of Company employees participating in the
plan and the coverage and benefit levels selected by those employees. The Company has reimbursed the 1H
Manager in 2006, 2005 and 2004 $167, $105, and $111, respectively, under this arrangement.

The Company reimbursed the TH Manager $5,000 in 2004 for certain pre-opening costs incurred relating to
Hotels acquired in 2004 and which the IH Manager does or will manage.

13. Litigation Settlement

The Company is not presently a defendant in any material litigation, nor. to its knowledge, is any material
litigation threatened against the Company or its properties, other than routine litigation arising in the ordinary
course of business and which is expected to pose no material financial risk to the Company and/or is expected to
be covered by insurance policies.

The Company recorded a $617 charge to general and administrative expense during 2005 to reflect the
estimated loss from misappropriation of receipts on hotel accounts receivable by an employee at one of its hotels.
The Company received insurance proceeds to offset the total charge during 2005.

14, Insurance Recovery

The Company received net insurance proceeds of $1,229 during the first quarter of 2006 for the Ft. Walton
Beach. FL hotel, which had a substantial number of rooms out of service following hurricanes in September
2004. Of this amount, $745 relates to proceeds from business interruption claims and $484 relates to amounts
reimbursed for previously incurred repairs and maintenance expense.

15. Other Charges

Other charges for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 include the following (amounts in
thousands):

2006 2005 2004
Extinguishmentof Debt ....... ... ...t $—  $2698 $—
Personmel COBE .. v v v e e e et e e e e — 355 392
Transaction COSIS . . . .. v v it e e i ie et ianaaanras 299 — —
(07111 o (1oL e) 1173 (745} — —
TRS Transaction COSIS . .. oo v i r e ie e et i iiaaaas —_ — 233
Marriott Takeback Transaction . . ... ...cvitvinr i ren. — — 250

$(446) $3,053  $875

Extinguishment of debt includes prepaid interest, loan origination fees and other costs associated with the
partial defeasance of outstanding debt of $16,500 encumbering three hotels that were sold during the first quarter
of 2005. The personnel costs are related to the departure of former officers. Other income includes business
interruption insurance proceeds. Transaction costs include legal costs associated with exploring a possible sale of
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the Company. The TRS Transaction costs are related to the TRS Transaction. The Company reimbursed the [H
Manager for expenses incurred for the transition of 17 Hotel properties managed by Marriott to the IH Manager
as part of the Marriott Tackback Transaction.

16. Investment in Unconsolidated Entities

During the fourth quarter 2006, the Company acquired for $4,277 a 49 percent equity interest in the
355-room Sheraton Capital Center Hotel in Raleigh, N.C. The other interests are owned by subsidiaries of the
Gencom Group, a private hospitality firm. The property was purchased by the joint venture for approximately
$42.,000. The joint venture funded the acquisition with $8,500 in cash and approximately $33.500 in debt. The
Company funded its portion of the cash from borrowings on its unsecured line of credit. The debt obtained by the
joint venture is floating rate debt bearing interest at LIBOR plus 285 basis points and matures in November 2009,

17. Discontinued Operations

During the first quarter of 2006, the Company sold one land site in Binghamton, NY and recognized a gain
of $75 on the sale. The Company had no hotels classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2006.

In 2004, the Company classified three hotels as held for sale, which were sold in 2005 for $21,300 and the
Company recognized a gain on sales of $1,501, The Company sold a hotel in July 2004 and recognized a loss on
the sale of $247 and another hotel in January 2004 and recognized a gain on sale of $1,029.

The following tabie sets forth the components of discontinued operations for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands):

2006 2005 2004
Hotel operating revenue . ... ... ............. .. .on... $— § 918 $9.168
Percentage lease revenue ........... ... . ... ... ..., — — 74
Otherincome . ... ... . . ittt — 28 79
Hotel operating expenses .. ......... ... ... 0. ioa... — (1,001) (6,283
Depreciation .. ..., ... — — (1,564)
Amortization of franchise fees ........... ... ... . .. — ) (12)
Property taxes and insurance ............ ... ... . ...... — {(73) (453)
General and administrative . ... ... ... it ianas — — 3
Gain (lossyonsaleof Hotel ................ .. ... ...... 15 1,501 782
Impairment on Hotels classified as held forsale ........... — — (626)
e . . e e — — (33
Discontinued Operations .. ........ .. v eriiiiieninir... $75 $1369 $1,129

18. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2005, FASB Interpretation No. 47 (“FIN 47), Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations was issued to clarify that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in FASB Statement
No. 143 (“SFAS 143"), Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, refers to a legal obligation to perform an
asset retirement activity in which the timing and (or) method of settlement are conditional on a future event that
may or may not be within the control of the entity. The obligation to perform the asset retirement activity is
unconditional even though uncertainty exists about the timing and {or) method of settlement. Thus, the timing
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and (or) method of setlement may be conditional on a future event. Accordingly, an entity is required to
recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability
can be reasonably estimated. The fair value of a liability for the conditional asset retirement obligation should be
recognized when incurred-generally upon acquisition. construction, or development and (or) through the normal
operation of the asset. Uncertainty about the timing and (or) method of settlement of a conditional asset
retirement obligation should be factored into the measurement of the liability when sufficient information exists.
SFAS 143 acknowledges that in some cases, sufficient information may not be available to reasonably estimate
the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. FIN 47 also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient
information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. The Company has adopted
FIN 47 and determined that it had no impact as of December 31, 2006. The Company will continue to analyze
the impact, i any, of FIN 47 on a regular basis.

In July 2006, The Financial Accounting Standards Board published FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 487),
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, to address the non-comparability in reporting tax assets and
liabilities resulting from a lack of specific guidance in FASB Statement No. 109 (SFAS No. 109), Accounting for
Income Taxes, on the uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements. Specifically,
FIN No. 48 prescribes (a) a consistent recognition threshold and (b) a measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and
provides related guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure. and transition. FIN 48 will apply to fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, with earlier
adoption permitted. The Company will adopt FIN 48 for fiscal periods starting January 1, 2007. The Company is
in the process of evaluating the full impact, if any, of FIN 48; however, the Company does not believe that the
effects of FIN 48, if any, will be material to the financial statements.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission published Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108
(“SAB 108"). The interpretations in this Staff Accounting Bulletin express the staff’s views regarding the process
of quantifying financial statement misstatements. The interpretations in this Staff Accounting Bulletin are being
issued to address diversity in practice in quantifying financial statement misstatements and the potential under
current practice for the build up of improper amounts on the balance sheet. The Company evaluated SAB 108
and it had no impact as of December 31, 2006.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections” (“SFAS 1547), which replaces APB No. 20. “Accounting Changes,” and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 3, “Reporting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.” SFAS
154 changes the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 requires
retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of voluntary changes in accounting principle and
changes required by new accounting standards when the standard does not include specific transition provisions,
unless it is impracticable to do so. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005 and will only affect the Company’s consolidated financial
statemnents upon adoption of a voluntary change in accounting principle by the Company.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant 1o the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNKEEPERS USA TRUST
February 28, 2007 /s/  JEFFREY H. FISHER

Chief Exccutive Officer, President and
Chairman of the Board of Trustees

February 28, 2007 /s/  DENNIS M. CRAVEN

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
/sf JeFFREY H. FISHER Chief Executive Officer, President February 28, 2007
Jeffrey H. Fisher and Chairman of the Board,

(Principal Executive Officer)

fs/ DennNiS M. CRAVEN Chief Financial Officer February 28. 2007

Dennis M. Craven

/s/  MILES BERGER Trustee February 28, 2007
Miles Berger
fs/ RanNDalLL L. CHURCHEY Trustee February 28, 2007

Randall 1.. Churchey

/s/ THOMAS J. CROCKER Trustee February 28, 2007

Thomas J. Crocker

/s/ Jack P. DEBoER Trustee February 28, 2007
Jack P. DeBoer

fs/  C. GERALD GOLDSMITH Trustee February 28, 2007
C, Gerald Goldsmith

/s/  RoLF E. RUHFUS Trustee February 28, 2007
Rolfl E, Ruhfus

/s/  JOEL F. ZEMANS Trustee February 28, 2007

Joel F. Zemans




RISK FACTORS

SOME OF THE INFORMATION YOU WILL FIND IN THIS FORM 10-K, AND IN OUR OTHER FILINGS
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND OUR PROSPECTUSES OR ANY PROSPECTUS
SUPPLEMENTS, MAY CONTAIN “FORWARD-LOOKING” STATEMENTS. ALSO, DOCUMENTS
SUBSEQUENTLY FILED BY US WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION MAY CONTAIN
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. YOU CAN IDENTIFY THESE TYPES OF STATEMENTS BY THEIR
USE OF FORWARD-LOOKING WORDS SUCH AS "MAY,” “SHOULD,” “COULD,” “"PLANS,” “INTENDS,"
“EXPECTS.” “ANTICIPATES,” “ESTIMATES,” “PROJECTS,” “CONTINUES," “IS DESIGNED TO,”
“POTENTIAL” OR OTHER SIMILAR WORDS. THESE TYPES OF STATEMENTS DISCUSS FUTURE EVENTS
OR EXPECTATIONS OR CONTAIN PROJECTIONS OR ESTIMATES., WHEN CONSIDERING THESE
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, YOU SHOULD KEEP IN MIND THE FOLLOWING RISK FACTORS,
AS WELL AS OTHER FACTORS THAT ARE DESCRIBED IN OQUR FILINGS WITH THE SEC FROM TIME TO
TIME. THESE RISK FACTORS COULD CAUSE OUR ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER MATERIALLY AND
ADVERSELY FROM THOSE CONTAINED IN OR IMPLIED BY ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT.
THE WORDS (A) “THE COMPANY,” “WE,” “US,” “"OUR,” “OURS” AND WORDS OF SIMILAR IMPORT
REFER TQO INNKEEPERS USA TRUST OR INNKEEPERS USA TRUST AND ITS CONSOLIDATED
AFFILIATES, AS THE CONTEXT REQUIRES, (B) "THE PARTNERSHIP” REFERS TO INNKEEPERS USA
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, OR INNKEEPERS USA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND ITS PARTNERSHIP
SUBSIDIARIES, AS THE CONTEXT REQUIRES, OR (C) “YOU" OR “YOUR" REFERS TO INVESTORS OR
PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN THE COMPANY.

The following risk factors are not necessarily exhaustive, particularly as to possible future events, and new
risk factors may emerge periodically. Many things can happen that can cause our actual results to be very
different than those we describe in our SEC filings. Any statements we make that are not historical facts should
be considered forward-looking statements. We make no promise to update any of our forward-looking
statements, or to publicly release the results if we revise any of them.

We rely on others fo operate our hotels,

In order for us to continue to qualify as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, third parties must operate our
hotels. We lease each of our hotels 1o our taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRSs™) under a percentage lease providing
for rent equal to (a) a fixed base amount or, (b) if greater, percentage rent based on the room revenues of the
hotel (collectively, the “Percentage Leases™). The TRSs, in turn, have entered into management agreements with
Innkeepers Hospitality Management, Inc. (the “IH Manager™)} to manage substantially all of our hotels. While we
have some input into operating decisions for those hotels leased by our TRSs and operating under management
agreements, we have less control than if we were managing the hotels ourselves. Even if we believe that our
hotels are not being operated efficiently, we may not be able to require an operator to change the way it operates
our hotels. Jeffrey H. Fisher controls the TH Manager, and he is the Chief Executive Officer, President and
Chairman of our Board of Trustees. See “—Conflicts of interest and related party transactions—The IH Lessee
and the IH Manager” below.

Terror events and threats and military action could negatively affect the hotel industry and our resulis of
operations and financial condition.

Terror events, such as those that occurred on September 11, 2001, military actions, such as the ongoing
actions in Afghanistan and Iraq, and periodic terror alerts, could (as they have in the past) substantially
negatively affect our business and results for a prolonged period. We cannot predict how similar future events
will directly or indirectly impact the hotel industry or our operating results in the future.




Conflicts of interest and related party transactions.

Jeffrey H. Fisher and the I Manager. Jeffrey H. Fisher is our Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer and President. Affiliates of Mr. Fisher contributed hotels to us on a favorable tax basis in connection with
our initial public offering in 1994. The sale, refinancing or prepayment of indebtedness secured by those hotels
may trigger adverse tax consequences to Mr. Fisher, Conflicts of interest, therefore, exist between us and
Mr. Fisher regarding any transaction involving those hotels that could trigger adverse tax consequences to
Mr. Fisher or his affiliates.

Substantially all of our hotels are managed by the IH Manager, which is owned by Mr. Fisher. In the years
ended December 31, 2006 and in 2005, we paid the TH Manager management and accounting fees of
approximately $9,198,000 and $7,993,000, respectively.

Each of our management agreements with the IH Manager has an initial term of 10 years and may be
renewed for two, five-year periods at the option of the TH Manager. The management agreements provide for a
base management fee of 3% of gross revenues, an accounting fee of $750.00 per month per hotel and an
incentive management fee equal to 50% of hotel available cash flow. Hotel available cash flow is, generally,
gross hotel revenues less (a) hotel operating expenses, including franchise fees, (b) the base management and
accounting services fees and (c) base and percentage rent paid by our TRSs to us. Under these management
agreements, the IH Manager is not responsible for any losses incurred by the TRSs (from hotel operations or
otherwise). The management agreements provide generally for a termination fee to be paid to the IH Manager
upon certain terminations of a management agreement, including in connection with the sale of the related hotel.
The termination fee is the fair market value of the management contract for the remainder of the then-current
term. The cumulative amount of unpaid termination fees payable to the IH Manager at any time will be netted
against the fair market value of additional management contracts awarded to the IH Manager by the Company,
and the Company will pay to the IH Manager any net amount due to the IH Manager that has been outstanding
for more than 365 days. To date, no termination fees have been paid to the IH Manager.

Because Mr. Fisher is our Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees, and
controls the IH Manager, conflicts of interest do or may exist between Mr. Fisher and us regarding
(a) enforcement of the terms of the management agreements, (b) whether and on what terms management
agreements will be renewed upon the expiration of their current terms, (c) whether and on what terms additional
management contracts will be awarded to the IH Manager, (d) whether hotel properties will be sold and (e) the
setting of rent formulas in the Percentage Leases (or re-setting rents in the case of expiring leases) between the
Company and the TRS. which impacts the TH Manager's incentive management fees.

In the years ended December 31, 2006 and in 2005, the Company reimbursed the [H Manager $15,000 and
$14,000, respectively, for shared personnel and services. Shared personnel and services included human
resources and telephone costs.

In 2005 and from time to time in previous years, we engaged an affiliate of Hatchett Hospitality
{“Hatchett™ to perform certain renovation projects, During 2005, we entered into renovation contracts with the
Hatchett affiliate for approximately $60,000. The Hatchett affiliate is approximately 50% owned by Equity Inns,
Inc. (“Equity™). The IH Manager currently manages four Hotels owned by Equity. These contracts assisted the IH
Manager in qualifying to manage certain of the Company’s hotels under tax law applicable to a REIT.

The Company and the [H Manager share their corporate information technology (“IT”) infrastructure, the
cost of which is initially funded by the Company. The Company and the IH Manager agreed to a cost sharing
arrangement under which each of the Company and the 1H Manager bear 50% of the total costs of operating and
maintaining the IT function (including depreciation taken by the Company on the IT infrastructure). The
Company paid or reimbursed the IH Manager a total of $301,000 and $315,000 for the IT function in the years
ended December 31, 2006 and in 2003, respectively.

R-2




The IH Manager obtained an employee practices liability insurance policy which covers Company
employees. We reimbursed the IH Manager for one-third of the premium for this policy, which was $106,000
and $91,000 in the years ended December 31, 2006 and in 2005, respectively.

The 1H Manager maintains a health benefit plan in which our employees participate. Our reimbursement is
based on the number of our employees participating in the plan and the coverage and benefit levels selected by
those employees, We reimbursed the IH Manager $167,000 and $105,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006
and for 2005, respectively, for our share of the costs of our employees’ participation in this plan.

In 2003, we entered into an agreement with certain predecessors of the [H Manager (the “IH Lessee”, which
was owned by Mr. Fisher) and affiliates of Marriott International, Inc. (“Marriott”) for a transaction under which
the IH Lessee (a) converted the agreements under which 17 of our hotels were managed by Marriott into long-
term franchise agreements with Marriott and (b) became the manager of the hotels. Under the terms of the
converted agreements, the IH Lessee agreed to pay Marriott (1) a franchise royalty of 6.5% of room revenues for
the first 10 years of each franchise agreement and 5% thereafter and (2) $850,000 plus 50% of aggregate
available cash flow in excess of a specified threshold each year for 10 years, beginning in 2004. The TRS (and
therefore, indirectly, we) subsequently assumed the IH Lessee’s obligations under the franchise agreements
described above, including the obligations to pay Marriott the fees described above.

Conflicts may arise with respect to whether certain expenditures are classified as capital expenditures,
which are capitalized by the Company and do not immediately affect earnings, or repairs and maintenance, which
are expensed as incurred and therefore reduce the amount available to be earned by the IH Manager as incentive
management fees,

From time to time, the Company has engaged, and in the future may engage, a brokerage firm with which
Mr. Fisher’s adult child is employed, in connection with certain acquisitions and dispositions or other
transactions.

Under cur management agreements, the IH Manager is generally responsible for complying with our various
franchise agreements, subject to our making sufficient funding available. As Mr. Fisher owns the IH Manager,
conflicts of interest exist between us and Mr. Fisher regarding the IH Manager's compliance with franchise
agreements, which could result in (a) the termination of those agreements and related substantial penalties, or
{b) other actions or failures to act by the IH Manager which could result in liability to us or our TRS.

Jack P. DeBoer. In November 1996, we acquired seven Residence Inn by Marriott hotels (the “DeBoer
Hotels™) from affiliates of Jack P. DeBoer {(the “DeBoer Group™), including Rolf E. Ruhfus. Messrs. DeBoer and
Ruhfus are members of our Board of Trustees. The DeBoer Group received Class B preferred units of limited
partnership interest in our operating partnership (“Class B Preferred Units”) in partial consideration for the
acquisitions. Following the acquisition of the DeBoer Hotels, Mr. DeBoer joined our Board of Trustees. In
connection with the acquisition, we agreed that to the extent that members of the DeBoer Group hold Class B
Preferred Units and the Company maintains indebtedness outstanding, we will permit those DeBoer Group
members to guarantee such indebtedness in the amount required for them to defer certain taxes. These guarantees
may have the effect of giving the related lender(s) recourse to assets of the Company that they would not
otherwise have. As of and after November 1, 2006, the maximum amount of our indebtedness guaranteed by the
DeBoer Group will be $11 million, which will decline upon the occurrence of certain events. In addition, due to
potential adverse tax consequences to members of the DeBoer Group that may result from a sale of certain of the
DeBoer Hotels, conflicts of interest may exist between us and Mr. DeBoer regarding transactions involving the
DeBoer Hotels that could tngger adverse tax consequences to some or all of the DeBoer Group. Mr. DeBoer and
certain of his affiliates have in the past, and continue to be, involved in the development of hotels, including
extended-stay hotels. Mr. DeBoer is currently the Chief Executive Officer and primary investor in the owner of
the Value Place brand of extended-stay hotels. Hotels developed by Mr. DeBoer and his affiliates may compete
with our hotels for guests, and hotel companies with which Mr. DeBoer is affiliated may compete with us for
acquisition opportunities and for qualified employees. Accordingly, our interests and those of Mr, DeBoer could
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be different in connection with matters relating to our hotels or proposed acquisitions or developments that are
competitive with hotels owned or being considered for acquisition or development by Mr, DeBoer and his
affiliates.

Rolf E. Ruhfus. In June 1997, we acquired six hotels (the “Summerfield Hotels”) from affiliates of Rolf E.
Ruhfus (the “Summerfield Group™). Following the acquisition of the Summerfield Hotels, Mr. Ruhfus joined our
Board of Trustees. Due 1o the potential adverse tax consequences to members of the Summerfield Group that
may result from a sale of the Summerfield Hotels, conflicts of interest may exist between us and Mr. Ruhfus
regarding transactions involving the Summerfield Hotels that could trigger adverse tax consequences o some or
all of the Summerfield Group. Mr. Ruhfus and certain of his affiliates have in the past, and continue to be,
involved in the development of hotels. An entity controlled by Mr. Ruhfus also owns the Sierra Suites brand,
which is an upscale extended-stay hotel brand founded by Mr. Ruhfus. Affiliates of Mr. Ruhfus own and operate
several Sierra Suites hotels and Summerfield Suites hotels. Hotels developed by Mr. Ruhfus, including Sierra
Suites, may compete with our hotels for guests and companies with which Mr. Ruhfus is affiliated may compete
with us for acquisition opportunities and for qualified employees. Accordingly, our interests and those of
Mr. Ruhfus could be different in connection with matters relating to our hotels or proposed acquisitions that are
competitive with hotels owned or being considered for acquisition or development by affiliates of Mr. Ruhfus.

If we cannot obtain additional financing, our growth will be limited.

We are required to distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our taxable income each year in order to
continue to qualify as a REIT. As a result, our retained earnings available to fund acquisitions or development are
nominal. We rely primarily upon the availability of debt or equity capital to fund these activities. Qur ability to
grow through acquisitions or development of hotels will be limited if we cannot continue to obtain additional
financing. Market conditions may make it difficult to obtain financing and we cannot assure you that we will be
able to obtain additional debt or equity financing or that we will be able to obtain it on favorable terms.

We are subject to various risks related to our use of, and dependence on, debt.

The amount of interest we have to pay on cutstanding variable rate debt, such as cur line of credit, increases
as interest rates increase, which may decrease cash available for distribution to shareholders. We cannot assure
you that we will be able to meet our debt service obligations. If we do not meet our debt service obligations, we
risk the loss of some or all of our assets to foreclosure. Changes in economic conditions and/or our financial
results or prospects could (a) result in higher interest rates on variable rate debt, (b) reduce the availability of debt
financing generally or debt financing at favorable rates, (¢) reduce cash availabie for distribution to shareholders
and (d) increase the risk that we could be forced to sell Hotels to repay debt, any of which could have a material
adverse affect on vs.

If we violate covenants in our debt agreements, including under our line of credit, we could be required to
repay all or a portion of our indebtedness before maturity at a time when we might be unable to arrange financing
for such repayment on attractive terms, if at all. In that event, (a) our access to cash flow from such properties
may be restricted, (b) we risk foreclosure on our hotels subject to the oan or (c) we may be forced to sell one or
more hotels on unfavorable terms. Violations of certain line of credit covenants may result in our being unable to
borrow unused amounts under our line of credit, even if repayment of some or all borrowings is not required.

In any event, financial covenants under our current or future debt obligations could impair our planned
business strategies, by limiting our ability to borrow (a) beyond certain amounts or (b) for certain purposes, even
if we think that such a borrowing is in the Company’s best interests.




Our ability te maintain our historic rate of distributions to our shareholders is subject to fluctuations in
our financial performance, operating results and capital improvement requirements.

As a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our taxable income each year to our shareholders, In
the event of continued or future downturns in our operating results and financial performance or unanticipated
capital improvements to our hotels, we may be unable to declare or pay distributions to our shareholders at
historical rates, or at all. The timing and amount of distributions are in the sole discretion of our Board of
Trustees, which will consider, among other factors, our financial performance, debt service obligations and
applicable debt covenants (if any), and capital expenditure requirements. From time to time, in the past, we have
reduced our common share dividends substantially and we cannot assure you either that we will continue to
generate sufficient cash in order to fund distributions at the same rate as our historic rate (or to fund any
distribution}, or that our Board of Trustees will continue to maintain our distributions at historic rates.

Among the factors which could adversely affect our results of operations and decrease our distributions to
shareholders are reduced hotel revenue; increases in operating expenses at the hotels leased to our TRSs;
increased debt service requirements, including those resulting from higher interest rates on variable rate
indebtedness; and capital expenditures at our hotels, including capital expenditures required by the franchisors of
our hotels. Hotel revenue can decrease for a number of reasons, including increased competition from new hotels
and decreased demand for hotel rooms. These factors can reduce both occupancy and room rates at our hotels,
which would directly affect us negatively by {a) reducing the hotel revenue that we recognize with respect to
hotels leased to our TRSs and (b) correspondingly reducing the profits (or increasing the loss) of hotels leased to
our TRSs. Many of our expenses cannot be reduced in tandem with revenue declines, (or we may choose not to
reduce them for competitive reasons), and certain expenses may increase while our revenue declines. See
“—~Conflicts of interest and related party transactions—The IH Lessee and the I[H Manager” above.

All dividends on our class C cumulative preferred shares must be paid or provided for on a current basis or
we would not be able to pay dividends on common shares.

The increasing use of Internet travel intermediaries by consumers may adversely affect our profitability.

Some of our hotel rooms are booked through Internet travel intermediaries such as Travelocity.com,
Expedia.com and Priceline.com. As these Internet bookings increase, these intermediaries may be able to obtain
higher commissions, reduced room rates or other significant concessions from us. Moreover, some Internet travel
intermediaries offer hotel rooms as a commodity, by increasing the importance of price and general indicators of
quality (such as “three-star downtown hotel”) at the expense of brand identification. These intermediaries hope
that consumers will eventually develop brand loyalties to their reservation systems rather than to the lodging
brands with which our hotels are affiliated. Although most of the business for our hotels is expected to be derived
from traditional channels, if the amount of sales made through Internet intermediaries increases significantly,
room revenues may flatten or decrease and our profitability may be adversely affected.

Our ability to make distributions to shareholders may be affected by factors beyond our control.

Operaring risks. Our hotels are subject to various operating risks commeon to the hotel industry, many of
which are beyond our control, including the following:

e our hotels compete with other hotel properties in their geographic markets and many of our competitors
have substantial marketing and financial resources;

= over-building in our markets, which adversely affects occupancy and revenues at our hotels;
. dependence on business and commercial travelers and tourism; and

= adverse effects of general, regional and local economic conditions and increases in energy costs, labor
costs or other expenses affecting travel, which may affect travel patterns and reduce the number of
business and commercial travelers and tourists.
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These factors could adversely affect our hotel revenues and expenses, which in turn would adversely affect
our ability to make distributions to our sharehalders,

Concentration of investment in California, New Jersey, the Pacific Northwest, Florida, Illinois, Texas and
Michigan. A significant number of our hotels are located in California, most of which are in the greater San
Francisco/Silicon Valley area. We also have a significant concentration of hotels located in New Jersey, the
Pacific Northwest and Michigan, as well as in the Chicago, Illinois and Dallas, Texas areas, Adverse events, such
as economic recessions or natural disasters, including earthquakes, hurricanes or high-wind, could cause a loss of
revenues from these hotels. which may be significant as a result of our concentration of assets in these areas. We
may not carty insurance coverage for these losses, or the insurance may be insufficient to replace our investment
or otherwise restore our economic position with respect to a hotel.

In 2001, technology businesses suffered a substantial downturn, which dramatically reduced business travel.
The Silicon Valley area, where 10 of our California hotels are located, is heavily dependent on the technology
sector. Our concentration in California made the negative effects of the economic recession on our business more
pronounced as compared to some hotel companies with less concentration in California. While the economy in
this area continues to improve currently, we cannot predict if or when our hotels in the Silicon Valley area will
perform to their pre-recession levels.

Capital expenditures. Our hotels have an ongoing need for renovations and other capital improvements,
including replacements, from time to time, of furniture, fixtures and equipment. The franchisors of our hotels
may also require periodic capital improvements as a condition of keeping the franchise licenses, Generally, we
are responsible for the costs of these capital improvements, which give rise to the following risks:

. cost overruns and delays;

«  renovations disrupt operations and displace revenue at the hotels, including revenue lost while rooms
under renovation are out of service;

« the cost of funding renovations and the possibility that financing for these renovations may not be
available on attractive terms; and

«  the risk that the return on our investment in these capital improvements will not be what we expect.

We have in the past funded capital expenditures from cash flow from operations and, to a relatively small
degree. by borrowing. There can be no assurance that we will not need to borrow to fund future capital
improvements.

Competition for guests. The upscale extended-stay and mid-price segments of the hotel business are highly
competitive. Qur hotels compete on the basis of location, room rates and quality, service levels, reputation, and
rescrvation systems, among many other factors. There are many competitors in our market segments, and many
of them have substantially greater marketing and financial resources than our operators or us. New hotels create
new competitors, in some cases without corresponding increases in demand for hotel rooms. The result in some
cases may be lower revenue, which would result in lower cash available for distribution to shareholders.

Competition for acquisitions; sales. We compete for hotel acquisitions with entities that have investment
objectives similar to our objectives and have substantially greater financial resources or lower investment return
requirements than we have. These entities generally may be able to accept higher levels of debt, or otherwise
may tolerate more risk than we think is prudent for us. They may also have better relations with franchisors,
sellers or lenders. This competition could limit the number of suitable investment opportunities offered to us. It
may also increase the bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell to us, making it more difficult for us
to acquire new properties on attractive terms.
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We may decide to sell hotels, for a variety of reasons. We cannot assure you that we will be able to sell any
hotels on favorable terms, or that hotels will not be sold for a loss. In 2005, we sold three hotels for substantial
tax losses.

Seasonality of Hotel business. The hotel industry is seasonal in nature. Generally, occupancy rates and hotel
revenues are greater in the second and third quarters than in the first and fourth quarters. This seasonality can
cause quarterly fuctuations in our revenues.

Investment concentration in particular classifications of single industry. Our entire business is hotel-related.
QOur current investment strategy is to own primarily upscale extended stay hotels, with a specific focus on
Residence Inn by Marriott hotels. and limited service hotels, primarily Hampton Inn hotels. We have historically
focused on hotels that appeal primarily to business travelers. We have not historically emphasized hotels that
appeal to families or leisure travelers. Adverse conditions in the hotel or travel industry that impact our hotels or
in the Residence Inn by Marriott or Hampton Inn brands, will have a material adverse effect on our lease
revenues and cash available for distribution to cur shareholders.

Expansion of investment focus. While we have historically focused our investments in extended-stay and
limited service hotels, we are not restricted from investing in other hotel-types or other geographic areas,
including internationally. As of November 14, 2006, we owned (a) five upscale (or better) full service hotels with
1,134 rooms, which operate under brands including Westin, Hilton and Sheraton Four Points, and (b) a 49%
interest in a 355-room Sheraton hotel. We may continue to expand our investment focus. There are risks 1o such
activity, including that we have less experience acquiring, developing and owning, and the |H Manager has less
cxperience operating, these kinds of hotels as compared to extended-stay or limited service hotels. From time to
time, new hotel brands and concepts are developed. We may develop or acquire hotels operating under a new
brand, which will involve the additional risks of the brand being unproven in the marketplace, having less
distribution than its competitors, having a less than optimal physical plant or decoration package and likely
having fewer resources initially for marketing and other promotional activities. We may also pursue
opportunities to invest in hotels outside of the U.S. Investing outside of the U.S. carries certain additional risk,
such as, legal. political, and currency risk, which we have no experience with. These risks could negatively affect
our cash flow available for distribution and result in the loss of some or all of our investment.

Qur development activities may be more costly than we have anticipated.

As part of our growth strategy, we may develop additional hotels, which may include the re-development of
existing buildings for hotel use or the substantial renovation and upgrading of an existing hotel that is then
re-flagged to a different hotel brand. Development involves many substantial risks, which include the following:

= actual development costs may exceed our budgeted or contracted amounts;
*  construction delays may prevent us from opening Hotels on schedule;
*  we invest substantial capital without immediate corresponding income;

» we may not be able to obtain all necessary zoning, land use, building, occupancy and construction
permits;

*  our developed properties may not achieve our desired revenue or profit goals;

«  we face intense competition for suitable development sites from competitors with greater financial
resources than ours; and

*  we may incur substantial development costs and then have to abandon a development project before
completion.




Investment risks in the real estate industry generally may result in capital losses and may adversely affect
our ability to make distributions to our shareholders.

General risks of investing in real estate. Our investments in hotels are subject to varying degrees of risk that
generally arise from the ownership of real property. The underlying value of our real estate investments and our
income and ability to make distributions to our shareholders depend upon the ability of the operators of our
hotels to maintain or increase room revenues. Both income from our hotels and our ability to make distributions
may be adversely affected by changes beyond our control, including the following:

»  adverse changes in national and local economic and market conditions;
= changes in interest rates and in the availability, cost and terms of mortgage financing,

« changes in governmental laws and regulations, fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the related
costs of compliance with laws and regulations, fiscal policies and ordinances;

»  the ongoing need for capital improvements, particularly in older structures;
»  changes in real property tax rates or assessments and other operating expenses;

= civil unrest, acts of God, including earthquakes, floods and other natural disasters (which may result in
uninsured losses) and acts of war and terrorism;

» the relative illiquidity of real estate investments (see “—Conflicts of interest and related party
transactions—Jeffrey H. Fisher,” “—Jack P. DeBoer” and “—Rolf E. Ruhfus™ above); and

*  other circumstances beyond our control.

Uninsured and underinsured losses. We, the ITH Manager and our other managers have obtained property,
casualty and other insurance with loss limits and coverage deemed reasonable by management (and with the
intent to satisfy the requirements of lenders and franchisors). In doing so, we havé made decisions with respect to
covered perils, deductibles, policy limits and terms based on management’s experience, our risk profile and loss
history, the nature of our hotels and businesses, our and our operators’ loss prevention efforts and the cost of
insurance. These judgments may prove to leave us with no, or inadequate, insurance coverage for any particular
loss.

All of our hotels in California (and certain of our other hotels, such as our hotels in the Pacific Northwest)
are located in areas that are subject to earthquake activity. These hotels are located in areas of high seismic risk
and some were constructed under pre-1985 building codes. No assurance can be given that an earthquake would
not render significant damage to the hotels that have been constructed in compliance with more recent building
codes. or are in areas of lower seismic risk. Additionally, areas in Florida where several of our hotels are located
may experience hurricane or high-wind activity. Our Sheraton Four Points Hotel in Ft. Walton Beach FL, for
instance. sustained substantial damage (though no structural damage) during Hurricane Jeanne in September
2004. That hotel and several others in Florida were impacted to varying degrees by one or more other hurricanes
in 2004 and 2005. We maintain certain levels of (1) earthquake insurance on some, but not all, of our hotels in
California and (2) wind insurance on certain, but not all, of our hotels located in Florida. We own hotels in
California and Florida, representing substantia! investment, on which we carry no earthquake or windstorm
insurance. We would directly bear the rebuilding, restoration and related costs and lost income resulting from any
uninsured loss. Even where such insurance is maintained, recovery under the applicable policies is subject to
substantial deductibles and complex calculations of lost business income. There is no assurance that this
insurance, where maintained, will fully fund the re-building or restoration of a hotel impacted by an earthquake,
hurricane or high wind, or the income lost as a result of the damage. We have no coverage from damage from
earthquakes, floods or high wind caused by a terrorist attack,

Qur insurance policies include certain coverage for property losses caused by certain terrorist acts. The
Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 (“Insurance Act”), which became effective in November 2002, requires
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property and casualty insurers to offer terrorism insurance. for which they can charge additional premiums, and
provides federal funds to help insurers pay claims from terrorist attacks. We have accepted such coverage under
our primary property insurance policies. Based on information provided by our insurance agent. we understand
that coverage offered pursuant to the Insurance Act applies, generally. to acts of terrorism on U.S. soil by foreign
agents resulting in a total of more than $5 million of property and casualty insurance losses. Therefore, our
understanding of the coverage offered pursuant to the Insurance Act is that they exclude losses from terrorist acts
on U.S. soil by foreign agents that result in a total of less than $5 million of losses. Also, our understanding is
that all terrorist coverage, whether included in the primary insurance policies or in the coverage offered under the
Insurance Act, exclude coverage for losses from, among other things, acts of terrorism by U.S. based groups or
individuals, nuclear devices and acts of war. The Insurance Act expired in December 2005 and has been extended
pursuant to the Terrorism Risk Insurance Extension Act, which was enacted to extend the coverage under the
Insurance Act through December 31, 2007 and to make certain other changes in coverage. There is no assurance
that the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act will be renewed or that insurance against terrorist attacks will be available
or affordable after 2007.

Various types of catastrophic losses may not be insurable (such as those resulting from war or a nuclear
incident) or may not be economically insurable. In the event of a substantial loss, our insurance coverage may not
cover the full current market value or replacement cost of our lost investment. For instiance, we do not carry
insurance to protect specifically against damage caused by mold or environmental contamination. Inflation,
changes in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations and other factors might cause insurance
proceeds to be insufficient to fully replace or renovate a hotel after it has been damaged or destroyed.

Accordingly. there can be no assurance (1) that the insurance coverage that we and/or our lessees and
operators have obtained will fully protect us (or our lessees or operators) against insurable losses (i.e., losses may
exceed coverage limits); (2) that we {or our lessees or operators) will not incur large deductibles that will
adversely effect our earnings; (3) that we (or our lessees or operators) will not incur losses from risks that are not
insurable or that are not economically insurable; or (4) that our current insurance coverage will continue to be
available at reasonable rates. As a result, one or more large uninsured or underinsured losses could have a
material adverse affect on us (or our lessees or operators).

Our lenders require us to maintain certain insurance coverage. We believe that we have complied with the
insurance maintenance requirements under the governing loan documents. However, a lender may disagree. in
which case the lender could obtain additional coverage and seek payment from us, or declare us in default under
the loan documents. In the former case, we could spend more for insurance than we otherwise deem reasonable
or necessary, or, in the latter case, we could be subjected to a foreclosure on hotels collateralizing one or more
loans. In addition, a material casualty to one or more hotels collateralizing loans may result in (a} the insurance
company applying to the outstanding loan balance insurance proceeds that otherwise would be available to repair
the damage caused by the casualty, which would require us to fund the repairs through other sources, or (b} the
lender foreclosing on the hotels if there is a material loss that is not insured.

Joint ventures and co-investments may limit our ability to manage or sell Hotels, which may adversely
affect our result of operations.

As of November 14, 2006, we owned a 49% interest in a 355-room Sheraton hotel in Raleigh, NC that was
managed by the IH Manager. We may joint venture or co-invest with other parties on hotel acquisitions or
developments. There are inherent risks in such arrangements, including but not limited to having to share control
and seek our partners’ approval, disputes over control, strategy, or the timing or amount of maintenance or
capital expenditures, conflicts regarding whether, when or at what price to sell the asset and becoming subject to
negative publicity, financial loss or legal habilities due to the actions of our partners.




Failure to comply with governmental regulations could affect our operating results.

Environmental matters. Under various federal, state and local laws and regulations, an owner or operator of
real estate may be liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances on such
property. The law often imposes liability whether or not the owner knew of, or was responsible for, the presence
of hazardous substances. Furthermore, a person that arranges for the disposal or transports for disposal or
treatment a hazardous substance at a property owned by another may be liable for the costs of removal or
remediation of hazardous substances released into the environment at that property. The costs of remediation or
removal of such substances may be very substantial, and the presence of such substances, or the failure to
promptly remediate such substances, may adversely affect the owner’s ability to sell real estaie or to borrow
using such real estate as collateral. We may be potentially hable for the costs discussed above, and these costs
could be material and could affect the funds available for distribution to our shareholders.

Furthermore, various court decisions have established that third parties may recover damages for injury
caused by release of hazardous substances and for property contamination, For instance, a person exposed to
asbestos while working at or staying in a Hotel may seek to recover damages if he or she suffers injury from the
asbestos. Lastly, some of these environmental issues restrict the use of a property or place conditions on various
activities. One example is laws that require a business using chemicals to manage them carefully and to notify
local officials if regulated spills occurs.

We generally obtain Phase I environmental site assessments (“ESAs”) on our hotels at the time of
acquisition. The ESAs are intended to identify potential environmental contamination. The ESAs include a
historical review of the hotel, a review of certain public records, a preliminary investigation of the site and
surrounding properties. screening for the presence of hazardous substances and underground storage tanks. and
the preparation and issuance of a written report. The ESAs that we have obtained did not include invasive
procedures, such as soil sampling or ground water analysis,

It is possible that these ESAs do not reveal all environmental liabilities or that there are material
environmental liabilities or compliance concerns that we are not aware of. Moreover, in certain cases the ESAs
revealed environmental conditions that required some remediation or with respect to which we implemented
procedures to specifically manage an identified issue, as in the case of small areas of non-friable asbestos
commonly found in certain older building materials, The maintenance and removal of asbestos is highly
regulated. and requires specific plans to manage asbestos in place and to remove it using certified contractors
using specialized equipments if it is, or there is a risk that it will become, disturbed during construction work or
otherwise. We cannot assure you that (i) future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose material
environmenta! Yability, or {i1) the current environmental condition of a hotel will not be affected by the condition
of properties in the vicinity of the Hotel (such as the presence of leaking underground storage tanks) or by third
parties unrelated 10 us.

There is an increasing focus on the potential for Iitigation over claims that mold (or other airborne
contaminants) has damaged buildings and had adverse health effects. We have, infrequently, discovered
relatively small amounts of mold-related damage in a limited number of our hotels, which we believe are
generally caused by one or more water intrusions (e.g., a roof leak, plugged air conditioner condensation lines,
etc.). Mold (and certain other airborne contaminants) occurs naturally and is present in some quantity in virtually
every structure, so we cannot assure you that it is not present, or will not in the future be present, in our hotels,
and it is possible that plaintiffs could successfully establish that mold (or another airborne contaminant) causes ot
exacerbates certain adverse health conditions. If any such potential plaintiffs (who could include hotel guests and
employees) are successful, and mold (or another airborne contaminant) does occur in our hotels, we could incur
liability. and such liability could be substantial. We generally have no insurance coverage for the cost of
repairing or replacing elements of a building or its contents that are affected by mold (or other environmental
cenditions), or for defending or disposing of such suits,




Americans with Disabilities Act. Under the Americans with Disubilities Act of 1990. or the "ADA,” all
public accommodations must meet various federal requirements for access and use by disabled persons. Many
states also have similar requirements. Compliance with the ADA’s requirements could require removal of access
barriers, and our failure to comply could result in the U.S. or a state’s government imposing fines or in private
litigants winning damages against us. As substantial renovations are planned to all or any substantial part of a
hotel, and in connection with the construction of any new hotel or addition 1o an existing hotel, our policy is to
consult a local architect to insure compliance with all applicable codes and ADA. While we take these and other
steps to confirm that we comply substantially with the ADA, and several of our hotels were constructed recently
and incorporated ADA compliance into the original design, there is no assurance that we will not be required to
make unplanned, substantial modifications to our hotel to comply with the ADA. If we are required to make
substantial modifications to our hotels, whether to comply with the ADA or other changes in governmental rules
and regulations, our ability to make distributions to our shareholders could be adversely affected.

Fluctuations in property taxes and insurance costs can adversely affect our distributions to our
shareholders.

Each of our hotels is subject to real and personal property taxes. These taxes on our hotel properties may
increase or decrease as 1ax rates change and as the properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. If
property taxes increase, our ability to make distributions to our shareholders could be adversely affected.

We carry insurance on all of our hotels and our business. The costs of property and casualty insurance
carried by us and/or the IH Lessee rose substantially in the insurance renewal cycles after September 11, 2001.
More recently, the hurricanes that struck the U.S. in 2004 and 2005 also affected the property insurance markets.
Future terror-related events or natural disasters, as well as any other future covered losses or other casualties at
our hotels, may result in (a) future insurance cost increases, (b} our inability to obtain (or economically cbtain)
important insurance coverage and/or (c) an increased risk of exposure to casualties if our insurance deductibles
are substantially increased or the limits of our insurance coverage are substantially reduced. While in absolute
dollars property tax is a much larger expense than insurance for us, cur ability to make distributions could be
adversely affected if insurance costs increase. Please see “—Investment risks in the real estate industry generally
may adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our shareholders—Uninsured and Underinsured losses”
above.

Franchise requirements could adversely affect distributions to our shareholders.

Our hotel operators must comply with operating standards and terms and conditions imposed by the
franchisors of the hotel brands under which our hotels operate. A franchisor may impose upgraded or new brand
standards, such as substantially upgrading the bedding, enhancing the complimentary breakfast or increasing the
value of guest awards under its ‘frequent guest’ program. which can add substantial expense for the hotel. The
franchisors periodically inspect our hotels to confirm adherence to the franchisors’ operating standards, The
failure of a hotel to maintain standards could result in the loss or cancellation of a franchise license. We rely on
our operators to conform to operational standards. The franchisors may also require us to make certain capital
improvements to maintain the hotel in accordance with system standards, the cost of which can be substantial. In
addition, when the term of a franchise expires, the franchisor has no obligation to issue a new franchise. The loss
of a franchise could have a material adverse effect on the operations or the underlying value of the affected hotel
because of the loss of associated name recognition, marketing support and centralized reservation systems
provided by the franchisor. The loss of a franchise could also have a materiai adverse effect on cash available for
distribution to shareholders.

The names of the brands under which our hotels operate are registered trademarks of the respective owners
of those brands, and neither they nor any of their officers, directors, agents, employees, accountants or atlorneys
(i) have approved any disclosure in which they or the names of their brands appear or (ii) are responsible or liable
for any of the content of this document.
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The ability of our Board of Trustees to change our major policies at any time may not be in your interest.

Qur Board of Trustees determines many of our major corporate policies, including our acquisitions,
dispositions, growth, operations and distribution policies. The Board of Trustees may amend or revise these and
other policies at any time without the vote or consent of our shareholders.

Provisions of our Declaration of Trust and Maryland law may limit the ability of a third party to acquire
control of us.

Ownership limitation, Our Declaration of Trust provides that no person may directly or indirectly own more
than 9.8% of our common shares and preferred shares. This may prevent an acquisition of control of us by a third
party without our Board of Trustees’ approval, even if shareholders believe the change of control is in their best
interest. See “Our share ownership limitation may prevent certain transfers of our common shares™ below.

Staggered Board of Trustees. Under our Declaration of Trust, our Board of Trustees has three classes of
trustees. Trustees for each class are elected for staggered three-year terms and until their successors are elected
and qualify. The staggered terms of our trustees may restrict the ability to effect a change of control of us, even if
shareholders believe a change of control is in their best interest. The staggered terms for our trustees may also
discourage offers or other bids being made for our shares at a premium over the market price.

Autharity to issue preferred shares. Our Declaration of Trust authorizes the Board of Trustees to issue up to
20,000,000 preferred shares, and to establish the preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers,
restrictions, limitations as to dividends or distributions, qualifications, or terms or conditions of redemption of
any preferred shares issued. The issuance of preferred shares may discourage takeover offers for, or changes in
control of our company, even if shareholders believe that such events may be in their best interest.

Marvland anti-takeover statutes. We are subject to various provisions of Maryland law placing restrictions
and requiring compliance with various procedures designed to protect the shareholders of Maryland REITs
against unfair or coercive mergers and acquisitions. These restrictions and procedural requirements may
discourage takeover offers for, or changes in control of our company, even if shareholders believe that such
events may be in their interest.

Business Combinations. Under Maryland law applicable to Maryland REITs, certain “business
combinations” (including certain mergers, consolidations, share exchanges and asset transfers and cenain
issuances and reclassifications of equity securities) with an “Interested Shareholder” are prohibited for five years
after the person becomes an Interested Shareholder. An “Interested Shareholder™ is any person who beneficially
owns 10% or more of the voting power of our shares or our affiliate who, at any time within the two-year period
prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of our outstanding
voting shares, unless the Board of Trustees approved in advance the transaction by which he otherwise would
have become an Interested Shareholder. After the five-year prohibition, any such business combination must be
recommended by the Board of Trustees and approved by at least (a) 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by
shareholders and (b) two-thirds of votes entitled to be cast by shareholders other than shares held by the
Interested Shareholder. unless, among other conditions, shareholders receive a minimum price for their shares
and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as previously paid by the Interested Shareholder for
its shares. These provisions do not apply to business combinations that are approved by the Board of Trustees
prior to the time that the person becomes an Interested Shareholder. This law applics to us.

Control Share Acquisitions. Maryland law as applicable to Maryland REITs provides that “control shares”
acquired in a “control share acquisition” have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a vole of
two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding shares of beneficial interest owned by the
acquirer or by officers or by trustees who are employees of the trust. “Control shares™ are voting shares which, if
aggregated with all shares previously acquired by the acquirer, would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting
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power in electing trustees within one of the following ranges of voting power: (i) one-tenth or more but less than
one-third, (ii) one-third or more but less than a majority, or (iii) a majority or more of all voting power. The
control share acquisition statute does not apply (a) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share
exchange if the trust is a party to the transaction or (b) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the declaration of
trust or bylaws of the trust. Our Bylaws contain a provision exempting from the control share acquisition statute
any and all acquisitions by any person of our shares.

Our failure to qualify as a REIT under the federal tax laws will result in substantial tax liability, which
would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution te our stockholders.

The federal income tax laws governing REITs are complex. The REIT qualification requirements are
complex. We have not obtained a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service that we qualify as a REIT. We cannot
assure you that we will qualify as a REIT.

Failure to make distributions could subject us to tax. In order to qualify as a REIT, each year we must
distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income. To the extent that we satisfy this
distribution minimum, but distribute less than 100% of our taxable income, we will be subject to federal income
tax on our undistributed taxable income, In addition, we will be subject 1o a 4% nondeductible excise tax if the
actual amount that we pay out to our shareholders year is less than the minimum amount specified under federal
tax laws. Qur only source of funds to make these distributions comes from our TRSs, which in turn receives
revenues from hotel operations. Accordingly, we may be required to borrow money or sell assets to make
distributions sufficient to enable us to pay out enough of our taxable income to satisfy the distribution
requirement and to avoid tax in a given year.

Failure to qualify as a REIT would subject us 10 federal income tax. If we fail to remain qualified as a REIT
in any taxable year, and do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we will be subject 1o federal income
tax. This would substantially reduce our income and cash available to pay distributions. The resulting 1ax liability
might cause us to borrow funds, sell some of our investments, or take other steps that could negatively affect our
operating results in order to pay any such tax. Moreover, subject to certain exceptions, we generally would be
disqualified from re-electing treatment as a REIT until the fifth calendar year afier the year in which we failed to
qualify as a REIT.

Failure to qualify as a REIT mayv cause us to reduce or eliminate shareholder distributions, and we may
Sace increased difficulty in raising capital or obtaining financing. 1f we fail to qualify or remain qualified as a
REIT, we may have to reduce or eliminate any distributions to our shareholders in order to satisfy our income tax
liabilities. Any distributions that we do make to our shareholders would be treated as taxable dividends to the
extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits. This would negatively affect the market price of our
shares. In addition, we may face increased difficulty in raising capital or obtaining financing if we fail to qualify
or remain qualified as a REIT because of the resulting tax liability.

The formation of our TRS Lessee increases our overall jax liability. Our TRSs are subject to federal and
state income tax. Accordingly, althcugh our ownership of our TRSs will allow us to receive the after-tax
operating income from our hotels in addition to receiving rent, that operating income will be fully subject io
income iax.

We will incur a 100% excise tax on transactions with our TRSs that are not conducted on an arm’s-length
busis. For example, to the extent that the rent paid by our TRSs to us exceeds an arm’s-length rental amount, such
amount potentially will be subject to this excise tax. We intend that all transactions between us and our TRSs will
be conducted on an arm’s-length basis and, therefore, that the rent paid by our TRSs to us will not be subject to
this excise tax.




We are subject to other tax liabilities.

Even as a REIT, we may be subject to certain federal, state and local taxes on our income and assets, such as
tax on undistributed REIT taxable income and alternative minimum tax. If we sell a property in a “prohibited
transaction,” our gain from the sale would be subject to a 100% penalty tax. A prohibited transaction would be a
sale of property, other than foreclosure property, held primarity for sale to customers in the ordinary course of
business. Our TRSs are fully taxable corporations and are required to pay federal and state taxes on their income.

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to sell otherwise attractive investments.

To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy certain requirements with respect to the character of our assets. If we
fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct such failure within 30
days after the end of the calendar quarter (by, possibly, selling assets not withstanding their prospects as an
investment) to avoid losing our REIT status, If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any
calendar quarter, and the failure exceeds a minimum threshold, we may be able to preserve our REIT status if
(a) the failure was due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect, (b) we dispose of the assets causing the
failure within six months after the last day of the quarter in which we identified the failure, (c) we file a schedule
with the IRS describing each asset that caused the failure, and (d) we pay an additional tax of the greater of $50
or the product of the highest applicable tax rate multiplied by the net income generated on those assets. As a
result, we may be required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.

Our share ownership limitation may prevent certain transfers of our shares.

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, not more than 50% in value of our outstanding shares of
beneficial interest may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to
include certain entities). Our Declaration of Trust prohibits direct or indirect ownership (taking into account
applicable ownership provisions of the Code) of more than 9.8% of the outstanding common shares or any other
class or series of outstanding shares of beneficial interest by any shareholder or group (the “Ownership
Limitation™). Generally, the shares of beneficial interest owned by related or affiliated owners will be aggregated
for purposes of the Ownership Limitation, Any transfer of shares of beneficial interest that would prevent us
from continuing to qualify as a REIT under the Code will be void, the intended transferee of such shares will be
deemed never to have had an interest in such shares, and such shares will be designated “shares-in-trust.”
Further, we will be deemed to have been offered shares-in-trust for purchase at the lesser of the market price (as
defined in the Declaration of Trust) on the date we accept the offer and the price per share in the transaction that
created such shares-in-trust {or, in the case of a gift, devise or non-transfer event (as defined in the Declaration of
Trust), the market price on the date of such gift, devise or non-transfer event). Therefore, the record holder of
shares of beneficial interest in excess of the Ownership Limitation will experience a financial loss when such
shares are purchased by us, if the market price falls between the date of purchase and the date of redemption.

We have, in limited instances from time to time, permitted certain owners to own shares in excess of the
Ownership Limitation. The Board of Trustees has waived the Ownership Limitation for such owners after
following procedures set out in our Declaration of Trust, under which the owners requesting the waivers provided
certain information and our counsel provided certain legal opinions. These waivers established levels of
permissible share ownership for the owners requesting the waivers that are higher than the Ownership Limitation.
If the owners acquire shares in excess of the higher limits, those shares are subject to the risks described above in
the absence of further waivers. The Board of Trustees is not obligated to grant such waivers and has no current
intention to do so with respect to any owners who (individually or aggregated as the Declaration of Trust
requires) do not currently own shares in excess of the Ownership Limitation.
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